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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT 2023

Lk L R RE— |

Corporate
governance

Konecranes Plc (“Konecranes”, “the Company”)is a Finnish
public limited liability company that complies with the
Finnish Companies and Securities Market Acts, the rules of
Nasdaqg Helsinki, and otherregulations concerning public
companies, as well as with Konecranes Plc’s Articles of
Association, inits decision-making and administration.

Konecranes complies with the Finnish Corporate
Governance Code 2020 (the “Code”), whichcame into
force onJanuary 1,2020, and was approved by the board
of the Securities Market Association. The Code canbe
found at www.cgfinland.fi. Konecranes complies with

the recommendations of the Code with no exceptions.
Konecranes hasissued Corporate Governance Statement
and Remuneration Report based onthe Code. Read

more at www.konecranes.com > Investors > Corporate
Governance.

General Meeting

The General Meeting of Shareholdersis Konecranes’
highest decision-making body, through which shareholders
exercise their decision-making power and right of
supervision and control over the Company’s business.

GOVERNANCE 2023
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The Annual General Meeting (AGM) must be held within six
months after the end of a financial year. Konecranes Pic’s
Annual General Meeting 2023 was held in Hyvinkaa on
March 29,2023.

An Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) must be held,
forexample, when the Board of Directors considers it
necessary orif an auditor or shareholders with at least
10 percent of shares so demand in writing to considera
specificissue.In2023,no EGMwas arranged.

The Board of Directors (“Board”) shall convene an AGM or
EGM by publishing a notice on the Company’s website
orin one ormore national newspapers or by sending a
written notice to shareholders by mailno more than three
(3)months and no less than three (3) weeks before a
meeting. The notice shallinclude the proposed agenda.
The Company shall disclose onits website the date by
which shareholders shall notify the Board of Directors

of any issue that they wish to be includedin the agenda.
The Company will publish the decisions made at General
Meetings as stock exchange releases and onthe
Company’s website without delay after meetings.

The minutes of the General Meeting, including those
appendices of the minutes that are part of decisions
made by the meeting, will be posted onthe Company’s
website within two weeks of a General Meeting. More
information on General Meetings can be found onthe
Company’s website at https://investors.konecranes.
com/general-meeting.

GOVERNANCE 2023

Laws,
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regulations
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Corporate Governance structure of the Konecranes Group in 2023

KONECRANES GROUP

Konecranes Plc

General Meeting (Shareholders) Shareholders’

Nomination Board

Articles of Association

Board of Directors
Code of Conduct

Internal ,
Audit Group’sinternal rules,
regulations and
Group Policies

Presidentand CEO

Group Administration
and Support
Functions

Konecranes Leadership Team

Business Area* Business Area*
Industrial Service and Equipment Port Solutions

Business Units** Business Units**

* Konecranes has two Business Areas, Industrial Service and Equipment, and Port Solutions,
and three Business Segments: Service, Industrial Equipment and Port Solutions.

** Some Business Units are managed and organized as through three regions: Americas, EMEA and APAC.
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Shareholders’ Nomination Board

Composition of the Shareholders’

Nomination Board

Mr. Reima Rytséla

b.1969

Chair of the Nomination Board

Finnish citizen

Appointed by Solidium Oy

Education: M.Soc.Sc.

Principal occupation: CEO of Solidium Oy

Mr. Stig Gustavson

b.1945

Finnish citizen

Appointed by Stig Gustavson and family
Education: M.Sc. (Tech.)

Mr. Mikko Mursula
b.1966
Finnish citizen

Appointed by limarinen Mutual Pension Insurance

Company
Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Principal occupation: Deputy CEO, Investments of
lImarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company

Nomination Board Member since June 7, 2023

Mr. Markus Aho
b.1980
Finnish citizen

Appointed by Varma Mutual Pension Insurance

Company
Education: M.Sc. (Tech.)

Principal occupation: Chief Investment Officer of

Varma

GOVERNANCE 2023

Nomination Board Member until June 7, 2023

Mr. Peter Therman

b.1968

Finnish citizen

Appointed by HC Holding Oy Ab (Hartwall Capital)
Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Principal occupation: Deputy Chairman of the Board
of Directors of Hartwall Capital

In addition, Christoph Vitzthum, the Chair of the
Konecranes’ Board of Directors, served as an expertin
the Nomination Board without being a member.

Konecranes has a Shareholders’ Nomination Board, which
prepares proposals to the Annual General Meeting, and,
if necessary, to an Extraordinary General Meeting, for the
election and remuneration of the members of the Board
of Directors and toidentify potential Board member
candidates.

The Nomination Board shall ensure that the Board of
Directors and its members maintain and represent a
sufficient level of expertise, knowledge and competence
as well as diversity. Inits duties, the Nomination Board
shall comply with applicable laws and regulations
including the stock exchange rules and the Finnish
Corporate Governance Code.

The Charter of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board

is available on the Company’s website at www.
konecranes.com > Investors > Corporate Governance >
Shareholders’ Nomination Board.

The Shareholders’ Nomination Boardis comprised of

one member appointed by each of the fourlargest
shareholders of the Company. The Chair of the Company’s
Board of Directors serves as an expert in the Nomination

Financial Review

Board without being amember. The shareholders entitled
to appoint amember are determined on the basis of the
shareholders’ register of the Company maintained by
EuroclearFinland Ltd. on August 31each year. Nominee
registered holdings orholdings, e.g., through several
funds or group companies may be takeninto account
when making a written request to the Chair of the Board of
Directors nolaterthan on August 30 eachyear.

The member appointed by a shareholder shall resign
from the Nomination Board if the shareholder concerned
later transfers more than half of the shares held on
August 31and as aresult thereof isnolongeramongst the
Company’s ten largest shareholders.

The Nomination Board s established untila General
Meeting of the Company decides otherwise. The members
shallbe nominated annually, and their term of office shall
end when new members are nominated to replace them.

In2023, Konecranes’ Shareholders’ Nomination Board
convened? times. The attendance of the Nomination Board
members at meetings was 93 percent. The attendance of
the members to the Nomination Board was as follows:

Attendance in Shareholders’ Nomination
Board meetings

Member Attendance Percentage
Reima Rytséla (chair) 7/7 100%
Markus Aho* 6/7 86%
Stig Gustavson 6/7 86%
Mikko Mursula 7/7 100%
Christoph Vitzthum** 7/7 100%

Total attendance 93%

*Markus Aho has been a member of the Shareholders’ Nomination
Boardsince June 7,2023, but no meetings were arranged before
his appointment.

** Christoph Vitzthum, Chair of the Konecranes’ Board of

Directors, serves as an expertin the Shareholders’ Nomination
Boardbutis not amember of the Nomination Board.
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Board of Directors

Christoph Vitzthum

b.1969

Finnish citizen

Chairman of the Board since 2016

Board Member since 2015

Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders

Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Principal occupation: President and CEO, Fazer
Group

Shares: 12,671

Pasi Laine

b.1963

Finnish citizen

Vice Chairman of the Board since 2022
Board Member since 2022

Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders

Education: M.Sc. (El.Eng.)

Principal occupation: Presidentand CEO,
Valmet Oyj

Shares: 2,415

Pauli Anttila

b.1984

Finnish citizen

Board Member since 2022

Independent of the Company but deemed to
be dependent of a significant shareholder of
the Company based on his current position

as Investment Director and Member of the
Management team, Solidium Oy

Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Principal occupation: Investment Director and
Member of the Management Team, Solidium Oy
Shares: 2,189

GOVERNANCE 2023

UIf Liljedahl

b.1965

Swedish citizen

Board Member since 2016

Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders

Education: B.Sc. (Economics and Business
Administration)

Principal occupation: President and CEO,
Volito AB

Shares: 5,925

Niko Mokkila

b.1979

Finnish citizen

Board Member since 2020

Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders. UntilMay 16,2023, Niko Mokkila
was deemed to be dependent of a significant
shareholder of the Company.

Education: M.Sc. (Tech.),M.Sc. (Econ.)
Principal occupation: Managing Director, Head
of Investment Operations, Hartwall Capital Oy
Ab

Shares: 3,462

Paivi Rekonen

b.1969

Finnish citizen

Board Member since 2018

Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders

Education: M.Soc.Sc.,M.Sc. (Econ.)

Principal occupation: Board professional and
independent strategic advisor

Shares: 5,234

Remuneration

Risk Management

Helene Svahn

b.1974

Swedish citizen

Board Member since 2022
Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders

Education: Ph.D. (El. Eng)

Principal occupation: Professorin
Nanobiotechnology, Royal Institute of
Technology (KTH), Sweden

Shares: 1,689

Sami Piittisjarvi

b.1992

Finnish citizen

Board Member since 2022

Independent of the Company’s significant
shareholders but deemed to be dependent
of the Company due to his position as an
employee of Konecranes.

Education: Bachelor of Electrical Engineering
Principal occupation: Manager, product
portfolio, Business Unit Port Services
Shares: 50

Sami Piittisjarviwas selected fromamong
candidates put forward by the employees of
Konecranesin accordance with the agreement
onemployee representation between
Konecranes and its employees.

Financial Review

Board Member since March 29,2023

Gun Nilsson

b.1955

Swedish citizen

Board Member since 2023

Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders

Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Principal occupation: Board professional
Shares: 653

Board Member until March 29, 2023

Janina Kugel

b.1970

German citizen

Board Member since 2016

Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders

Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Principal occupation: Board professional and
independent strategic advisor

Per Vegard Nerseth

b.1964

Norwegian citizen

Board Member since 2018

Independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders

Education: B.Sc. (Econ.), MBA

Principal occupation: Chief Executive Officer,
CMR Surgical
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1. Christoph Vitzthum 2. PasilLaine 3. PauliAnttila 4. Ulf Liljedahl 5. Niko Mokkila 6. PaiviRekonen 7. Helene Svahn 8. Sami Piittisjarvi 9. GunNilsson 10. Janina Kugel 11. Per Vegard Nerseth
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The Board of Directors shallunder the Konecranes Articles
of Association have a minimum of five and maximum of
tenmembers. The Directors are elected at each Annual
General Meeting. The managing directormaybe a
member of the Board of Directors, but (s)he cannot be
elected the Chair of the Board. In 2023, Konecranes
President and CEO was not amember of the Board of
Directors.

Main tasks

The Board s vested with powers and duties to manage
and supervise the administration and operations of the
Company as set forthin the Companies Act, the Articles
of Association, and any other applicable Finnish laws
and regulations. The Company complies with all other
applicable rules and regulations affecting the Company
orits affiliates (Group Companies) outside Finland,
provided that such compliance does not constitute a
violation of Finnish law. As a publicly listed company,
the Rules of Nasdaq Helsinki will apply to the Company
and the Company complies with the Finnish Corporate
Governance Code 2020.

The Board has a general obligation to pursue the best
interests of the Company and all of its shareholders. The
Boardis accountable to the Company’s shareholders. The
members of the Board of Directors shall actin good faith
and with due care, exercising their business judgment
onaninformed basisin what they believe to be the best
interest of the Company and its shareholder community
asawhole.

The Board of Directors shall decide on the business
strategy of the Company; the appointment and dismissal
of the President and CEO (holding the position of the
managing directorunder the Companies Act), the deputy
to the President and CEQO, and other senior management,
Group structure, acquisitions and divestments, financial
matters and investments. It shall also continuously review

GOVERNANCE 2023
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and monitor the operations and performance of Group
companies, risk management, and the Company’s
compliance with applicable laws, as well as any other
issues determined by the Board of Directors. The Board
shall keepitself informed of issues and business activities
of major strategic importance to the Company on an
ongoing basis. The Board shall appoint a secretary to be
present at all Board meetings.

The President and CEO and Chief Financial Officerreport
to the Board on a quarterly basis on the sales funnel,
competitive situation, market sentiment, the Company’s
orderintake and financial performance and full-year
forecast, as well as on safety, people, and customer
topics. The status of the most important development
activities, e.g., major ITinvestments, R&D projects and
acquisition cases, may be presented to the Board by the
persons directly responsible for such matters.

The Charter of the Board of Directors s available on the
Company’s website at www.konecranes.com > Investors
> Corporate Governance > Board of Directors > Charter
of the Board of Directors.

Diversity of the Board of Directors

The Board has a diversity policy. According to the policy,
the Members of the Board of Directors are always
selected based upon theirexpected contribution and
effectiveness as members of the Board of Directors, and
capability to positively influence the long-term strategic
direction and performance of the Company. As ateam,
the Board of Directors works for the benefit of the key
stakeholders, including customers, employees and
shareholders. Diversity in the composition of the Board
of Directors enables diversity in thinking and high-quality
decision-making.

When considering diversity within the Board of Directors,
the main attribute is diversity in thinking, including

Financial Review

individual professional and personal experiences,
influenced by diversity in nationality, age and gender.
Board selections are based on a candidate’s background
and competency to understand Konecranes’ current

and future markets, strategy, employees and customers,
including a sound understanding of financials and
business dynamics. Collectively the Board of Directors
should have combined experience in different markets,
geographies andimportant topics like digitalization and
corporate responsibility.

Forawell-functioning Board of Directors, itisimportant
that Board members are committed to Board work

and have the possibility to devote the time needed to
understand the Company’s current situation, customers
and strategy.

The mostimportant nomination criteria for Board
candidates are competency, knowledge, personal
qualities and integrity. Both genders shall be represented
onthe Board of Directors, and Konecranes’ aimis to strive
towards a good and balanced Board composition taking
into account all aspects of Board diversity.

Atthe end of 2023, out of nine Board members, three
were female, representing one third of the total. The
Board had two different nationalities and experience
from five different decades of birth. The Board also
consisted of versatile work experience and different
educational backgrounds from the fields of engineering
and economics.

In2023, Konecranes’ Board convened 16 times. The
attendance of the Board members at meetings was 97
percent. The attendance of the members to the Board
and committee meetingsis presented in the table onthe
following page:

ewsaron STANVADIINOM
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Board and Board committee meeting attendance

Board meetings

Risk Management Financial Review

Audit
Committee meetings

Human Resources
Committee meetings

Member Attendance Percentage Attendance Percentage Attendance Percentage
Chairman

Christoph Vitzthum 16/16 100% 6/6 100%
Vice Chairman

PasiLaine 1416 88% 4/4 100%
Other Board Members

Pauli Anttila 16/16 100% 4/4 100%
Janina Kugel 6/7 86% 2/2 100%
Ulf Liljedahl 16/16 100% 9/9 100%

Niko Mokkila 16/16 100% 9/9 100%

PerVegard Nerseth 777 100% 2/2 100%
Gun Nilsson 9/9 100% 6/7 86%

Sami Piittisjarvi 14/16 88%

Péaivi Rekonen 16/16 100% 9/9 100%

Helene Svahn 16/16 100% 4/4 100%

Gun Nilsson Board member since the AGM 2023 on March 29,2023. Janina Kugel and Per Vegard Nerseth Board members until the AGM 2023.

GOVERNANCE 2023
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Committees

The Board of Directors has appointed two
committees consisting of its members: the
Audit Committee and the Human Resources
Committee. The Board has confirmed rules of
procedure for both Committees.

The Audit Committee

In2023, the Board’s Audit Committee was comprised of
the following members:

« Mr. Ulf Liliedahl (Chair)

o Mr. Niko Mokkila

o Ms. PaiviRekonen

Ms. Gun Nilsson, since March 29,2023

Atthe end of 2023, allmembers of the Audit Committee
were deemed to be independent of the Company and
its significant shareholders. Allmembers have sufficient
expertise on corporate management. In addition, all
members have a degree in business administration
and/or economics and two of the members have CFO
experience.

The Board shall appoint an Audit Committee from among
itsmembers to assist the Boardinits responsibilities
relating to the appropriate arrangement of the control

of the Company accounts and finances pursuant to

the Companies Act. The intentionis not to extend the
duties of the Board from what s expressly stipulatedin
the Finnish Companies Act. The Audit Committee shall
not make independent decisions and it may rely on the
information provided toit.

GOVERNANCE 2023
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Financial Review
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The Audit Committee shall have at least three (3) non-
executive Board members, who are independent of and
not affiliated with the Company. At least one member
must be independent of significant shareholders. The
members must have the qualifications necessary to
perform the responsibilities of the Audit Committee, and
atleast one member shall have expertise specifically in
accounting, bookkeeping or auditing.

The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist
the Boardinits oversight responsibilities relating to the
Company’s financial reporting process and in monitoring
the Audit of the Company and in mattersrelating to
financial reporting, internal control, internal audit and risk
management. The Audit Committee shall assist the Board
by performing some preparatory tasks as specifiedinits
Charter. The Audit Committee shall not make independent
decisions.

The tasks and responsibilities of the Committee are
definedin the Charter of the Audit Committee, which
hasbeen approved by the Board andisbasedona
Boardresolution as part of the Company’s corporate
governance principles.

The Charter of the Audit Committee is available on the
Company’s website at www.konecranes.com > Investors
> Corporate Governance > Board Committees.

In2023, Konecranes’ Audit Committee convened 9
times. The attendance of the Audit Committee members
at meetings was 97 percent. The attendance of the
membersis presentedin the table onpage 9.

The Human Resources Committee

In2023, the Board’s Human Resources Committee was
comprised of the following members:

GOVERNANCE 2023
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o Mr. Christoph Vitzthum, Chair since March 29,2023

o Ms. Janina Kugel, Chairand memberuntilMarch 29,2023
o Mr. Pauli Anttila, since March 29,2023

o Mr. Pasilaine, since March 29,2023

e Ms. Helene Svahn, since March 29,2023

o Mr.PerVegard Nerseth, untilMarch 29,2023

Allmembers of the Human Resources Committee are
deemedto beindependent of the Company. Allmembers
of the Committee with the exception of Pauli Anttila are
deemedto beindependent of the Company’s significant
shareholders.

The Human Resources Committee is responsible for
assisting and providing guidance and recommendations
to the Board of Directors of the Company in fulfilling its
oversight and otherresponsibilitiesinrelationto e.g.:

« the operative structure and selection of senior
management;

« talent management, retention and succession planning
of seniormanagement;

« professionaland competence development for senior

management;

evaluation and compensation of the President and CEO

and Konecranes Leadership Team (KLT);

« general principles forcompensation, long- and short-

termincentive compensation plans and share-based
incentive plans;

« humanresources, sustainability, ESG (Environmental,
Socialand Governance) and safety strategies and
performance; and

o any other matters delegated to the Human Resources
Committee by the Board.

The Human Resources Committee is appointed to assist
the Boardinitsresponsibilities and the Human Resources
Committee does not have independent decision-making
power. The Human Resources Committee consists

Financial Review

of aminimum of three (3) directors. The Board elects

the members and the Chair of the Human Resources
Committee from amongits members. The majority of the
members shall be independent of the Company.

The tasks and responsibilities of the Committee

are defined in the Charter of the Human Resources
Committee, which has been approved by the Board and
isbased onaBoardresolution as part of the Company’s
corporate governance principles.

The Charter of the Human Resources Committeeis
available onthe Company’s website at
www.konecranes.com > Investors > Corporate
Governance > Board Committees.

In2023, Konecranes’ Human Resources Committee
convened 6 times. The attendance of the Human
Resources Committee members at meetings was 100
percent. The attendance of the membersis presentedin
the table onpage 9.

ewsaron STANVADIINOM
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Presidentand CEO

GOVERNANCE 2023

Anders Svensson

b.1975

Swedish citizen

President and CEO since 2022
Member of the Konecranes Leadership
Team since 2022

Employed since 2022

Education: M.Sc. (Eng.)

Shares: 324

Risk Management Financial Review

Main tasks and duties

Under the Companies Act, the Presidentand CEO is
responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Companyinaccordance withinstructions and orders
given by the Board. The President and CEO may
undertake actions which, considering the scope and
nature of the operations of the Company, are unusual or
extensive, only with the authorization of the Board. The
President and CEO shall see toit that the Company’s
accounting practices comply with the law and that its
financial affairs have been arrangedin areliable manner.
The President and CEQ is also responsible for preparing
matters presented to the Board and for the Company’s

strategic planning, finance, financial planning, reporting,

andrisk management.

Deputy CEO
Konecranes CFO, Teo Ottola, acts as the Deputy CEO.

ewsaron STANVADIINOM
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Corporate Governance Statement 2023

In addition to the President and CEO, the Konecranes Leadership

Team (KLT) consists of the following persons:

Teo Ottola

b.1968

Finnish citizen

Chief Financial Officer, Deputy CEO
Member of the Konecranes Leadership Team
since 2007

Employed by Konecranes since 2007
Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Shares: 51,075

Fabio Fiorino

b.1967

US and Canadian citizen

Executive Vice President, Industrial Service and
Equipment

Member of the Konecranes Leadership Team
since 2012

Employed by Konecranes since 1995
Education: B.Eng., P.Eng., MBA

Shares:39,119

Anneli Karkovirta

b.1963

Finnish citizen

Executive Vice President, People and Culture
Member of the Konecranes Leadership Team
since 2021

Employed by Konecranes since 2014
Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Shares: 2,667

GOVERNANCE 2023

Juha Pankakoski

b.1967

Finnish citizen

Executive Vice President, Port Solutions
since September7,2023, and
Executive Vice President, Technologies
Member of the Konecranes Leadership Team
since 2015

Employed by Konecranes since 2004
Education: M.Sc. (Eng.),eMBA

Shares: 20,550

Sirpa Poitsalo

b.1963

Finnish citizen

Executive Vice President, General Counsel
Member of the Konecranes Leadership Team
since 2016

Employed by Konecranes since 1988
Education: LL.M.

Shares: 42,626

Remuneration

Risk Management Financial Review

KLT Member until September 7, 2023

Mika Mahlberg

b.1963

Finnish citizen

Executive Vice President, Port Solutions
Member of the Konecranes Leadership Team
since 2017

Employed by Konecranes since 1997
Education: M.Sc. (Eng.)

KLT Member until July 14,2023

TopiTiitola

b.1969

Finnish citizen

Senior Vice President, Integration and Project
Management Office

Member of the Konecranes Leadership Team
since 2020

Employed by Konecranes since 1995
Education: M.Sc. (Econ.)

Main tasks

The Konecranes Leadership Team
assists the Presidentand CEO, but has
no official statutory positionbased on

legislation or the Articles of Association.

In practice, however, the Konecranes
Leadership Team plays a significantrole
inthe Company’s management system,
strategy preparation and decision-
making. The Konecranes Leadership
Team convenes onamonthly basis.

ewsaron STANVADIINOM
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1. Teo Ottola 2. Fabio Fiorino 3. AnneliKarkovirta 4. Juha Pankakoski 5. Sirpa Poitsalo 6. MikaMahlberg 7. TopiTiitola
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Internal controland risk management
related to financial reporting

Risk management

Konecranes’ Board of Directors has defined and adopted
aset of riskmanagement principles based on widely
accepted international good management practices.
The Audit Committee evaluates andreports onthe
adequacy and appropriateness of internal controls and
risk management to the Board.

Riskis anything that will clearly affect Konecranes’
ability to achieve its business objectives and execute

GOVERNANCE 2023

its strategies. Risk management is part of Konecranes’
control system and is designed to ensure that any risks
related to the Company’s business operations are
identified and managed adequately and appropriately to
always safeguard the continuity of Konecranes’ business
and operations.

Risk managementis considered anintegral part of running
Konecranes’ operations. Konecranes’ corporate risk
management principles provide a basic framework for

Financial Review

risk management across Konecranes, and each legal
entity and/or operating unitis responsible forits own
risk management. This approach guarantees the best
possible knowledge of local conditions, experience and
relevance. The same principleis also applied to financial
reporting.

The risk management principles define risk management
as a continuous and systematic activity aimed at
protecting employees from personalinjury, safeguarding
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the assets of all Group companies and the Group as
awhole, and ensuring stable and profitable financial
performance. By minimizinglosses due to realized risks
and optimizing the cost of riskmanagement, Konecranes
cansafeguardits overall long-term competitiveness.
Konecranes has assessedits strategic, operational,
financial and hazard-related risks.

Management of financialrisks is describedin note 33 to
Konecranes’ Financial Statements 2023.

Internal Control

Internal controlrelated to financial reporting is designed
to provide reasonable assurance concerning the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes inaccordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, applicable
laws andregulations, and otherrequirements covering
listed companies.

Control environment

Corporate governance and business management at
Konecranes are based onthe Company’s four core
values: Putting customers first, Doing the right thing,
Driving for better and Winning together. The control
environment is the foundation for all other components of
internal control and for promoting employee awareness
of key issues, supporting the execution of strategy and
regulatory compliance. The Board of Directors and
Management are responsible for defining the Konecranes
Group’s control environment through business
management structures, corporate policies, instructions
and financial reporting frameworks. These include
Konecranes’ Code of Conduct, Anti-Corruption Policy
and Konecranes’ Controller’s Manual, which constitute the
main tool foraccounting and financial reporting principles
withrespect to providing information, guidelines and
instructions. The interpretation and application of
accounting standards is the responsibility of the global
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accounting function. Guidelines andinstructions for
reporting are updated when necessary and are reviewed
atleastonceayear.

Konecranes has two Business Areas, Industrial Service
and Equipment, and Port Solutions, and three Business
Segments: Service, Industrial Equipment and Port
Solutions. Port Solutions also incorporates those service
branches and spare part units which are dedicated to
serve the port customer segment.

In2023, Business Segment Service had four business
units: Industrial Service, Modernizations, Component
spare parts and Parts supply. Business Unit Industrial
Service and Business Unit Modernizations were internally
managed andreported as a line organization through
three regions — Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA),
Americas (AME) and Asia-Pacific (APAC). Other business
units were managed as line organizations globally.
Business Segment Industrial EQuipment had five business
units: Configured to Order Cranes, Engineered to Order
Cranes, Nuclear Cranes, Components and Supply.

The three first listed business units were managed
andreported as aline organization through the same
three regions as Industrial Service and Modernizations.
Business Unit Components and Business Unit Supply
were managed as global line organizations. Business
Area Port Solutions was operated as line organizations
further divided into business units, and under business
units furtherinto product lines. These segments had
clear product line profit responsibilities, ensuring a
flawless order delivery process and enabling effective
decision- making. Support functions, such as Finance,
Legal, People and Culture, IT and Marketing and
Communications were managed as line organizations.

Inthe finance operating model, management accounting
(business controlling) and financial accounting are
segregated where applicable. Management accounting
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employees support the business area management
decision-making, whereas financial accounting primarily
follows Group’s legal structure with a close link to Group-
level financial accounting and reporting. Group Internal
Controlsis focused on supporting local unitsinimproving
controls and processes and monitoring compliance with
Konecranes’ internal controls and is part of the Internal
Audit organization.

Financial targets are set, and planning and follow-up
activities are executed, along the business area and
business unit structuresin alignment with the overall
business targets of the Konecranes Group. The
operations of Business Segment Service are typically
monitored based on profit-responsible service branches,
which are further consolidated to country and region
levels. Business Segment Industrial Equipment is mainly
monitored via the Components, Industrial Cranes, and
Process and Nuclear Cranes units, which are divided

into business/product lines. The manufacturing of
components, sub-assemblies and other parts have a
separate set of key performance indicators (KPlIs), as
these supply operations are treated as cost centers
rather than profit-generating units. Business Segment
Port Solutions has Lift Trucks, Mobile Harbor Cranes, Port
Cranes, Software, Solutions, and Port Services business
units monitoredin the same way as in Business Segment
Industrial Equipment.

Control activities

The Konecranes Leadership Team has operational
responsibility forinternal controls. Control activities are
integratedinto the business processes of the Konecranes
Group and management’s business supervision and
monitoring procedures. Management follow-up is carried
out through monthly management reporting routines

and performance review meetings. These meetings are
conducted at the Business Area and business unit levels,
based ontheirown management structures, as well as at
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the Group level. Topics coveredin the meetingsinclude
safety, review of the sales funnel, competitive situation,
market sentiment, orderintake and order book, monthly
financial performance, monthly, quarterly and rolling
12-month forecasts, quality related matters and business
risks. Mattersrelated to personnel, customers andinternal
controltopics are also takeninto account. Management
separately follows up the mostimportant development
activities.

Alllegal entities and business units have their own defined
controller functions. Representatives from controller
functions participate in planning and evaluating unit
performance and ensure that monthly and quarterly
financial reporting follows the Company’s policies and
instructions and that all financial reports are delivered on
time in accordance with schedules set by the Company.

Konecranes hasidentified and documented the
significantinternal controls that relate to its financial
processes either directly orindirectly through other
processes. Group companies are responsible for
implementing the identified and documented internal
controls. Konecranes has aregister of internal controls
that applies to all entities globally. The registerincludes
controls over assets, liabilities, revenue, and costs
that require the involvement of Business and Financial
Management. Theregisterincludes approximately

90 controls that are categorized as key controls or
operational controls. The list of internal controlsis
reviewed annually.

Assessments and monitoring

Each operational legal entity/unit assesses and reports
its compliance with the centrally determined set of
significantinternal controls through completion of an
annual controls assessment document. Responsibility for
fulfilling this reporting requirement lies with the managing
directors and controllers. This document is reviewed by
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the Internal Audit team, which ensures completion of

the assessment and provides feedback and guidance
when needed onhow to improve existing processes to fill
possible gapsin controls.

In2023, Internal Audit visits covered approximately 40
percent of the operational legal entities and around 76
percent of Group revenues. In addition to the above-
described self-assessment of the control environment
and Internal Audit visits, Group Internal Controls
coordinated a self-testing process for 34 operational
legal entities. Remediation of the control deficienciesis
the responsibility of the Managing Director of the legal
entity, and Internal Audit conducts a re-audit after the
entity has corrected control weaknesses.

Communication

The Controller’s Manual, together with reporting
instructions, control register and policies, is stored in
the Konecranes Intranet foraccess by personnel. The
Company, Business Areas and regions also arrange
meetings to share information on financial processes
and practices. Information for the Company’s external
stakeholdersis regularly communicated via the
Konecranes website. To ensure that the information

providedis comprehensive and accurate, Konecranes has

established a set of external communication guidelines.
These define how, by whom, and when information
should beissued; and they are designed to ensure that
Konecranes meets allits disclosure obligations and to
further strengtheninternal controls related to financial
reporting.

During 2023

In2023, Konecranes continued its IT systemroll-out to
implement harmonized processes, increase operational
visibility and improve decision-making, and toreduce the
overallnumber of various IT systems. The oneKonecranes
SAP ERP systemis being takeninto use for transaction
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handling and logistics within all three business segments.
At the end of 2023, oneKonecranes SAP coverage was 81
percent of Konecranes entities, increasing from 2022 (77
percent).

Konecranes also continued the implementation and
development of the Shared Service Center concept
to offer mainly transaction handling services, master
data maintenance and selected financial accounting,
procurement and HR services.

Theinternal control environment has been further
improved using common, unified processes and a
common system platform. The annual review and update
of internal controls was focused on compliance and
contractual matters.
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Otherinformation

Internal audit

Konecranes’ Internal Audit functionis anindependent unit,

which assists the organizationin achievingits objectives.
The unit evaluates the efficiency of risk management,
controland governance processes.

Internal Audit operates according to an audit plan
approved by the Board’s Audit Committee. The unit’s
working methods are based on the professional
standards laid down by the Institute of Internal Auditors
(IlA) and focus on process-oriented engagement rather
than solely entity-based auditing. Internal audit results
arereported to audited units’ operative management,
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local subsidiaries’ Chair of the Board (internal Board)
andrelevant KLT members. Remediation follow-ups are
coordinated by Internal Audit and the Group Internal
Controls function. Remediated findings are verified by
Internal Audit in separate re-audits.

In2023, the Internal Audit Team conducted 41 planned
audits according to an approved annual audit plan.

As part of ongoingrisk assessment process, the plan
was specified during the year. Internal audits in 2023
generally covered 54 key controls, and the risk-based
part 42 operational controls. Also, sample sizes varied
fromlimited to wide based on the analyzedrisk level. The

Financial Review

internal audit annual plan covered 40 percent of active
operational legal entities, all Financial Service Centers
(FSSC)in Tallinn, Xiamen and Klang, and centralized
functions, such as Procurement Service Center, Global
IT Services,and HR Servicesinthe U.S., Germany, China,
and Finland. Additionally, Internal Audit conducted or
participatedinlauditbased onthe compliance and
ethicsrisk assessment.

AllInternal Audit activities are reported to the Konecranes
Leadership Team and the Board’s Audit Committee on
aregularbasis. Internal Audit is responsible to the Audit
Committee.
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Related party transactions

Konecranes’ Board of Directors has defined the
principles for monitoring and evaluating related party
transactionsin terms of identification, reporting and
supervision of related party transactions, as well as the
proper decision-making.

Allrelated party transactions that are not part of the
Company’s ordinary course of business, orare madein
deviation from customary commercial terms, require
aBoard decisionto be carried out. Such a decision
shall be supported by appropriate documentation

to demonstrate that the transactionis compatible
with the purpose and interests of the Company and is
commercially justified.

Konecranesregularly identifies its related parties and
follows transactions by those parties throughits ERP
system, as well as through disclosures by related parties.
The existence of other possible related partiesin the form
of shareholdersis reviewed and evaluated throughout
the year by the Legal Function to verify whetherany
shareholderhas control or significantinfluence over
Konecranes. The related party transactions connected
to the key management personnel are collected
systematically once ayearby the Legal Function.

In2023, Konecranes has not conducted related party
transactions that would be material from the perspective
of the Company or would deviate from the Company’s
normal business operations orwould not be made on
market or market equivalent terms. Information onrelated
party transactions canbe foundin note 30 to Konecranes’
Financial Statements.

Insider administration

The Board of Directors has approved the Konecranes Plc
Insider Regulations based on Market Abuse Regulation
(“MAR”), regulation and guidance given by the European
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Securities and Markets Authority, the Finnish Securities
Markets Act, Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd's Guidelines for Insiders

and guidance given by the Financial Supervisory Authority.

Konecranes maintains aninsider list (“Insider List”)
recording all persons having access toinsider information
related to the Company. The Insider List consists of

one ormore project-specific sections. Konecranes

has determined that it willnot establish apermanent
insider sectionin this Insider List, and there are thus no
permanentinsiders in Konecranes.

At Konecranes, persons discharging managerial
responsibilities (“Managers”) according to MAR are the
members of the Board of Directors, the President and
CEO and the members of the Konecranes Leadership
Team.

Managers and their closely associated persons have to
notify Konecranes and Financial Supervisory Authority
of alltransactions, as defined in MAR, conducted on
theirown accountrelating to the financial instruments
of Konecranes within three days of the transactions.
Managers are prohibited from trading in Konecranes’
financial instruments during a closed period starting
on the 15th day of the month prior to the end of each
calendar quarter and ending when the corresponding
interimreport or the financial statement bulletinis
published, including the day of publication of said report
(“Closed Period”).

Konecranes keeps arecord of persons who regularly
participate in the preparation of Group-level financial
results orwho can otherwise have access to such
information and has decided that the Closed Period set
by Konecranes applies to them. Personsincludedin the
Insider List’s project-specific sections are prohibited
from trading in Konecranes’ financial instruments until
termination of the project concerned.

Financial Review

External audit

According to the Articles of Association of Konecranes, the
Company has to have at least one regular APA auditor and
one deputy auditor, or alternatively at least one auditing
corporation, withan APA auditor as the responsible auditor.
The auditors are elected to their office for a term expiring
at the end of the Annual General Meeting of shareholders
following the election. Ernst & Young Oy, Authorized

Public Accountant Firm, has beenthe Company’s external
auditor since 2006. Mr. Toni Halonen served as Principal
Auditorin 2023 and has beenin this position since 2021. In
2023, Ernst & Young Oy and its affiliated audit companies
received EUR 3.5 millioninfees for auditing Konecranes
Group companies and EUR 0.3 million of fees for non-audit
services.In2022, the corresponding fees were EUR 4.1
millionand EUR 0.2 million.
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REMUNERATION REPORT 2023

Remuneration Risk Management

Letter fromthe Chair of the Konecranes Board

Dear Shareholders,

Itismy pleasure to present
the Konecranes’' 2023
Remuneration Reporton
behalf of the Konecranes
Board. The Remuneration
Reporthasbeen prepared
inaccordance withthe
requirements of the EU
Shareholders’ Rights
Directive and the Finnish
Corporate Governance Code 2020 issued by the Finnish
Securities Market Association. The Reportisbased on
Konecranes’ Remuneration Policy, which covers the

principles forremuneration of the Konecranes Board of
Directors, the President and CEO as well as the Deputy CEO.

At Konecranes, remunerationis linked to performance and
achievements on all organizational levels. While providing
acompetitive and motivating compensation, the primary
target of Konecranes management remunerationis to
align the interests of board members, executives, and
shareholdersin orderto enhance commitment to the
achieving of strategic targets and to promoting the
long-term financial success of the company, as well as to
contribute to the positive development of shareholder
value. The executive shareholding requirements support
the alignment of corporate goals and executive interests.

Inrecentyears, profitabilityimprovement has been

a key strategic focus area at Konecranes, and it has
beenemphasizedinboth short-term andlong-term
incentive metrics. The short term-incentive planhas
beenbased onannual targetsrelated to Konecranes’
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financial performance, and since last year also onan
annual ESG target, whichin 2023 comprised elements

of CO, emissions from own operations, safety, as well as
diversity andinclusion. In 2023, the Presidentand CEQO’s,
the Deputy CEO’s and other seniormanagement’s short-
termincentives had a 65% weighting on comparable
EBITAmargin, a 25% weighting on sales growthand a10%
weighting onthe ESG target.

In2023, both Konecranes’ sales and profitability
improved. The good performance is reflectedin the
outcome of the short-termincentives presentedin this
report, as the short-termincentives for the year 2023
tobe paidin March 2024 are higher than the short-term
incentives for the year which were paid outin 2023.

Konecranes’ share-based compensationis based on
longer-term financial performance and shareholder
value creation. Inthe 2020-2022 performance share
plans, the comparable earnings per share (EPS)is the
sole performance criterion. The 2023 plan has a 40%
weighting on compound annual growthrate for sales

to support focus on growth. The 2023 plan has one
three-yearlong performance and measurement period,
instead of the one-yearlong measurement periods of
the three-yearlong 2021-2022 plans. As the comparable
EPSimprovedin2023, the outcome for the measurement
period 2023 of these share-based plans was higher
compared to the previous year.

Konecranes welcomed anew President and CEO, Anders
Svenssoninlate 2022; subsequently 2023 was his first full
year at Konecranes. This can be seeninthe remuneration of
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the CEO versus ayear ago. To ensure the new President and
CEQO’s commitment towards the company, he was granted
17,170 gross Konecranes shares through a Restricted Share
Unit (RSU) plan when he joined the Company, 40% of which
vested on December 31,2023, and 60% of which will vest
onDecember 31,2024. The first batch of shares was paid on
January 2,2024, and the Board decided that the full award
was settledin shares. The President and CEO s currently
the only participantin the RSU plan.

Konecranes continues to develop its remuneration and
to follow that the remuneration levels and elements
are aligned with market practices. As a next step,
starting from 2024, the long-termincentive targets

of the President and CEQO, the Deputy CEO and other
senior management will have a10% weighting on

ESG performance criterion - CO, emissions from own
operations. This will furtherenhance management’s
commitment to Konecranes’ ambitious sustainability
agenda andtargets.

In2023, the HR Committee has also beenupdating
Konecranes’ Remuneration Policy. Shareholders’
feedback hasbeen consideredinthe update process.
The new Policy will be presented at the 2024 Annual
General Meeting whereitis subject to an advisory vote.

Iwelcome any feedback or comments on Konecranes’
Remunerationreport for2023.

Christoph Vitzthum
Chair of the Konecranes Board
and Human Resources committee
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1. Introduction

Thisreport has been prepared by the Konecranes’

Board of Directors Human Resources Committee. Itis
based on the Konecranes’ Remuneration Policy and has
been preparedinaccordance with the requirements

set forth by the amended EU Shareholders’ Rights
Directive, which wasimplementedin Finland in 2019,

and the Finnish Corporate Governance Code 2020.The
report will be presented at the Konecranes 2024 Annual
General Meeting (AGM), and the resolution of the AGM on
the matterwill be advisory.

Konecranes’ Remuneration Policy was implemented
in2020 to formalize the existing and continuing
practices and toillustrate the link between Konecranes’

Remuneration Risk Management

business targets and strategy and how those have been
considered for existing remuneration principles. The
Remuneration Policy was first presented at the 2020 AGM.
The AGM 2020 gave an advisory resolution to support

the Remuneration Policy, covering the principles for
remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors,
Presidentand CEO and Deputy CEO. The Remuneration
Policy’s validity is regularly reviewed by the Board of
Directors and presented to the General Meeting at least
every fouryears or whenever substantial changes are
made toit. The updated Remuneration Policy for 2024 will
be presented at the AGM 2024 for an advisory resolution.

In2023, the remuneration decisions were made within
the frame of the Remuneration Policy 2020. There were
no deviations from the Remuneration Policy.

Development of the fees of the Board of Directors and CEO compared to the
development of the average remuneration of employees and to the company’s
financial development over the preceding five financial years:

Financial Performance /

Financial Review

The primary target of Konecranes management
remunerationis to align the interests of Board members
and executives to those of the shareholders, and to
enhance management’s commitment to achieve
strategic targets and to promote the long-term financial
success of the Company, as well as to contribute to

the positive development of shareholdervalue. The
executive shareholding requirements support the
alignment of corporate aims and executive interests.

At Konecranes, remunerationis linked to performance
and achievements on all organizational levels. The short
term-incentive planis based on annual targetsrelated
to the financial performance of the Group. The long-
term Performance Share Planis based onlonger-term
financial performance and shareholder value creation.
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Remunerationin€ 2019 2020 2020vs. 2019 2021 2021vs. 2020 2022 2022 vs. 2021 2023 2023 vs. 2022
Net sales, MEUR 3,326.9 3,178.9 -4.4% 3,185.7 0.2% 3,364.8 5.6% 3,966.3 17.9%
Comparable EBITA, MEUR 2751 260.8 -5.2% 312.2 19.7% 318.4 2.0% 450.7 41.5%
Chair of the Board * 140,000 140,000 0.0% 140,000 0.0% 140,000 0.0% 150,000 7.1%
Vice Chair of the Board * 100,000 - - 100,000 100,000 0.0%
Other Board members * 70,000 70,000 0.0% 70,000 0.0% 70,000 0.0% 70,000 0.0%
President & CEO ** 515,976 698,677 35.4% 901,303 29.0% 748,778 -16.9% 814,208 8.7%
Average Konecranes employees *** 50,931 46,913 -7.9% 49,089 4.6% 53,129 8.2% 56,807 6.9%
CEO-to-employee pay ratio 10.13 14.89 47.0% 18.36 23.3% 14.09 -23.2% 14.33 1.7%

*Thisis only the fixed fee, without meeting fees.

**The compensation of the President and CEO reflects the remuneration of Panu Routilato Oct 2019, Rob Smith from Feb 2020 to Dec 2021,
Interim CEO Teo Ottola from Jan 2022 to Oct 18,2022 and Anders Svensson from Oct 19,2022 onwards. The remuneration details contain
the base salary as well as the car and phone benefit, pensionis notincluded in this amount.

*** Excluding restructuring costs. The lower remunerationin 2020 compared to the previous years is due to COVID-19 related temporary lay-offs

and other temporary measures (e.g., shorter work weeks and utilization of holiday banks).
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2. Remuneration of the Board of Directors

The Board the Directors’ remuneration consists of
Annual Fee, Board Meeting Attendance Fee, Committee
Attendance Fee, and travel reimbursements.

The AGM 2023 confirmed that the annual remuneration
of the Board of Directors remained unchanged apart
from the annual fee of the Board Chair and the meeting
fee of the Audit Committee Chair. As perthe AGM
2023 decision, 40 percent of the annual remuneration
was paid in Konecranes shares acquired on behalf of
the Board members at a price determinedin public
trading on Nasdaq Helsinki. According to the trading
plan by the Company, the purchase of shares has been
carried outinfour equalinstalments; each instalment
purchased within a two-week period following each of
the Company’sinterimreport announcements and the
Company’s financial statement release. The Company
pays transaction costs and transfer taxin connection with
the purchase of remuneration shares.

The AGM 2023 decided to increase the Board Chair’s
annual fee from EUR 140,000 to EUR150,000.
Furthermore, the AGM 2023 decided that the Board
members are eligible forameeting fee of EUR1,000 for
each meeting they attend. For meetings of the Board

Fees payable to the Board members as confirmed
by the Annual General Meeting on March 29,2023

Remuneration Risk Management

Board meeting attendance in 2023

Board meetings

Financial Review

Audit Committee HR Committee

Annual fee 2023 Total EUR
Chair of the Board 150,000
Vice Chair 100,000
Board member 70,000
Fee per Board meeting 1,000
Fee per Board Committee meeting 1,500
Chair of the Audit Committee per committee meeting 5,000
Chair of the HR Committee per committee meeting 3,000

Board members are also reimbursed for their travel expenses.
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Member attended meetings attended meetings attended
Chair

Christoph Vitzthum 16/16 6/6
Vice Chair

PasilLaine 14/16 4/4
Other Board Members

Gun Nilsson 9/9 6/7

Helene Svahn 16/16 4/4
Niko Mokkila 16/16 9/9

Péaivi Rekonen 16/16 9/9

Pauli Anttila 16/16 4/4
Sami Piittisjarvi 1416

Ulf Liliedahl 16/16 9/9

Janina Kugel 6/7 2/2
PerVegard Nerseth 7/7 2/2

Gun Nilsson Board member since the AGM 2023 on March 29,2023. Janina Kugel and Per Vegard Nerseth Board members until the AGM

2023.

committees, the Audit Committee Chairis entitled to
acompensation of EUR 5,000, the Human Resources
Committee Chairis entitled to a compensation of
EUR 3,000 and the other Board members are entitled
to acompensation of EUR1,500 pereach attended
committee meeting.

In case the remuneration could not be paid in shares due
tolegal orotherregulatory restrictions or due to other
reasonsrelated to the Company ora Board member, the
annual remuneration would be paid fully in cash. Incase the
term of office of amember of the Board of Directors ends
before the closing of the Annual General Meetingin 2024,
he orsheis entitled to the prorated amount of the annual
remuneration calculated based on his orheractualtermin
office.In2023, allKonecranes Board members received 40
percent of theirannual remunerationin Konecranes shares.

Travel expenses for all Board members, including the
employee representative, were compensated against
receipt.

Inaccordance with the agreement on employee
representation between Konecranes and its employees,
no Board remuneration shall be paid to Board members
employed by the Company. Therefore, Sami Piittisjarvi did
not receive remuneration for his Board membership and
meeting attendance.

Konecranes’ Board members are notin an employment
relationship or service contract with Konecranes with
the exception of Sami Piittisjarviwho was selected as a
Board memberamong the employees. The other Board
members do not participate in Konecranes’ incentive
programs or have pension schemes arranged by
Konecranes.

The members of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board are
not entitled to any remuneration from Konecranes on the
basis of theirmembership.
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Total remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in 2023

EUR Cash portion as
part of Total Annual

Nr of shares as part
of Total Annual

Remuneration

Risk Management

Financial Review

Committee and Board Meeting Fees

EUR value of shares
as part of Total Annual

EUR Committee

EUR Board

EUR Committee and

Member Remuneration Remuneration Remuneration Meeting Fees Meeting Fees Board Meetings TOTAL Total EUR
Chair

Christoph Vitzthum 95,5652 2,023 63,614 15,000 15,000 30,000 189,166
Vice Chair

PasiLaine 65,048 1,378 43,285 4,500 14,000 18,500 126,833
Other Board Members

Gun Nilsson 31,526 653 20,974 6,000 7,000 13,000 65,500
Helene Svahn 45,551 964 30,282 4,500 15,000 19,500 95,333
Niko Mokkila 45,551 964 30,282 12,000 15,000 27,000 102,833
Paivi Rekonen 45,551 964 30,282 12,000 15,000 27,000 102,833
Pauli Anttila 45,551 964 30,282 4,500 15,000 19,500 95,333
UIf Liljedahl 45,551 964 30,282 34,000 15,000 49,000 124,833
Janina Kugel 14,024 3N 9,309 12,000 7,000 19,000 42,333
PerVegard Nerseth 14,024 3N 9,309 6,000 8,000 14,000 37,333
Other Board Members 287,328 6,095 191,003 91,000 97,000 188,000 666,331
Total Board Compensation 447,927 9,496 297,903 110,500 126,000 236,500 982,330

Due to the payment cycle, Board remuneration from
January 1,2023 untilthe AGM 2023 was based on the

decisionmade by the AGM 2022. From the AGM 2023 until

December 31,2023 the partial remuneration was based
onthe AGM 2023 decision.

Gun Nilssonhas beenamember of the Board since AGM
2023 (March 29,2023). The Board meeting fees were first
introduced and decided by the AGM 2022. The Board
remuneration presented inthe above tableisbased on
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payments made in 2023. The Committee meeting fees
include fees of 6 HR Committee and 9 Audit Committee
meetings. The Board meeting feesinclude fees of 16
Board meetings.

No remunerationwas paid to Sami Piittisjarvi,inaccordance
with the agreement on employee representation between
Konecranes andits employees.
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3. Remuneration of the President and
CEO and the Deputy CEO

Key remuneration elements for the President and CEO and the Deputy CEO according to the
Remuneration Policy (2020):

The Konecranes Remuneration Policy defines the
principles for the remuneration of the President and CEO
and the Deputy CEO.

Both the President and CEO’s and the Deputy CEO’s
remuneration are decided by the Board of Directors on
the proposal by the HR Committee.

Remuneration of the Konecranes’ President and CEO and
Deputy CEO includes a fixed salary with fringe benefits,
performance-based annual variable pay and along-term,
performance-based share plan.

In addition to the Finnish statutory pension, the President
and CEO and the Deputy CEO have a supplementary
contribution pension benefit provided by the Company.
The pension scheme for the President and CEO sets

the defined contribution at 20 percent of the annual
base salary, including fringe benefits and excluding
performance-based compensation (annual orlong-term
incentives). The contribution level for the Deputy CEO is
setat 1 percent of the annual base salary. The retirement
agein this supplementary pension planis 63 years.

Remuneration paid to the President and CEO and the
Deputy CEOin2023

In2023, the fixed salary including salaries and fringe
benefits paid to the President and CEO amounted to
EUR 814,208 and for the Deputy CEO to EUR 295,910.

The short-termincentive payments for 2022 were paid
in2023 and amounted to EUR 89,114 for the Deputy
CEOTeo Ottola. The short-termincentive plan 2022
forthe Deputy CEO was based on the achievement of

Base salary

To provide fixed remuneration reflecting
the nature of the role and the business, the
performance and contribution as well as
external market trends

Benefits and pension

To provide additional fixed compensation
inline with the company’s practicesin the
prevailing market

Short-termincentives

To provide a performance-based, variable
remuneration tied to the achievement of
annual key business and financial targets

Long-termincentives

To support long-term shareholder return
by linking a significant portion of the
compensation to the long-term financial
performance of Konecranes

Shareholding requirement

To support alignment of corporate aims
and executive interests

The base salary of the Konecranes CEO and Deputy CEO reflects the performance and
individual job responsibilities, experience, skills, and knowledge.

The Annual Salary Review Process also applies to the CEO and Deputy CEO and
is completed by the Board of Directors after the evaluation and proposal by the
HR Committee. Industry practices, market trends and average salary increasesin
Konecranes are considered when reviewing the salary.

The CEO’s and Deputy CEO’s benefits will mostly follow employment country
practices. Other benefits may include a company car and a phone benefit. Also,
a housing benefit might be offered if considered appropriate.

The CEO / Deputy CEO will normally participate in the statutory pension scheme of the

relevant country. In addition, Konecranes provides supplementary contribution-based
pension benefits to the CEO / Deputy CEO (Defined Contribution Plan). The retirement

age will be defined according to applicable country legislation or may be definedin the
CEO service contract.

The annual targets for the CEO and Deputy CEO are decided by the Board of Directors
considering strategic business priorities. Typical performance indicators may be
financial, operational or strategic.

The CEO’s and Deputy CEO’s annualincentive is based on the comparison of financial
performance of the Company against the set targets. The actual payout amount is
approved by the Board of Directors based on the HR Committee’s evaluation and
proposal prior to the payment.

Konecranes provides arolling Performance Share Plan with a three-year performance
period, after which the plan participants may earn rewards according to the realization
of the criteria for the period. For each share plan period a maximum reward is defined.

The actual reward payment is based on the performance of the Company against the
pre-set criteria agreed and approved by the Board of Directors. If a threshold level for
the criteriais not met, rewards will not be awarded. For practical reasons, part of the
earned share reward is paid in cash to pay the necessary taxes for the reward.

The CEO and Deputy CEO have a shareholding requirement tied to the share-based
incentive plans.

Restrictions on selling shares earned through the plans are defined in the incentive plans.
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President & CEO Anders Svensson as he joined the
company on October19,2022.

the following measures: 70 percent weight on Group of the following measures: 65 percent weight on Group
comparable EBITA margin and 30 percent weight on

Group ordersreceived. The actual outcome was 30

comparable EBITA margin and 25 percent weight on Group
sales growth % and 10 percent weight on ESG targets. The

The short-termincentive plan for 2023 for the President
& CEO and Deputy CEO was based on the achievement

short-termincentive payments for2023 due to be paidin
2024 amount to EUR778,480 for the President & CEO and

percent out of the maximum 100 percent. There were
no short-termincentive paymentsin 2023 for the
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EUR 312,654 for the Deputy CEO, and the outcome was
97.3 percent out of the maximum 100 percent.

Rewards based onthe long-term Performance Share Plan
(PSP)2020 were paidin2023.The planhad a three-year-
long performance period with three separate one-year-long
measurement periods. There were separate targets foreach
measurement period, and the criterion for allmeasurement
periods (2020, 2021and 2022) was comparable EPS.

ltems affecting comparability to the EPS included defined
restructuring costs, mergers and acquisitions related
transaction costs and otherunusualitems. The outcome
forthe PSP 2020 was 69 percent. The previous President

& CEO did not participate inthe PSP 2020, but the Deputy
CEO was delivered 11,061 gross shares of which 50 percent
was paidinshares and 50 percentin cash.

The Performance Share Plans 2021and 2022 consist of a
three-year-long performance periodincluding three one-
year-long measurement periods with separate targets
decided by the Board of Directors. The criterion for the
measurement period 2021 for PSP 2021 was comparable
earnings per share (EPS) and the outcome was 100
percent. The criterion for the measurement period 2022
for PSP 2021and PSP 2022 was comparable earnings per
share (EPS) and the outcome for the measurement period
2022 was 11 percent. The criterion for the measurement
period 2023 for PSP 2021and PSP 2022 was comparable
earnings per share (EPS) and the outcome for the
measurement period 2023 was 100 percent.

The three-year-long performance period for PSP 2021
endedin December2023 and the total outcome from

the three one-year-long measurement periods was 70
percent. The PSP 2021 rewards are due to be paidin 2024,
and the Deputy CEO will be delivered 11,261 gross shares,
of which 50 percent will be paid in shares and 50 percent
incash. The President & CEO did not participate in the PSP
2021due tojoining the company in 2022.

The President & CEO Anders Svenssonjoined the
Companyin October2022. Forretention purposes, he
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was allocated 17,170 Restricted Share Unit 2017 (RSU)
gross shares, of which 40 percent vested on December

Remuneration

Risk Management

31,2023 with a share delivery of 6,868 gross sharesin

January 2024. The Board of Directors decided to settle
the fullamountin shares and the taxes were paid by the
Presidentand CEO. The remaining 60 percent of the

Financial Review

allocation, whichis 10,302 gross shares, will be vesting on
December31,2024.

In2023, the total remuneration paid to the President and
CEO amountedto EUR 814,208, and for the Deputy CEO
to EUR 680,557.

Remuneration elements and terms of employment of the President and CEO and Deputy CEO

Base salary

Short-termincentives

Long-termincentives

Proportion of fixed
and variable pay (as
% of total target
remuneration)

Pensions

Shareholding
requirements

Period of notice

Severance pay

Retirement age

Fixed salary with fringe benefits
Monthly salary: EUR 66,666.67

Based on financial performance
Max.100% of annual base salary

Performance Share Plan 2023

RSU Restricted Share Unit 2017 plan

(17,1770 gross shares, 40% vesting on 31.12.2023
and 60% on 31.12.2024)

Employee Share Savings Plan 2023

37.6% base salary

18.8% STI*

43.6% LTI*

*target opportunity, long-termincentive includes
only Performance Share Plan

Finnish Statutory pension

Defined contribution plan at 20% of annual salary

Must hold min. 100% of any net shares given

based onreward plans until the value of

shareholding equals annual salary, thereafter,

50 percent of the net shares until the President

and CEO holds shares at least worth 150 percent

of the annual salary, and membership in the
Konecranes Leadership Team continues

6 months’ notice by the President and CEO and
by the company

Equals to 12 months’ salary and fringe benefits
in case of termination prior to the age of 63, in
addition to the salary for the notice period

63 years

Fixed salary with fringe benefits
Monthly salary: EUR 27,031.10

Based on financial performance
Max.100% of annual base salary

Performance Share Plans 2021,2022 and 2023

Employee Share Savings Plans 2022 and 2023

37.8% base salary

18.9% STI*

43.2% LTI*

* target opportunity, long-termincentive includes
only Performance Share Plan

Finnish Statutory pension

Defined contribution plan at 1% of salary

Must hold min. 50% of any net shares given based

onreward plans until the value of shareholding

equals annual salary, and membership in the
Konecranes Leadership Team continues

6 months’ notice by the Deputy CEO or 9 months’
notice by the company

Equals to 9 months’ salary and fringe benefits, in
addition to the salary for the notice period

65 years 6 months
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Short-termincentives
2023 Targetlevels STloutcome
Total
Performance performance President
KPI Weight Low (12.5%) Target (50%) Max (100%) outcome outcome and CEO Deputy CEO
Sales Growth (%) 25% 7.3% 1.4% 15.0% 100%
Comparable EBITA (%) 65% 9.5% 10.1% 10.6% 100% 97.3% EUR778,480 EUR 312,654
ESG (3 separate KPIs)* 10% 12.5% 50% 100% 73%
2022 Targetlevels STloutcome
Total
Performance performance President
KPI Weight Low (12.5%) Target (50%) Max (100%) outcome outcome and CEO Deputy CEO
Ordersreceived (MEUR) 30% 3,130 3,268 3,369 100%
30.0% - EUR 89,114
Comparable EBITA (%) 70% 9.8% 10.3% 10.8% 0%
Long-termincentives
Allocated shares** Awarded shares**
Total
Performance Performance performance  Payment/vesting President President
Plan period KPI Weight outcome outcome schedule and CEO Deputy CEO and CEO Deputy CEO
sales growth CAGR 40% 0% o
PSP 2019 2019-2021 18% Paidin2022 - 19,000 - 3,471
comparable EPS 60% 30%
2020 comparable EPS 33.3% 96%
PSP 2020 2021 comparable EPS 33.3% 100% 69% Paidin2023 - 16,000 - 11,061
2022 comparable EPS 33.3% 1%
2021 comparable EPS 33.3% 100%
PSP 2021 2022 comparable EPS 33.3% 1% 70%  Tobepaidin2024 - 16,000 - 11,261
2023 comparable EPS 33.3% 100%
2022 comparable EPS 33.3% 1%
PSP 2022 2023 comparable EPS 33.3% 100% n/a  Tobepaidin2025 - 22,000 - n/a
2024 n/a 33.3% n/a
| th CAGR 40%
PSP 2023 2023-2025 2SOV > e n/a  Tobepaidin2026 55,000 22,000 n/a n/a
comparable EPS 60% n/a

*CO, emissions from own operations, safety, and diversity and inclusion.
** Gross shares, including the reward paid in cash.
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Remuneration of the President and CEO and Deputy CEO in 2023 and 2022
2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
Anders Svensson Teo Ottola Anders Svensson Teo Ottola Rob Smith

Deputy CEO

(Interim CEO, from January Former
President & CEO Deputy CEO President & CEO Tuntil October18,2022) President & CEO
Fixed Salary (Salaries and fringe benefits) 814,208 295,910 162,137 640,003 -
Short-termincentives paid (based on previous year’s performance) - 46,430 - 229,089 659,999
One-time bonus - - - 198,000 -
Value of long-term incentive rewards paid - 338,218 - 98,477 -
Variable Pay ] 384,648 - 525,566 659,999
Total Remuneration paid 814,208 680,557 162,137 1165,569 659,999
Proportion of fixed and variable pay (as % of total target remuneration) 100% /0% 43% /57% 100% /0% 55%/45% 0% /100%
Eomated o e thesduepamer : :
Gross shares delivered - 11,061 - 3,672 -
Performance sharerights allocated (# of share rights) 55,000 60,000 - 54,000 -
Restricted share rights allocated (# of share rights) 17,170 - 17,170 - -
Shareholdingin Konecranes Plc (# of shares) 324 51,075 0 45,220 -
Expense of statutory/voluntary pension plans 296,565 60,818 62,487 198,862 -

Proportions of realized remuneration elements of the President and CEO and Deputy CEO in 2023

CEO*

Deputy CEO

0 100 200 300 400 500

600

700 800

900
kEUR

* As Konecranes President and CEO Anders Svensson started in the company on October19,

2022, he did not participate in the STl or LTI programs which were paid out in 2023.
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[ BaseSalary M Short-termincentive

Long-termincentive

ewsaron STANVADIINOM

27



Corporate Governance Statement 2023

Long-term Incentives

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

The aim of Konecranes’ Performance Share Plansis to
align the objectives of shareholders and Konecranes’
key employees toincrease the value of the Company, to
commit key employees to the Company and to reward
employees forachieving set targets. The actual grantis
directly linked to Key Performance Indicators supporting
long-term shareholderreturn and applies multi-year
performance period.

Allthe currently active PSP plans have three-year
performance periods, but the measurement periods vary.
The PSP planslaunchedin 2020, 2021and 2022 have
three separate one-year-long measurement periods
within the three-year performance period. Due to the
uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemicin 2020
and 2021, the warin Ukraine in 2022, as well as the planned
merger announcement made in 2021*, the Board of
Directors decided to apply one-year-long measurement
periods instead of three-year-long periods for the Plans
startedin 2020, 2021and 2022 to enable efficient and
relevant target-setting. Despite the one-year-long
measurement periods of PSP plans 2020, 2021 and

2022, remunerationis paid only after the three-year-long
performance period. The PSP 2023 plan, established on
February1,2023, has one measurement period covering
three years.

The potential rewards from the PSP plans will be paid
partly in shares and partly in cash. The cash proportion
isintended to cover taxes and tax-related costs arising
from the rewards to the plan participants. As arule, no
reward will be paid, if the plan participant’s employment
or service ends before the reward payment.

*The planned merger with Cargotec was cancelledin March 2022.
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Performance period with one

2020 -
measurement period
2021 . .
W Performance period with three
2022 * separate measurement periods
2023 * * Share delivery
2025 2026

Performance Share Plan (year) PSP 2020 PSP 2021 PSP 2022 PSP 2023
Performance period 2020-2022 2021-2023 2022-2024 2023-2025
Number of participants ** 145 153 154 157

Comparable EPS for Comparable EPS Comparable EPS Comparable
Measure years 2020,2021and  foryears2021,2022 foryear2022 Cumulative EPS and

2022 *** and 2023 *** and 2023 *** Sales Growth CAGR %

Performancg sharerights allocated 510,400 544,210 553,410 623,500
(# of sharerights)
Grant date share value, €/Share 22.60 32.20 221 35.74
Total share value, based on the grant date value €11,535,040 €17,523,562 €12,235,895 €22,283,890
Total gross shares delivered 181,331 N/A N/A N/A
Gross shares delivered to CEO & Deputy CEO
Anders Svensson, CEO since October 19,2022 0 N/A N/A N/A
Teo Ottola, Deputy CEO (Interim CEO, from
October7,2019 to January 31,2020 and from 11,061 N/A N/A N/A

January 1to October18,2022)

** At the end of December 2023

*** PSP 2020, PSP 2021and PSP 2022 have three separate 1-year measurement periods with separate
targets for each 1-year period. Measure foryears 2020, 2021,2022 and 2023 was comparable EPS.
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2020-2022 Performance Share Plan (paidin 2023)

The 2020-2022 PSP plan had a three-year-long
performance period with three separate one-year-
long measurement periods. The Board of Directors has
annually resolved the criterion and separate targets
foreach measurement period, and the criterion for
allmeasurement periods (2020, 2021and 2022) was
comparable EPS. Items affecting comparability to the
EPSincluded defined restructuring costs, mergers and
acquisitions related transaction costs and other unusual
items. The target group of the plan for the performance
period 2020-2022 consisted of a maximum of 160 key
employees of the Konecranes Group. The rewards to be
paid on the basis of the performance period correspond
to the value of a maximum total of 600,000 Konecranes
shares, including the proportion to be paidin cash. The
outcome forthe measurement period 2020 was 96
percent, 100 percent for the measurement period 2021
and 11 percent for the measurement period 2022. The
total outcome of the plan was 69 percent.

2021-2023 Performance Share Plan (payable in 2024)
The 2021-2023 PSP plan has a three-year performance
period with three separate one-year-long measurement
periods with separate targets for2021,2022 and
2023.The Board of Directors has annually resolved the
criterion and targets for each measurement period,
and the criterion for allmeasurement periods (2021,
2022 and 2023) was comparable EPS. Items affecting
comparability to the EPS have included defined
restructuring costs, mergers and acquisitions related
transaction costs and otherunusual items. The target
group of the plan for the performance period 2021-
2023 consists of a maximum of 170 key employees of
the Konecranes Group. The rewards to be paid on the
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basis of the performance period correspond to the
value of a maximum total of 634,921 Konecranes shares,
including the proportion to be paidin cash. The outcome
forthe measurement period 2021was 100 percent,

the outcome for the measurement period 2022 was 11
percent and the outcome for the measurement period
2023 was 100 percent. The total outcome of the plan
was 70 percent. The payment of the total reward from the
three-year performance period takes place in 2024, if the
planterm conditions are met.

2022-2024 Performance Share Plan (payable in 2025)
The 2022-2024 plan has a three-year-long performance
period with three separate one-year-long measurement
periods and separate targets for2022,2023 and 2024.
The criterion for the measurement period 2022 and 2023
iscomparable EPS. Items affecting comparability to the
EPSinclude definedrestructuring costs, mergers and
acquisitions related deal costs and other unusual items.
The target group of the plan for the performance period
2022-2024 consists of amaximum of 170 key employees
of the Konecranes Group. The rewards to be paid on

the basis of the performance period correspond to the
value of a maximum total of 600,000 Konecranes shares,
including the proportion to be paidin cash. The outcome
forthe measurement period 2022 was 11 percent and

the outcome for the measurement period 2023 was 100
percent. The payment of the total reward takes placein
2025, if the plan term conditions are met.

2023-2025 Performance Share Plan (payable in 2026)
The 2023-2025 planhas a three-year performance period
from 2023 to0 2025. The plan has two performance criteria:
the cumulative comparable Earnings per Share (EPS)
forthe financial years 2023-2025 with a 60 percent’s

Financial Review

weighting and the compound annual growth rate (CAGR)
for Sales for the financial years 2023-2025 witha 40
percent’s weighting. Items affecting comparability to
the EPSinclude defined restructuring costs, mergers and
acquisitions related deal costs and otherunusualitems.
The target group of the Plan consists of a maximum of 170
Konecranes key employees. The rewards to be paid on the
basis of the performance period 2023-2025 correspond
to the value of amaximum total of 700,000 Konecranes
Plc shares. The payment of the potential rewards takes
placein2026, if plan term conditions are met.

Restricted Share Unit Plan 2017 (RSU)

In addition to the Performance Share Plan, Konecranes
has a Restricted Share Unit Plan (RSU) which can be
used forretention purposes under special conditions.
The vesting periods canlast from12 to 36 months. The
prerequisite forreward payment is that a key employee’s
employment or service continues until the end of the
vesting period. The rewards to be allocated on the basis
of the entire plan willamount to a maximum total of
200,000 Konecranes shares, including the proportion
to be paidin cash. The Board of Directors may decide to
settle the fullawardin shares, taxable by the participant.

Currently, thereis only one participantin the RSU 2017
plan: the Konecranes President and CEO Anders
Svenssonwho joined the Company in October2022. He
was allocated 17,170 gross shares, of which 40 percent
vested on December 31,2023, with a share delivery of
6,868 gross sharesin January 2024. The Board of Directors
decidedto settle the fullamountin shares and the taxes
were paid by the President and CEO. The remaining 60
percent of the allocation, whichis 10,302 gross shares, will
be vesting on December 31,2024.
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Employee Share Savings Plan (ESSP)

In 2012, Konecraneslaunched an Employee Share
Savings Plan for allemployees, including the
Management, exceptin those countries where the plan
could not be offered forlegal oradministrative reasons.
The Board had decided torelaunch anew ESSP plan
annually since the start of the program.

Participants can save monthly a sum of up to 5 percent
of their gross salary, which is used to buy Konecranes
shares from the market on behalf of the participants. If
participants are stillin possession of these shares after
an approximate three-year-long holding period, they
will receive one matching share for every two initially
purchased shares.

This ESSP planis also available for the President and
CEO and Deputy CEO. Both the Presidentand CEO and
the Deputy CEO participate in the ESSP 2023, which is
currently on savings period with potential rewards due
in2027.The Deputy CEO participated alsoin the ESSP
2022 plan, whichis currently on holding period with
potential rewards due in 2026.
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Employee Share Savings Plan

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2019
Savingsperiod M Holdingperiod % Delivery of matching shares
Employee Share Savings Plan (year) ESSP 2019 ESSP 2020 ESSP 2021 ESSP 2022 ESSP 2023
Savings period July1,2019- October1,2020- July1,2021-  August1,2022- July1,2023-
gasp June 30,2020 June 30,2021 June 30,2022 June 30,2023 June 30,2024
Number of participants * 1,708 1,918 2,022 2,206 2,466
. 40,913
Number of shares acquired 142,054 82,330 147,601 132,724 :
(Ongoing)
Deliverec} orexp*ected matching shares 71,027 41165 73.801 66,362 20,457
to be delivered (Ongoing)
Share price by delivery date or by the end of
December 2023 (for non-vested plans), 32.72 40.78 40.78 40.78 40.78
€/share
Value of the delivered or expected €2,324,003 £1,678,709 £€3,009,584 £2,706,242 €834,216
matching shares (Ongoing)

* At the end of December 2023
** Share value by delivery date or by the end of December 2023 (for non-vested plans)
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Risk management

Konecranes’ Board of Directors has defined and adopted
aset of riskmanagement principles based on widely
accepted international good management practices.
The Audit Committee evaluates andreports onthe
adequacy and appropriateness of internal controls and
risk management to the Board.

Risk management principles

Riskis anything that will clearly affect Konecranes’

ability to achieve its business objectives and execute

its strategies. Risk managementis part of Konecranes’
control system andis designed to ensure that any risks
related to the Company’s business operations are
identified and managed adequately and appropriately
to safeguard the continuity of Konecranes’ business
atalltimes. The Group’s risk management principles
provide a basic framework for risk management across
Konecranes, and each Group company or operating
unitisresponsible forits ownrisk management. This
approach guarantees the best possible knowledge of
local conditions, experience, and relevance. The Group’s
risk management principles define risk management as a
continuous and systematic activity aimed at protecting
employees from personalinjury, safeguarding the assets
of all Group companies and the Group as awhole, and
ensuring stable and profitable financial performance. By
minimizing losses due to realized risks and optimizing the
cost of risk management, Konecranes can safeguard its
overalllong-term competitiveness.

Significant risks for Konecranes
Konecranes has assessedits strategic, operational, hazard
and financialrisks. The risk descriptions below, sample risks
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and the risk management methods are intended to be
indicative only and should not be considered exhaustive.

Strategic risks

At Konecranes, strategic risks are considered to have
potentiallong-termimpact on Konecranes’ businesses
and strategic objectives.

Demand for Konecranes’ products and services is
affected by the development of local and global
economies, regional and country-specific political and
geopolitical issues and stability, as well as the business
cycles of Konecranes’ customerindustries. Currency
fluctuations may cause changes in the competitiveness
of Konecranes’ productsin a specific market and affect
its customers’ businesses. Demand for maintenance
servicesis driven by the capacity utilization rates of
customers. Capital expenditure onindustrial cranes
varies with the development of industrial production
and production capacity, while demand for port
solutions follows trendsin global container traffic and
portinvestment cycles. Lift truck demand follows other
industrial and port product segments. In addition to risks
related to sales volumes, adverse changesin demand can
alsoresultin overcapacity and affect market prices, as
canthe actions of competitors.

Konecranes’ aimis toincrease the proportion of service
revenueinits total revenue stream and thereby reduceits
exposure to economic cycles. Ingeneral, the demand for
servicesislessvolatile thanthat forequipment. As part of
its strategy, Konecranes strives to maintain areasonably
wide geographical market presence to balance out
economic trendsin different market areas, while also
paying attention to relevant distribution costs. Konecranes
also aims to limit the risks resulting from changesin
demandindifferent customer segments, as well as the
demand for certain products, by maintaining a diverse
customer base and offering a wide range of products and
services. Konecranes also strives to differentiate itself from
its competitors and reduce the competitive pressures that
it experiences, through active product development.
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Operational risks

Konecranes’ operationalrisks are closely related to
day-to-day activities, decisions, and management of
business. Theserisks are continuously managed at all
organizational levels.

Konecranes’ ability to operate is dependent on the
availability, expertise, and competence of professional
personnel. Konecranes’ personnel objectives are
supported by active talent processes, talent acquisition
and engagement as well as systematic employee surveys
and third-party social responsibility assessments.
Konecranesinvests continuously inimproving the
essential competenciesin the industry-leading technical
skills of its service technicians, digital talent, leadership
development, and in customer-centric and effective
sales and sales management skills, among other things.
Failure to obtain, develop andretain the required
capabilities could have an adverse effect on Konecranes’
growth and profitability.

As Konecranes has and maintains a strong brand and
reputation, issues affecting Konecranes’ reputation or
brand could have a negative impact on Konecranes’
business and financial performance. Suchrisks could
materialize, for example, due to issues with safety, cyber
security, quality, or major delivery challenges.

Konecranes’ supply relies onits supply chain of own
manufacturing operations, while most components
used are sourced from external suppliers. Konecranes
subcontracts and outsources a substantial share of
activities and processes while working closely with
partners and service providersin various activities, such
as logistics and IT. This model exposes Konecranes to
availability, continuity and cost risks of components and
subcontractedlabor, and services. Afailure to secure
materials, components, resources or servicesin a timely
manner, or quality issues within these, can cause business
disruptions, costincreases or quality risks with supply.
Labor availability constraints canimpact Konecranes’
capacity to operate.

Financial Review

Hazard risks
Hazardrisks are, by nature, occurrences with negative
consequences.

Employee and subcontractor safety is the top priority in
everything Konecranes does. Konecranes’ goalis that
everyone gets home safe every day. In Konecranes’ way
of working, thereisnojob soimportant and no service
so urgent that one cannot take the time to performwork
safely and correctly. Safety extends to Konecranes’
offering of safety-enhancing products, solutions, and
services to support the safety of customers. Safety
risks may expose individuals and businesses to various
negative consequences.

Konecranes’ business depends on the reliable and
continuous operation of its production facilities, supply
chain, various internal and outsourced services, and
functioning logistics. Konecranes, its customers and
suppliersrely materially oninformation technology and
availability, integrity, and quality information. Potential
disruption with any of these may cause business
interruption to Konecranes’ operations, with financial
consequences and damage to Konecranes’ brand.

Cybersecurity incidents, severe weather events, natural
catastrophes or terrorism are examples of hazard risks
that are difficult to predict, challenging to mitigate or
prevent and may cause interruption to Konecranes, its
supply chain or service providers.

Financial risks
Seenote 33inthe Financial Statements for a detailed
overview of financial risk management.

Insurance

The Group continuously reviews its insurance policies as
part of its overall risk management. Insurance policies are
usedto cover allrisks that are economically feasible or
otherwise reasonable toinsure.
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Percentages have beenrounded and may not total to 100%.
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Orderbook, MEUR Year-end net working capital, MEUR
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Report of the Board of Directors

Figuresinbrackets, unless otherwise stated, referto the
same period a year earlier.

Konecranes has made changesinreportingits orders
received and net working capital. The previous year’s
figures presentedin thisreport have beenrestated and
are fully comparable with the current year figures.

Market review

In2023, Konecranes’ operating environment was
impacted by economic uncertainty, highinflation, and
interest rates. Supply chain conditions and delivery times
improved compared to the previous year.

The world’s manufacturing sector’s operating conditions,
according to the global manufacturing Purchasing
Managers’ Index (PMI), continued to weakenin the

fourth quarter. December’s PMIreading (49.0) was
approximately unchanged from the end of the previous
quarter, and it was the sixteenth consecutive monthin
contraction territory below the neutral 50 mark.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Inthe eurozone, the downturn in the manufacturing
sector continued in the fourth quarteraccording to

the manufacturing PMI, which had beenin contraction
territory in December for a year and a half. However,
December’s PMI (44.4) was the 7-month high. Inthe

US, the manufacturing sector’s operating conditions
also continued to deteriorate in the fourth quarter. The
manufacturing PMlwas clearly in contractionin December
(47.9) while it was marginally below the neutral 50 mark at
the end of the previous quarter. In the emerging markets,
December’s manufacturing PMI signaled improving
operating conditions in India and China, but in Brazil, the
PMlwas in deterioration.

The manufacturingindustry capacity utilizationrate in

the European Union decreased in the fourth quarter. The
capacity utilizationrate was at alower level on ayear-on-
year basis, and it was below the pre-COVID-19 pandemic
levels. The manufacturing industry capacity utilizationrate
inthe US stayed approximately unchanged in December.
The capacity utilization rate was lower compared to the
end of the previous quarter, and it was at approximately
the same level on ayear-on-year basis.

Financial Review

Global container throughput, according to the RWI/

ISL Container Throughput Index, was at a relatively
stronglevelinthe fourth quarter comparedto the
historical readings although fluctuation continued. At
the end of December, global container throughput was
approximately one percent higher than the year before.

Regarding raw material prices, at the end of the fourth
quarter steel prices were below and copper prices were
above the previous year’s levels. The average EUR/USD
exchange rate was approximately three percent higher
compared to the year-ago period.
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Ordersreceived and net sales

Change % at

comparable

1-12/2023 1-12/2022 Change % currencyrates

Ordersreceived, MEUR' 4,161.4 4,227.9 -1.6 0.3
Net sales, MEUR 3,966.3 3,364.8 17.9 20.5

"Previous year restated due to the change in reporting forincluding service agreement base sales in orders received.

Ordersreceived

Infullyear 2023, orders received totaled EUR 4,161.4
million (4,227.9), representing a decrease of 1.6 percent.
Onacomparable currency basis, orderintake increased
0.3 percent. Ordersreceived decreased in EMEA but
increasedinthe Americas and APAC.

In Service, orderintakeincreased 3.3 percentona
reported basis and 5.8 percent onacomparable currency
basis. InIndustrial Equipment, orders receivediincreased
3.7 percentonareported basisand 5.7 percentona
comparable currency basis. External orders receivedin
Industrial EQuipmentincreased 5.6 percent on areported
basis and 8.0 percent ona comparable currency basis.

In Port Solutions, orderintake decreased 11.3 percent
onareported basis and 10.1 percent on acomparable
currency basis.

Orderbook

At the end of December, the value of the order book
totaled EUR 3,040.8 million (2,901.7), whichwas 4.8
percent highercompared to the previousyear. Ona
comparable currency basis, the order bookincreased
6.0 percent. The orderbook decreased 0.4 percent
in Service, and increased 4.1 percentin Industrial
Equipment and 6.6 percentin Port Solutions.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Sales

Infullyear2023, Group sales totaled EUR 3,966.3 million
(3,364.8), representing anincrease of 17.9 percent. On
acomparable currency basis, salesincreased 20.5
percent. Salesincreased 10.9 percentin Service, 12.4
percentinIndustrial Equipment and 35.0 percentin Port
Solutions. Industrial EQuipment’s external sales increased
9.8 percent.

Atthe end of December, the regional breakdown of sales,
calculated onarolling 12-month basis, was as follows:
EMEA 47 (51), Americas 38 (36) and APAC 14 (13) percent.

Financial result

Infullyear2023, the Group comparable EBITAincreased
to EUR450.7 million (318.4). The comparable EBITA
marginincreasedto11.4 percent (9.5). The comparable
EBITAmarginincreasedin Service to19.9 percent (18.6),
inIndustrial EQuipment to 6.5 percent (2.7) and in Port
Solutionsto 7.5 percent (6.3). The increase in the Group
comparable EBITA margin was mainly attributable to higher
sales volumes and pricing.

Infullyear2023, the consolidated comparable operating
profitincreased to EUR 419.7 million (286.6). The comparable
operating marginincreasedto 10.6 percent (8.5).

Infullyear2023, the consolidated operating profit
totaled EUR 402.5 million (223.2). The operating profit
includes items affecting comparability of EUR17.2 million
(63.5), which mainly comprised of restructuring costs,
and Konecranes’ final crane delivery to Russiain the
second quarterwith aloweringimpact to items affecting
comparability. The orderwas written off in 2022, and it was
the only write-off delivered to Russia as breaching the
contract would have exposed the company to possible
significant financial risk. In the comparison period, the
items affecting comparability consisted mainly of costs
related to theimpacts of the warin Ukraine. Year-on-year,
the operating marginincreasedin Service to 18.6 percent
(17.3), in Industrial Equipment to 4.9 percent (-0.9) and in
Port Solutions to 6.9 percent (3.8).

Infullyear2023, depreciation andimpairments totaled EUR
114.9 million (124.4). The impact arising from the purchase
price allocation amortization and goodwillimpairment
represented EUR 30.4 million (31.8) of the depreciationand
impairments.

Infullyear2023, the share of theresultin associated
companies and joint ventures was EUR 0.8 million (0.4).

Infullyear2023, financialincome and expenses totaled
EUR-35.7 million(-32.9). Netinterest expenses accounted
forEUR 29.6 million (26.1) of the sum, and the remainderwas
mainly attributable to other financing expenses.
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Infullyear2023, profit before taxes was EUR 367.6 million
(190.7).

Infullyear2023,income taxwas EUR 92.0 million (52.2). The
Group’s effective taxrate was 25.0 percent (27.4).

Infullyear2023, net profit was EUR 275.6 million (138.5).

Infullyear 2023, the basic earnings per share were EUR 3.48
(1.77)and the diluted earnings per share were EUR 3.46 (1.77).

Onarolling12-month basis, the return on capital employed
was 16.4 percent (9.0) and the return on equity 18.2 percent
(9.9). The comparable return on capital employed was 17.7
percent (13.4).

Balance sheet

At the end of December, the consolidated balance sheet
amountedto EUR4,552.4 million (4,340.6). The total
equity at the end of the reporting period was EUR1,594.8
million (1,433.0). The total equity attributable to the equity
holders of the parent company was EUR 1,594.8 million
(1,432.9) orEUR 20.14 per share (18.10).

Net working capital totaled EUR 353.6 million (490.2). The
decrease in net working capital resulted mainly froman
increase in advance paymentsreceived. Sequentially, net
working capital decreased by EUR 52.1million.

Cash flow and financing

Infullyear2023, net cash from operating activities was
EUR557.3million (66.7). Theincrease innet cash from
operating activities was mainly due to the change in net
working capital and higher operating income during the
period. Cash flow before financing activities was EUR 481.9

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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million (23.1), whichincluded cash inflows of EUR 6.5 million
(2.6)related to sale of property, plant and equipment, EUR
9.0 million(0.7) related to divestment of Businesses, and
EUR 0.5 million(0.0) related to disposal of associated
companies. Itincluded cash outflows of EUR 52.4 million
(44.7)related to capital expenditures, and EUR 39.0 million
(1.6) related to acquisition of Group companies.

At the end of December, interest-bearing net debt was
EUR 365.8 million (688.3). Net debt decreased mainly due
to higher cash flow from operating activities. The equity
to assetratiowas 41.1 percent(37.9) and gearing 22.9
percent (48.0).

At the end of December, cash and cash equivalents
amountedto EUR 586.6 million (413.9). None of the Group’s
committed EUR 350 million back-up financing facility was
inuse at the end of the period.

In April 2023, Konecranes paid dividends, amounting to
EUR 99.0 million orEUR1.25 per share, toits shareholders.

Capital expenditure

Infullyear2023, capital expenditure excluding
acquisitions and joint arrangements amounted to EUR
54.4 million (37.0). The amount consisted mainly of
investments in machinery and equipment, buildings,
office equipment and information technology.

Acquisitions and divestments

Infullyear 2023, the cashimpact of capital expenditure
foracquisitions and joint arrangements was EUR

-39.0 million (-1.6). The cashimpact of divestment of
Businesses and disposal of associated companies was
EUR 9.5 million (0.1).

Financial Review

In April 2023, Konecranes acquired the industrial and
nuclear crane and crane service operations of privately
held Whiting Corporationinthe USA. In June 2023,
Konecranes acquired a smallindustrial crane service
operation of Munck Cranes AS in Norway.

In April2023, Konecranes divested MHE-Demag’s
Industrial Products business to Jebsen & Jessen.

Personnel

Infullyear2023, the Group had an average of 16,503
employees (16,563). On December 31,2023, the number
of personnelwas 16,586 (16,522). In full year 2023, the
Group’s personnelincreased by 64 people net.

At the end of December, the number of personnel
by operating segment was as follows: Service 8,010
employees (7,802), Industrial Equipment 5,253
employees (5,529), Port Solutions 3,222 employees
(3,102) and Group staff 101 employees (89).

The Group had 9,785 (9,565) employees working in EMEA,

3,335 (3,131)in the Americas and 3,466 (3,826) in APAC.
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Service
Change % at
comparable
1-12/2023 1-12/2022 Change % currency rates
Ordersreceived, MEUR' 1,490.7 1,442.5 3.3 5.8
Orderbook, MEUR 443.5 4455 -0.4 1.8
Agreement base value, MEUR 318.3 306.9 3.7 53
Net sales, MEUR 1,490.4 1,343.3 10.9 13.6
Comparable EBITA, MEUR? 296.2 249.4 18.7
Comparable EBITA, % 2 19.9% 18.6%
Purchase price allocation amortization, MEUR -17.4 -14.3 22.2
ltems affecting comparability, MEUR -1.9 -2.9
Operating profit (EBIT), MEUR 276.9 232.3 19.2
Operating profit (EBIT), % 18.6% 17.3%
Personnel at the end of period 8,010 7,802 2.7

"Previous year restated due to the change in reporting forincluding agreement base sales in orders received.
2Excluding items affecting comparability and purchase price allocation amortization.

Infullyear2023, orders received totaled EUR1,490.7
million (1,442.5), corresponding to anincrease of 3.3

percent. Onacomparable currency basis, orders

receivedincreased 5.8 percent.

The orderbook decreased 0.4 percentto EUR 443.5
million (445.5). On a comparable currency basis, the order

bookincreased1.8 percent.

The annualvalue of the agreement base increased 3.7
percentyear-on-year to EUR 318.3 million (306.9). On
acomparable currency basis, the annual value of the

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

agreement baseincreased 5.3 percent. Sequentially,
the annual value of the agreement base decreased 0.8

percenton areported basis and increased 0.6 percenton

acomparable currency basis.

Salesincreased10.9 percent to EUR1,490.4 million
(1,343.3). Ona comparable currency basis, sales
increased13.6 percent. Salesincreasedinfield service

and parts.

The comparable EBITAwas EUR 296.2 million (249.4) and
the comparable EBITAmargin was 19.9 percent (18.6).

Financial Review

Theincreasein the comparable EBITA margin was mainly
attributable to higher sales volumes and pricing. The
operating profit was EUR 276.9 million (232.3) and the
operatingmargin18.6 percent (17.3).
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Change % at

comparable
1-12/2023 1-12/2022 Change % currency rates
Ordersreceived, MEUR! 1,442.9 1,391.6 3.7 5.7
of which external, MEUR 1,261.8 1,194.8 5.6 8.0
Order book, MEUR 892.3 857.2 4.1 6.7
Net sales, MEUR 1,355.3 1,205.6 12.4 14.8
of which external, MEUR 1,173.8 1,068.8 9.8 12.3
Comparable EBITA, MEUR? 87.4 32.5 168.9
Comparable EBITA, % ? 6.5% 2.7%
Purchase price allocation amortization, MEUR -7.0 -11.0 -35.8
ltems affecting comparability, MEUR -13.5 -32.5
Operating profit (EBIT), MEUR 66.9 -10.9 71.2
Operating profit (EBIT), % 4.9% -0.9%
Personnel at the end of period 5,253 5,529 -5.0

"Previous yearrestated due to the change inreporting forincluding agreement base salesin ordersreceived.
2Excluding items affecting comparability and purchase price allocation amortization.

Infullyear2023, ordersreceived totaled EUR1,442.9 million
(1,391.6), corresponding to anincrease of 3.7 percent. Ona
comparable currency basis, orders receivedincreased 5.7
percent. External ordersreceivedincreased 5.6 percent
onareported basis and 8.0 percent onacomparable
currency basis. Orderintake increased in standard cranes,
process cranes and components.

The orderbookincreased 4.1 percent to EUR 892.3 million
(857.2). Onacomparable currency basis, the order book
increased 6.7 percent.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Salesincreased12.4 percent to EUR1,355.3 million
(1,205.6). On acomparable currency basis, sales
increased14.8 percent. External salesincreased 9.8
percentonareported basisand12.3percentona
comparable currency basis. Salesincreased in standard
cranes, process cranes and components.

The comparable EBITAwas EUR 87.4 million (32.5) and the
comparable EBITAmargin 6.5 percent(2.7). Theincrease
inthe comparable EBITA margin was mainly attributable

Financial Review

to highersales volumes and pricing. The operating profit
was EUR 66.9 million (-10.9) and the operating margin 4.9
percent(-0.9).
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Change % at

Financial Review
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comparable
1-12/2023 1-12/2022 Change % currency rates
Ordersreceived, MEUR' 1,468.5 1,655.3 -1.3 -10.1
Orderbook, MEUR 1,705.0 1,699.0 6.6 6.9
Net sales, MEUR 1,370.8 1,015.0 35.0 37.6
of which service, MEUR 233.3 226.1 3.2 5.8
Comparable EBITA, MEUR? 102.7 63.5 61.7
Comparable EBITA, % 2 7.5% 6.3%
Purchase price allocation amortization, MEUR -6.6 -6.6 0.0
ltems affecting comparability, MEUR -1.1 -18.6
Operating profit (EBIT), MEUR 95.1 38.4 147.6
Operating profit (EBIT), % 6.9% 3.8%
Personnel at the end of period 3,222 3,102 3.9

"Previous year restated due to the change in reporting forincluding agreement base sales in orders received.
2Excluding items affecting comparability and purchase price allocation amortization.

Infullyear 2023, orders received totaled EUR1,468.5
million (1,655.3), corresponding to a decrease of 11.3
percent. Onacomparable currency basis, orders
received decreased10.1percent.

The orderbookincreased 6.6 percentto EUR1,705.0
million (1,599.0). On a comparable currency basis, the
orderbookincreased 6.9 percent.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Salesincreased 35.0 percent to EUR1,370.8 million
(1,015.0). On acomparable currency basis, sales
increased 37.6 percent.

The comparable EBITAwas EUR102.7 million (63.5) and
the comparable EBITA margin 7.5 percent (6.3). The
increase in the comparable EBITA margin was mainly
attributable to higher sales volumes. Gross margin

decreased onayear-on-year basis. Operating profit
was EUR 95.1million (38.4) and the operating margin 6.9
percent (3.8).

41



Corporate Governance Statement 2023

Group overheads

Infullyear 2023, the comparable unallocated Group
overhead costs and eliminations were EUR 35.7 million
(27.0), representing 0.9 percent of sales (0.8).

The unallocated Group overhead costs and eliminations
were EUR 36.4 million (36.6), representing 0.9 percent of
sales (1.1). These included items affecting comparability of
EURO.7 million (9.5).

Administration

Decisions of the Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting was held on March 29,2023.
The meeting approved the Company's annual accounts
for the fiscal year 2022, discharged the members of

the Board of Directors and the CEO from liability, and
approved all proposals made by the Board of Directors
andits committees to the AGM.

The AGM approved the Board's proposal that a dividend
of EUR1.25 per share be distributed. The dividend was
paid April12,2023.

The AGM approved the Remuneration Report.
The resolution by the AGM on the approval of the
Remunerationreportis advisory.

The AGM approved the Shareholders' Nomination Board's
proposal that the annual remuneration for the Board of
Directors and the meeting fees for the committees and
meetings of the Board of Directors remain unchanged,
andthat the annual remuneration for the Chairman of the
Board of Directors and the meeting fee of the Chairman
of the Audit Committee areincreased.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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The AGM approved the Shareholders' Nomination
Board's proposal that the number of members of the
Board of Directors shall be nine. The current Board
members Pauli Anttila, Pasi Laine, UIf Liljedahl, Niko
Mokkila, Sami Piittisjarvi, Paivi Rekonen, Helene Svahn
and Christoph Vitzthum were re-elected, and Gun
Nilssonwas elected as anew member. Christoph
Vitzthum was elected as Chairman of the Board of
Directors and PasiLaine was elected as Vice Chairman of
the Board of Directors.

The AGM approved the Board's proposal that Ernst &
Young Oy be re-elected as the Company's auditor.
The remuneration will be paid according to aninvoice
approved by the Company.

The AGM authorized the Board to decide on the
repurchase and/oronthe acceptance as pledge of the
Company's own shares.

The AGM authorized the Board to decide on the issuance
of shares aswell as on theissuance of special rights
entitling to shares.

The AGM authorized the Board to decide on the transfer of
the Company's own shares.

The AGM authorized the Board to decide on a directed
issuance of shares without payment foran Employee
Share Savings Plan.

The AGM authorized the Board to decide on donations.

The resolutions of the AGM have been published in the
stock exchangerelease dated March 29,2023.

Financial Review

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors elected in the Annual General
Meeting 2023 consists of

e Christoph Vitzthum, Chair of the Board
e Pasilaine, Vice Chair of the Board

o Pauli Anttila, Member of the Board

o Ulf Liliedahl, Member of the Board

o Niko Mokkila, Member of the Board

e Gun Nilsson, Member of the Board

o PaiviRekonen, Member of the Board
e Helene Svahn, Member of the Board

o Sami Piittisjarvi,Member of the Board

The term of office ends at the closing of the Annual
General Meetingin 2024.

OnMarch 29,2023, Konecranes announced that the
Board had heldits first meeting. The Board decided
to continue with an Audit Committee and a Human
Resources Committee.

Ulf Lilledahlwas elected Chair of the Audit Committee,
and Niko Mokkila, Gun Nilsson and Péivi Rekonen as
Committee members. Christoph Vitzthum was elected
Chair of the Human Resources Committee, and Pauli
Anttila, PasiLaine and Helene Svahn as Committee
members.

AllBoard members with the exception of Sami Piittisjarvi
are deemed to be independent of the Company and
allBoard members with the exception of Pauli Anttila

are deemed to be independent of the Company's
significant shareholders. Niko Mokkila has been deemed
to be independent of the company andits significant
shareholders since May 2023.
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Sami Piittisjarviis deemed not to be independent

of the Company due to his current position as an
employee of Konecranes. Pauli Anttilais deemed not
to beindependent of a significant shareholder of the
Company based on his current position as Investment
Director and Member of the Management Team at
Solidium Oy.

Konecranes Leadership Team
Infullyear2023, Konecranes Leadership Team consisted of

e Anders Svensson, Presidentand CEO

e Teo Ottola, CFO, Deputy CEO

e Fabio Fiorino, Executive Vice President, Industrial
Service and Equipment

o MikaMahlberg, Executive Vice President, Port Solutions
(until September 6,2023)

¢ Juha Pankakoski, Executive Vice President, Port
Solutions (since September7,2023) and for the time
being, Executive Vice President, Technologies

o AnneliKarkovirta, Executive Vice President, People and
Culture

e SirpaPoitsalo, Executive Vice President, General
Counsel

o TopiTiitola, SeniorVice President, Integration and
Project Management Office (until July 14,2023)

OnJuly 14,2023, Konecranes announced that Topi Tiitola,
SVP, Integration and Project Management and a member
of the Konecranes Leadership Team, had decided to leave
the company. He stepped down from the Konecranes
Leadership Team on the same day.

On September7,2023, Konecranes announced that Juha
Pankakoskihad been appointed Executive Vice President,
Port Solutions and member of the Konecranes Leadership
Team. He started in this position on September7,2023,
and succeeded Mika Mahlberg, Executive Vice President,
Port Solutions, who stepped down from the Konecranes
Leadership Team withimmediate effect. Juha Pankakoski
continues to lead the Technologies function until the

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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successor for the Executive Vice President, Technologies
isannounced.

On December15,2023, Konecranes announced

that Minna Aila had been appointed Executive Vice
President, Corporate Affairs & Brand, and member of the
Konecranes Leadership Team. She will start at Konecranes
onJuly1,2024.

Shareholders’ Nomination Board
On September7,2023, Konecranes announced the
composition of the Shareholders' Nomination Board.

The following members were appointed to the
Shareholders' Nomination Board:

e ReimaRytsola, CEO of Solidium, appointed by
Solidium Oy,

e Stig Gustavson, appointed by Stig Gustavson and family,

e Markus Aho, Chief Investment Officer of Varma,
appointed by Varma Mutual Pension Insurance
Company, and

o Mikko Mursula, Deputy CEQO, Investments of liImarinen,
appointed by llmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance
Company.

Christoph Vitzthum, the Chairman of the Board, serves as
an expertinthe Nomination Board without beingamember.

Shares and trading

Share capital and shares

OnDecember 31,2023, the company’s registered share
capital totaled EUR 30.1 million. On December 31,2023,
the number of shares including treasury shares totaled
79,221,906.

Treasury shares
OnDecember 31,2023, Konecranes Plc was in possession
of 19,656 treasury shares, which corresponds to 0.0

Financial Review

percent of the total number of shares, and which had on
that date a market value of EUR 0.8 million.

OnFebruary 28,2023, 35,651 treasury shares were
conveyed without consideration as the delivery of
matching shares to the employees participatingin the
savings period 2019-2020 of the Konecranes Employee
Share Savings Plan.

Market capitalization and trading volume

The closing price for the Konecranes shares on the
Nasdaq Helsinki on December 29,2023, was EUR 40.78.
The volume-weighted average share pricein full year
2023 was EUR 33.68, the highest price being EUR 41.38
inDecember and the lowest EUR 28.29 in October. In full
year2023, the trading volume on the Nasdaq Helsinki
totaled 49.9 million, corresponding to a turnover of
approximately EUR1,679.6 million. The average daily
trading volume was 198,667 shares representing an
average daily turnover of EUR 6.7 million.

OnDecember 31,2023, the total market capitalization of
Konecranes Plc was EUR 3,230.7 million including treasury
shares. The market capitalization was EUR 3,229.9 million
excluding treasury shares.

Performance Share Plans 2021, 2022 and 2023
OnFebruary1,2023, Konecranes announced that the
Board of Directors had decided to establish a new
Performance Share Plan 2023 for Konecranes key
employees. The Plan has a three-year performance
period from 2023 to0 2025. The Plan has two performance
criteria: the cumulative comparable Earnings per

Share (EPS) for the financial years 2023-2025 with a 60
percent's weighting and the compound annual growth
rate (CAGR) for Sales for the financial years 2023-2025
with a 40 percent's weighting. The targets for the three-
year performance period have also been decided by

the Board of Directors. The target group of the Plan
consists of amaximum of 170 Konecranes key employees.
Additionalinformation, including essential terms and
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conditions of the Plan, is available in the stock exchange
release published on February 1,2023.

OnFebruary1,2023, Konecranes announced that the
Board of Directors had decided the criterion for the
measurement period 2023 of the Performance Share
Plans 2021and 2022. The criterionis comparable
earnings per Share (EPS). The targets for the
measurement period 2023 were also decided by the
Board of Directors. Additional information is available in
the stock exchange release published on February
1,2023.

Additionalinformation, including essential terms and
conditions of the Plan 2021, is available in the stock
exchangerelease published on February 3,2021, and for
the Plan2022 in the stock exchange release published on
March 30,2022.

Employee Share Savings Plan

OnFebruary1,2023, Konecranes announced that the
Board of Directors had decided to launch a new Plan
Periodrelating to the Employee Share Savings Plan.

The new Plan Period began on July 1,2023, and will end
onJune 30, 2024. Additional information, including the
other terms and conditions of the Plan Period, is available
inthe stock exchange release published on February
1,2023.

Notifications of major shareholdings

Infullyear2023, Konecranes received the following
notifications of major shareholdings.

Remuneration Risk Management

Research and development

In2023, Konecranes’ research and product development
expenditure totaled EUR 51.3(47.7) million, representing
1.3(1.4) percent of sales. R&D expenditure includes
product development projects aimed atimproving the
quality and cost efficiency of both products and services.

Scaling technology innovationis one of the five enablers
forKonecranes’ strategy. This builds on Konecranes’
track record of industry-shaping breakthroughs for over
acentury. With its technological leadership, Konecranes
is able to offer cutting-edge solutions toits customers as
well as create a positive impact within critical fields such
as sustainability.

In2023, Konecranes announced the launch of its Zero4
research andinnovation program. The programisin part
funded by Business Finland, a governmental financier
forresearch and technology development. The program
aims toincrease industrial productivity in Finland and
create hundreds of new jobs in the next five years,
alongside new business opportunities for Konecranes
and ecosystem partners.

The potential here is significant. Material flows, meaning
any value-addingindustrial activity involvedin the
transportation of raw materials and products, account
forapproximately 5.5% of the world’s greenhouse gas
emissions and 40% of injuries in the manufacturing
industry. The program will focus on reducing four major
deficiencies from material flows: information barriers,
greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and
accidents.

% of shares and
voting rights

% of sharesand through financial

Date Shareholder Threshold

voting rights

instruments Total, % Total, shares

May 16,2023 HC Holding Oy Ab Below10%
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Zero4intends to create an ecosystem consisting of
more than 70 partners by the end of 2027. Today, many
manufacturing processes and equipment contain
automation technology. What is often lacking, however,
is the connection, coordination and communication
between these independently operating automation
islands. Zero4 has the ambition to solve this by building a
holistic platform that optimizes material flows.

As part of the program, Konecranes plans to develop
selected production plantsinto material flow flagship
sites and model factories to boostresearch and
innovation efforts.

Inadditionto Zero4, Konecranes conducts regular
research andinnovation activities, both in-house and

with partners. Inits activities, Konecranes proactively
develops state-of-the-art solutions to stay ahead of the
competition and actively harnesses the latest technology
such as artificial intelligence (Al), which is increasingly
beingimplementedin the company’s operations.

Insales, artificialintelligence has been deployed to
process requests for quotes from customers. Al is used
to solve simplerequests e.g., within spare parts, and to
help sales teams in prioritizing the most urgent cases.
Utilization such as this increases productivity in the sales
teams and supports faster lead times towards customers.

Also within sales, Konecranes continued a pilot from 2022
utilizing robotics, where pricing data on components sold
inthe industry is automatically analyzed. The results allow
fora dynamic pricing model, ensuring competitiveness
within Konecranes’ components offering.

Alis also beingimplemented to help Konecranes’
customers keep theirequipment reliable and compliant.
Inspring 2023, Konecranes launched a predictive
maintenance engine that foresees the maintenance
needs of equipment based on the asset information,
condition and historical maintenance data. Forecasts
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of potential faults and replacement needs are routed to
Konecranes sales, who contact customers torecommend
corresponding actions. This supports Konecranes’ efforts
to move from preventive maintenance to predictive
maintenance, utilizing data-driven sensors, apps and
workflows.

Konecranes’ organizational setup also supports
implementing these new technologies throughout

the company. Since 2019 Konecranes has operated a
dedicated Data Science Labin Lyon, France. The lab
supports businesses by developing solutions with
tangible benefits for both customers and Konecranes’
operationsin general. The Data Science Lab hasbecome
anintegrated part of Konecranes’ development efforts,
especially within data-intensive and rapidly developing
fields such as artificial intelligence.

Konecranes’ offering builds on Core of Lifting, whichis a
purpose-built, integrated package of hardware, controls
and connectivity specifically made for cranes and

lifting motion. Designing and creating the core in-house
provides cranes with a maximized lifetime, optimal
performance, and increased safety, productivity and
sustainability.

In2023, Konecranes’ Core of Lifting offering was
expanded as the componentry was deployed innew
equipment lines. Our straddle carriers and automated
guided vehicles now also utilize the proprietary
componentry, bringing the benefits of Core of Lifting to
evenmore customers.

Cybersecurity is an ever-increasing priority for our
customers and stakeholders, and Konecranes’ focus on
ityieldedresultsalsoin 2023. The ISO 27001 certificate,
a standard forinformation security management, was
expandedto encompass all of Konecranes' IT services.
This follows the certification of Konecranes’ digital
servicesin2021and s crucial for business as customer
demand for cybersecure digital solutions grows.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Statement of non-financial information

The scope of the reportingincludes non-financial topics
thatrelate to Konecranes’ keyimpacts and reflect
stakeholderexpectations. Konecranesidentifies these
topics through a materiality assessment. The most essential
non-financial topics for Konecranes are responsible
business conduct; anti-corruption; safety of employees;
product-related safety and security; respect of human
rights; diversity, equity and inclusion; greenhouse gas
emissions; circulareconomy, and fair sourcing.

Konecranesreports the disclosed informationin
accordance with the Accounting Act amendment
1376/2016, whichis based on the EU Directive 2014/95/EU
on the disclosure of non-financial and diversity information.
During 2023, Konecranes has also put effortsin preparing
forthe Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD)
(EVU)2022/2464 cominginto force in 2024 in many ways.
These effortsinclude, forexample, planning the CSRD
implementation, educatinginternal stakeholders about
the topic, working on the double materiality assessment,
analyzing readiness to comply with the disclosure
requirements defined in the European Sustainability
Reporting Standards (ESRS) as well as planning actions

to fulfill the requirements. More information about the
topicsis available inthe Sustainability Report 2023 that is
prepared according to the international framework of the
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board’s SASB standards as well as following the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Konecranesis a signhatory

of the United Nations Global Compact striving forthe
same goals as the UNregarding human andlaborrights,
protecting the environment and fighting corruption. More
information onKonecranes’ external commitmentsis
available in the Sustainability Report 2023.

Business model and value creation
Konecranes’ ambitionis to become the world leaderin
material handling solutions creating value for everyone.

Financial Review

Konecranes is shaping the next generation of material
handling for a smarter, saferand betterworld. The
Company seeks to maximize the positive contributions
toits different stakeholders and the surrounding society
withits knowledge, products, services and solutions.
Konecranes creates value forits stakeholders on
multiple fronts, for example, through circulareconomy,
digitalization and its deeply rooted safety culture.

Konecranes delivers optimal productivity while improving
the safety and environmental sustainability of its
customers’ operations by manufacturingintelligent and
connected lifting devices, adopting new technologies
and optimizing material handling flows. Safe ways of
working are anintegral part of Konecranes' business. By
prioritizing safety and security in all areas of its operations,
the Company canimprove safety throughoutits value
chainand provide solutions for uninterrupted and secure
material handling. Information security is essential - from
manufacturing and servicing equipment to Konecranes’
digital ecosystem. Konecranes’ systematic way of
managing information security ensures compliance with
legal and customerrequirements. Withits knowledge,
products, services and solutions, Konecranes provides
monetary value with sustained profitability and stability
and seeks to maximize the positive contributions forits
stakeholders and the society.

Konecranes enables reliable and optimized material
handling performance and can support decarbonization
withitsinnovative material handling and lifting
technologies. Investingin new technologies and
substituting existing technology with lower-emission
alternativesis a big opportunity for Konecranes and for
its customers due to the possibilities in reducing their
carbon footprint. Including circulareconomy principlesin
various processes and utilizing several circular business
models help Konecranes improve its resource and
energy efficiency while creating value for the customer.
Forexample, the Business Segment Service executes
the product lifecycle extension strategy by offering
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maintenance andrepairs, remanufacturing of parts,
modernization, and retrofitting. Maintaining the lifecycle
value of a device foraslong as possible saves natural
resources, as well asreduces greenhouse gas emissions.
The use phase of Konecranes products canlast for
decades, soinvesting in data-driven, eco-andresource-
efficient products means the customer can preserve the
value of their equipment for alonger period of time and
thus also reduce the product’s environmentalimpact.

Being a preferred partnerand being able to select
trustworthy partnersis paramount for Konecranes’

whole value chain. Sustainable business practices and
systematic risk management are crucial for creatinglong-
term shareholdervalue and financial stability. In 2023,
Konecranesissued an ESG-linked revolving credit facility
with a total value of EUR 350 million withits core relationship
banks. The committed credit facility has a tenor of five
years with two one-year extension options, anditis linked
tothe Company's Scope 1& 2 emissions as well as Port
Solutions business’ eco portfolio sales (representing scope
3,accounting formore than 85% of the Scope 3 emissions
within SBT boundary). The issuing of the loan demonstrates
Konecranes’ commitment to ESG by connecting the
Company's sustainability performance to financing.

Toremain akey player and an attractive employer within
local communities, Konecranes strives to make a positive
impact onthe societies in which the Company operates.
Thisis done by providing jobs and income to employees,
boosting local economies as an employer, supporting
non-profit organizations, providing and buying local
services and goods, as well as by being a significant
taxpayerin many countries where the Company operates.

In2023, atotal of EUR 524 million (2022: 458) in taxes

and other compulsory tax-like payments were paid

and collectedin countries where the Group operates,
implying an effective taxrate of 25.0 percent (2022:27.4).
Atotal of EUR 244 million (2022: 207) was paid (taxes
borne) directly by the Group itself, while EUR 280 million
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(2022: 25T) was collected (taxes collected). Konecranes is
acompliant taxpayerin each operating country and does
not practice aggressive tax planning that would artificially
decrease the Group’s taxable income.

Konecranes’ innovation focuses not only on products,
technologies, and service solutions, but also onnew ways
of working and leveraging workforce diversity to drive
innovation. Konecranes’ employees, with theirexpertise and
motivation, are central to the Company's success and bring
the Company's strategy to life. In Konecranes’ view, varied
skill sets are akey driver of creativity and value creation to
the Company's customers. To ensure that the Company
continuesto delivervalue, it focuses onmaintaining close
ties withits key stakeholders to understand their evolving
needs and expectations; engaging and developing the
best talent; implementing smart technologiesinits product
and service offering; innovating new business models; and
improving product development andreliability.

Environmental responsibility and climate-related
disclosures

Konecranes follows the recommendations of the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) to
share Konecranes’ approach to climate-related topicsin
atransparent manner.

Konecranes’ environmental responsibility agendais
driven by decarbonization and advancing circularity.

The scope of the agendaincludes the Company's own
operations, customers and our supply chain. Konecranes’
commitment to science-based emissions targets to

limit globalwarming to 1.5°C guides its environmental
sustainability strategy. Konecranes’ commitments
concerning environmental responsibility including all
aspects of climate action and circularity can be foundin
the Company's Code of Conduct and inits Environmental
Policy Statement, both of which were updatedin 2023
and are available on Konecranes.com. They outline
Konecranes’ principles formanaging environmental
impacts, and the Company's Global Vehicle Policy,
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Investment Policy as well as Corporate Travel Policy
support the work.

In2023, Konecranes focused on further developingits
eco-optimized portfolio, continuing the electrification
of ports equipment, decreasing the carbonimpact

of its supply chain by improving the climate-related
calculations that help make informed decisions, and by
focusing oninvestigating low-carbon steel availabilities.
Konecranes continued rolling out its Design for
Environment concept that was updatedin 2022.

Climate governance

Sustainability, including climate matters, is embeddedinto
Konecranes’ governance processes at several levels. The
Board of Directors’ HR Committee is the official supervisory
Board Committee following climate topics atleast onan
annual basis. The Board of Directors approves the long-term
focus, ambitionlevel and targets. The Board of Directors’ HR
Committee reviews performance and activities annually.

The Konecranes Leadership Team (KLT) plays a significant
roleinthe Company's management system, strategy
preparation and decision-making andis involvedin therisk
and financial planning process, but it has no official statutory
positionbased onlegislation or the Articles of Association.
Sustainability isintegratedinto Konecranes’ strategy.

The KLT reviews the sustainability strategy as well as all

major climate-related action plans and targets annually.

It follows emissions data on a monthly basis and oversees
other climate-relatedissues whenneeded. During 2023,
Executive Vice President People & Culture (EVP People

and Culture),amember of the KLT, was responsible for
climate topics and participated in HR Committee meetings.
The Sustainability Council, whichis nominated by the KLT,
sponsored by the EVP People and Culture and chaired by
the Head of Sustainability, defines, guides andreviews the
overall sustainability strategy including climate-related
topics, short-term targets and action plans.In 2023, the
Head of Sustainability was responsible for taking actions
and making decisions at the operative level, and for building
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and coordinating climate action plans, proposing activities
and targets, and following the progress of activities.

Climate targets and metrics

Konecranes’ climate ambitionis aligned with the Paris
Agreement ambition of limiting global warming to 1.5°C.
Konecranes’ targets were validated by the Science Based
Targets initiative in 2022.

Within Scope 1and 2 greenhouse gas (GHG) targets,
Konecranes’ science-basedtargetistoreduceits
absolute carbon emissions by 50 percent by 2030. This
targetwasreachedin2022, and anew target was setin
2023: Carbonneutral own operations by 2030. In addition
toinvestingin energy efficiency, Konecranes aims to
increase the share of renewable energy. All electricity
usedin Konecranes' manufacturing sites has come from
renewable sources since 2022, and in 2023, Konecranes’
manufacturing site in Hdmeenlinna started purchasing
renewable district heat. In 2023, Konecranes decreased
the emissions fromits ow operations by 53 percent (50%
by 2022) compared to the 2019 baseline.

Ninety-nine percent of Konecranes’ emissions originate from
the value chain. The two main Scope 3 emissions categories
are the use of sold products as well as purchased goods
and services. Regarding Scope 3 science-based targets,
Konecranes aims to reduce absolute carbon emissions by
50 percentby2030. This target encompasses the use of
sold products and steel-related purchases. In2023, Scope
3 emissions within the science-based target boundary
totaled 3,445,700 CO e tons, representing a19 percent
decrease compared to the base year 2019 (4,233,600 CO,e
tons). Konecranes'’ science-based target covers more than
70 percent of the entire value chain (Scope 3) emissions.

Scopeland 2 emissions datais collected monthly to
monitor progress. Scope 3 datais currently collected at
least on an annual basis. More detailed information onthe
Scopel,2and 3 emissions can be found in Konecranes'
Sustainability Report 2023.
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Emissions (CO,e tons) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Scope 37,300 40,100 44,500 43,000 52,500
Scope 2 3,300 2,900 14,400 30,300 33,100
Scope 3 5,245,400 4,650,700 5,106,900 4,900,300 5,667,700

* GHG emissions (CO,e tons) calculated in line with the GHG Protocol methodology.

« Scope Tincludes emissions from fuel, natural gas and LPG consumption

and fugitive emissions (refrigerants).

« Scope 2 includes emissions from electricity and district heat consumption. Scope 2 indirect emissions are calculated according to the GHG Protocol
Scope 2 Guidance dual reporting requirement: market-based (see emissions table) and location-based (2023:19,800; 2022:20,200; 2021: 23,800:

2020:27,600;2019:29,700) method.

« The figures cover all forms of energy used in Konecranes’ manufacturing locations and service units. Potential renewable shares are not taken into account
for fuels, except for HVO100. All fuel consumption from Konecranes’ service operations and the electricity consumption from the Company's largest
service office sites are included. Figures on the use of natural gas, LPG and district heat from Konecranes’ service operations are excluded because
collecting exact data from the Company's service network is challenging and the consumption amounts are estimated to be very marginal.

« All electricity used in Konecranes manufacturing sites has come fromrenewable sources since 2022, which was the main contributorin the reduction of

the emissions between 2021and 2022.

« Scope 3includes emissions fromuse of sold products, purchased goods and services, upstream transportation and distribution, employee commuting,
investments, fuel- and energy-related activities, downstream transportation and distribution, end-of-life treatment of sold products, capital goods,

business travel and waste generated in operations.

«In2023, anew methodology was developed to calculate the Scope 3 fuel- and energy-related activities and employee commuting. The emissions are
calculated using the best available emission factors from BEIS 2023 (UK Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy), ecoinvent 3.9.1, and IEA

Emission factors 2022 databases.

* GHG emissionintensity: In 2023, total emissions per sales 9 tCO,e/million euros (2022:12 tCO e/million euros). Total emissions include scope 1and scope
2 (market-based method). CO,, CH,and N,O included. GWP: 2007 IPCC Fourth Assessment Report AR4.

Environmental management in Konecranes’ own
operations

Konecranes focuses onimproving the energy efficiency
as well as the waste and chemical management of its own
operations, in both service and manufacturing operations.
Inadditionto Science Based Targets, Konecranes

has signed national voluntary agreements on energy
efficiency. The Company willmeetimprovement targets
by investingin energy efficiency actions such as heat
recovery and lighting as well as more fuel-efficient or
electric cars and route optimization.

In chemical management, the objective is to substitute
hazardous chemicals withless harmful ones and

to minimize the amount of hazardous chemicalsin
products. Waste management focuses onresource
efficiency andincreasing the recycling rate while
avoiding landfill waste.

Konecranes' environmental work is driven by the HSE
Excellence program that focuses on certifying operations
with ISO 14001 Environmental Management System,
implementing rules for environmental behavior as well as

Energy consumption 2023 2022 2021
Total energy consumption (MWh) 236,000 251,400 275,000
Fuel consumption” (MWh) 123,900 133,500 129,600
Natural gas and LPG consumption (MWh) 43,900 45,900 63,400
Electricity consumption (MWh) 57,500 60,800 68,900
District heat consumption (MWh) 10,600 11,300 13,000

» The table covers all forms of energy used in our manufacturing locations and service operations. The use of natural gas, LPG and district heat from our
service operations’ figures are excluded as the consumption amounts are estimated to be very marginal.

¢« IMWh=3.6GJ
« "Fuel consumption consists of diesel, petrol, ethanoland HYO100.
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minimum requirements for environmental management
as perour global HSE standards. Konecranes aims to
certify allits manufacturing sites with ISO 14001:2015. In
2023, atotal of 86 percent (2022: 83%) of the Company's
factorieshad an SO 14001 environmental management
system certificate requiring systematic continuous
development and the establishment of local annual
targets. The coverage hasincreased from 2022.

The Company assesses the environmental risks of its
service and manufacturing operationsin greater detail
as part of thelocal environmental management system,
where each of the Company's unitsis responsible for
evaluating, prioritizing, and mitigating theirrisks on a
locallevel. Environmentalincidents and near-miss cases
arereported through the Company's global Health,
Safety and Environment (HSE) reporting tool, and root
causes are investigated, and corrective actions are taken
accordingly. In addition, the Company aims to minimize
waste andreuse andrecycle as much as possible.

Eco-optimized offering and circularity

Konecranes promotes decarbonization by substituting
existing technologies with lower-emission alternatives
and by extending product lifecycles with its solutions
and service concepts. Konecranes’ customers benefit
significantly frominvestingin durable equipment that can
be repaired and modernized and receive added value
fromuninterrupted operations.

Konecranes has a company-level strategy to further
improve the overall environmental responsibility of

its offering that enables the Science Based Targets
pathway and advances circularity. Konecranes focuses
on electrifyingits offering as well as on ensuring that its
product development emphasizes energy efficiency.
For diesel-powered vehicles, the Company provides
innovative power options ranging from hybrids to full
electric and battery technology, with additional energy-
saving features such as regenerative braking. To provide
accurate data on the environmental impact of its
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solutions for decision making, the Company calculates
its products’ energy consumption and CO, emissions,
and critically assesses this data with the help of a third
party (as part of the Company's Environmental Product
Declarations).

Konecranes designs its products with theircomplete
lifecycle in mind, as the majority of the environmental
impact of aproduct’slifecycleis defined at the product
design stage. Konecranes’ product designis based

on smart design principles focusing on maintainability,
repairability, durability, and material selection, including
recyclability and energy efficiency. In 2023, the Company
carried out trainings on product development to

ensure the effective implementation of the Design for
Environment guideline, which aims to ensure all products
and services are more sustainable than the previous
generation.

Konecranes wants to be aleaderin advancing circular
economy. The Company is continuously investigating
new circular solutions and their possible business
potential. During 2023, three circularinnovation

ideas were moved to a phase where the Company
further studies and evaluates their business potential.
Konecranes’ circulareconomy thinking focuses on
using less, using longer, and using again. Circularity
plays an essential role also in tackling climate change, as
greenhouse gas emissions can be reduced by improving
resource efficiency, designing out waste and keeping
materials and products longerin use.

Konecranes’ service operations promote circular
economy by extending the lifecycle of equipment
through maintenance and repairs, remanufacturing

of parts, modernization, and retrofitting. This helps
Konecranesimprove its ownresource efficiency while
reducingits customers’ environmental footprints.
Preventive maintenance supports emissions reduction as
the data canbe used to optimize maintenance activities
(service visits and spare parts needs). Konecranes’
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retrofitting and modernization services can offera
complete transformation of an existing crane as an
alternative toreplacingit by updating the equipment

to meet today’s standards. On top of improved
performance, modernizations save a significant amount
of steeland inmost cases reduce use phase emissions
when traditional diesel generators are retrofitted as
hybrids or full electric.

Climate risk management

Konecranes has a Group-wide process for evaluating
risks. Climate risks are integrated into a multi-disciplinary
company-wide risk management process. The Board

of Directors of Konecranes has defined and adopted

a set of risk management principles based on widely
acceptedinternational management practices. These
principles serve as part of the Company's system of
controls and are designed to ensure that any risks related
to the Company's business operations are identified and
managed adequately and appropriately to safeguard the
continuity of Konecranes’ business at all times. As part of
the process, risk points are discussed, documented, and
prioritized. For assessing risks, Konecranes uses the scale
of probability, costs of mitigation, andimpacts onthe
business.

Company-level climate-related risks and opportunities
are assessed systematically atleast biannually. As a basis
forclimate assessment, Konecranes uses the information
received fromlocal natural hazardrisk evaluations, climate
risk scenario analysis as well as insights frominternal
experts and business segments management team
members. Short-, medium- and long-term (0-20 years)
risks and opportunities are identified and assessed.

Local environmental and climate-relatedrisks are
assessed according to the requirements of the ISO 14001
environmental management system. Key risks are reported
torisk management (legal department), the Konecranes
Leadership Team and the Board of Directors’ Audit
Committee. The KLT and business segment management
teams are responsible for supporting risk mitigation
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withthe needed activities. More information about the
management of climate risks is available in Konecranes
CDP answer (chapter C2), available at cdp.net.

Identified risks and opportunities and resilient
business strategy

The potentialimpacts of climate change are far-reaching.
Konecranes has reviewed both aspects of climate change
-how climate change affects Konecranes and how the
Company contributes to climate change. Konecranes
updatedits climate scenario analysis and verified key
risks and opportunitiesin all business segmentsin 2022.
During the process, potential short- to long-term financial
impacts were considered.

Konecranes recognizes that climate risks have potential
negative impactsinthe short, medium and long term.
Among the most significant physicalrisks are floods
and severe storms that might damage Konecranes'
manufacturing sites or customers’ sites and cause
businessinterruption and delaysin manufacturing and
transportation. The Company has conducted several
natural hazard assessments withitsinsurance company
tounderstand the probability, time scale and actual risks
involved. Thisinformationis taken into considerationin
business continuity planning.

Technological development has beenidentified as one
of the most significant transitional risks and opportunities
for Konecranes. In a scenario where Konecranes’ product
offering would not be attractive toits customers and
would not help them achieve their environmental targets,
Konecranes could lose market share. To mitigate these
risks, Konecranesis committed to electrifying its offering,
continuing the development of the energy efficiency of
its equipment, and seeking new services and solutions
that accelerate circularity and digitalization.

The most relevant climate opportunities reside in
Konecranes’ offering, enabling the decarbonization
of customers’ operations by providing equipment
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and solutions that reduce emissions and advance
electrification. Transition to alow-carbon society is
fasterinclimate scenarios where global warmingis less
than 2°C. Inthese scenarios, Konecranes hasidentified
possible increased sales opportunitiesinits current and
future eco-optimized offering. The Company offers
hybrid and electric cranes as an alternative to traditional
diesel-fueled cranes, and energy-saving features such
asregenerative braking to help customers minimize
theiremissions. Konecranes also conducts atleast three
studies peryearto find new circular opportunities that
further support the development of its eco-optimized
offering.

Emergingregulation creates a significant climate-related
risk forthe Company as it mightlead to increased cost

of energy and materials, for example, due to increased
taxation of carbon-intensive raw materials. To mitigate
this risk, Konecranes is closely following regulatory
developments. The Company also applies smart design
principles to maximize resource efficiency andinvestsin
renewable energy sources.

Konecranes considers production methods that improve
energy efficiency and minimize waste as a climate-
related opportunity. The Company continues to roll out
lean manufacturing practices with the Konecranes Way
program.

An extensive list of climate risks and opportunitiesis
available at Konecranes.com. More informationis also
available in Konecranes CDP answer (chapter C2).

Respect for humanrights

Konecranesrespects humanrights and promotes the
principles setin the International Bill of Human Rights, UN
Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and the
Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work
of the International Labor Organization (ILO). Konecranes’
commitment to humanrightsis evidentin multiple internal
policies. The basic principles are stated in Konecranes’
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Code of Conduct and more details are available in the
Human Rights Policy. Konecranes has a corporate policy,
the Fair Labor Frame, which sets a standard and ambition
forworkforce-related activities, such as working hours
and freedom of association.

Additionally, humanrights are addressed inthe Company's
Health & Safety and Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Policy
Statements, as well asinthe data protection compliance
requirements. To ensure that humanrights are also
respectedinKonecranes’ supply chain, the Company has
includedits basic requirementsinits Supplier Code of
Conduct. Humanrights are part of the Company's annual,
mandatory Code of Conduct training.

As part of its overall humanrights due diligence,
Konecranes regularly assesses humanrights risks and
impacts, engages with affected stakeholders and
develops andimplements procedures for preventing,
mitigating and monitoring potential and actual adverse
humanrightsimpactsinits own operations and business
relationships. The Company works continuously to
improve its due diligence process.

Konecranes updatesits humanrightsrisk and impact
assessment annually by combining an earlierhuman
rightsrisk screening conducted with the help of an
external service provider withresults received from
different monitoring sources, such as audits, surveys and
awhistleblowing channel. Amongst relevant potential
humanrightsrisksinthe Company's own orinits value
chain’s operations are occupational safety and health,
working conditions, non-discrimination and harassment,
slavery and forced labor, privacy and environmental
degradation.

The Company has several processesinplace to prevent
and mitigate identified risks. The section Safety explains
how the Company addresses health and safety topics,
while the section Diversity describes the Company's
strong Diversity, Equity & Inclusion program, which
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proactively prevents discrimination and promotes equity.
The environmental degradation caused by climate
change has various negative impacts on people, and
Konecranes works to reduce its carbon emissions, as
describedin the section Environmental responsibility
and climate-related disclosures. Konecranes takes data
privacy seriously and has a data protection programin
place with a structured governance model and periodic
trainings.

Konecranes conducts third-party social responsibility
assessmentsinthe Company's operations locatedin
high-risk countries, paying special attention to issues
identified inhuman rightsrisk screening, such as working
conditions. During 2023, the Company took actionto
mitigate identified non-conformities locally, and it is
currently developing global processes to address topics
recurring across the sites. Assessments will continuein
2024.

To manage the above-mentioned human rights risks
withinits complex supplier base, Konecranes has a set of
supply chain compliance management processes. Read
more in the section Responsible business conduct.

Safety

Safetyis anintegral part of Konecranes’ business, and
prioritizing safety in all areas of operationcreates a
competitive advantage for the Company. Konecranes’
goalisto geteveryone home safe, every day. Konecranes
seeks to achieve this goal through strategic, centrally

led programs such as HSE Excellence and business-
specificinitiatives. Transparent and comprehensive
safety reporting and follow-up procedures help the
Company build a coherent safety culture, recognize its
most significant risks and validate the effectiveness of its
safety work. Konecranes’ occupational health and safety
principles are definedin the Company's Code of Conduct
and Health and Safety Policy Statement, which were
updatedin2023.In addition, the Company has several
safety management tools and global practices in place.
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There are considerable occupational health and safety
risks in the material handlingindustry. Konecranes’
services and equipment enable its customers to work
efficiently and safely. Safety isincorporatedinto the
design, manufacturing, maintenance and service of
Konecranes’ products. Forexample, Konecranes' Remote
Operating Station enables the crane operator to workin
safe areas with better ergonomics. Konecranes’ Smart
Features (such as sway control and target positioning)
also help crane operators operate the crane safely.

The most significant safety risks to Konecranes’
employees are related to factory work, vehicle incidents,
crane and equipment installation, and the service
business, where the working conditions of technicians
vary fromjob tojob. AllKonecranes employeesreceive
training to perform their tasks safely and appropriately.

The Company follows incidents and hazards using two
management systems, the ARMOR HSE reporting tool
and the AIR product compliance management system,
as well as through customer feedback collected after
eachmajordelivery. Currently 79 percent (2022: 69%)

of the manufacturing sites are ISO 45001 certified.
Safety performance datais continuously available
tomanagement through online safety performance
dashboards andis addressed on allmanagement levels.
Overall performance trends are reviewed monthly in

the Konecranes Leadership Team and Business Area
leadership meetings, focusing especially onleading
indicators and preventive actions and safety incidents
with Serious Injury or Fatality Potential or Actual Serious or
Fatal outcomes called.

The KPIfor Konecranes’ safety is the Total Recordable
Incident (TRI)rate, which refers to the number of work-
relatedinjuries that required professional medical attention,
causing or not causing absence from work per one million
working hours. The recordable incident rate for 2023 was
4.6(5.6in2022), animprovement of 18 percent compared
to the previous year. The Company also tracks the number
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of Safety Observations made as aleading KPI. In2023,
Konecranes personnel made a total of 95,686 safety
observations, which was 34 percent more thanin 2022
(71,382).In 2023, the number of fatalities was O (2022: O).

People Strategy

Konecranes’ people strategy focuses on enhancing
the Company's winning culture and growth mindset -
leading by example withinspiring, inclusive leaders, and
enabling everyone to succeed in delivering profitable
and sustainable growth. Konecranes’ talented, diverse,
and engaged employees help the Company's customers
improve safety and productivity every day. Konecranes’
people strategy supports this by ensuring that the
Company is attracting the best talent and building

a culture of continuous learning where people are
supported and encouraged to develop and grow every
day, and that employees are engaged and capable of
meeting future business requirements. The Company
fosters and advocates aninclusive culture, where
fairtreatment and ethical ways of working are part of
everyday life.

The Company's four new values - Putting customers

first, Doing the right thing, Driving for better and Winning
together - summarize the core aspects of how to behave
at Konecranes. Living up to and acting according to
Konecranes' values will guide the Company towards
becoming the world leaderin providing material handling
solutions and creating value for everyone.

Konecranes offers its employees various development
programsin areas such as technology, sales,
communication, leadership, health and safety, project
management and ways of working. In addition,
employees can enrich theirwork, forexample, by learning
onthejob, learning from peers orjoining mentoring and
coaching programs and communities.

Konecranesis committed to managing potential
restructuring situations responsibly and to utilizing all
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relevant and available preventive means applicable to

the specific case, such as the reduction of working time
or early retirement. The Company actively engages with
employee representatives, and possible decisions and
actions are made according to applicable social and legal
processes, as well as local requirements.

At Konecranes, employee engagement and inclusion are
measured by conducting regular pulse and employee
engagement surveys across the organization. This allows
the Company to get better visibility on what is driving

its employee engagement and provides actionable
insights onhow toimprove inthese areas. Through fairand
competitive compensation, management and leadership
development programs, career planning, internal job
rotation and various programs to support professional
growth and well-being, the Company is making a positive
impact and mitigating the risk of loss of talent and
competencies.

Diversity, equity and inclusion

Konecranes aims to create a diverse and inclusive working
environment where people feel trusted, they canbe
themselves and thereis a sense of belonging. Konecranes
wants to represent the multicultural communities where

it operates, becoming a great partner forits customers.
Allbackgrounds and the variety of talents are an asset
forthe Company's growth. The objective is to make sure
that everybody can have the opportunity to succeed, and
that their diverse backgrounds are valued. By assuring
psychological safety and variety of ideas and viewpoints
inherentin diverse backgrounds, Konecranes aims to be
the company of choice foremployees. Inclusion means
that the strengths of differences are welcomed and
leveraged so that people feel valued for their contribution.
In2023, Konecranes' inclusionindexwas 81%, which
indicates a stronginclusionamong the employees.

Konecranes’ Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI) Policy
Statement was updated in 2023. With this and the
updated Talent Acquisition and Recruitment Policy, the
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Company wants toreflectits ambitionto have a diverse
talent funnel. Konecranes’ workis based on a Diversity,
Equity and Inclusion vision, supported by a “4T” strategy
(Talented, Transforming, Trusted and Togetherness)

and athree-yearroadmap. The Company has already
successfully integrated Diversity, Equity and Inclusion into
its cultural foundation, such as the Company's recently
launchedvalues, business agenda and strategic enablers.

During 2023, Konecranes continued to further develop
its DEl approach and embed inclusion and equity in the
Company's processes. A pay equity pilot was launched
infive EU countries, the findings were analyzed, and the
related improvement plans focus onremoving biases
from our processes. In addition, the Company has
multiple ongoinglocalinitiatives regarding DEl topics.
Strategies were defined to advance inclusionin the

areas of LGBTQI+ and disabilities. Konecranes measures
diversity and inclusiveness of the talent funnelinits

talent management and succession processes, and
forthatreason, the data and analytics capabilities were
further developed, which helps the Company measure
its progress. During 2023, Konecranes also continued to
raise awareness about DEl topicsinternally, increased the
learning offering oninclusion and unconscious biases, and
renewed its e-learning for allemployees. Additionally, the
Employee Resource Groups (ERG) are animportant way
to buildinclusionin different DEl areas.

The current gender balance for all Konecranes employees
is18.6 percent female (2022:18.2%) and 81.1 percent male.
Konecranes strives toincrease gender balance and all
aspects of diversity in the entire organization as well asin
the Company's leadership. The progress is followed on a
monthly basis. The mentoring program continued in 2023,
supporting the development of a diverse leadership
bench. At the end of 2023, women occupied 17.0 percent
of the leadership positions (2022:14.3%). Konecranes
involved the entire organizationinitsinclusive talent
process, allowing the identification of diverse talents and
creating development actions. The talent processis a
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key element of the Company's DEl culture and it has been
implemented and refined diligently. It now stands as a
cornerstone of Konecranes’ diverse talent development,
fostering a culture of employee development and actively
supporting the advancement of talents.

Konecranes continuesits cooperation on DElwith
external communities, aiming to advance DEland to setan
example within the industry.

Responsible business conduct

Konecranes’ Code of Conduct and Corporate
Governance Framework guide the everyday activities

of the Company by clearly describing internal standards
and ethical values as well as legal obligations. The Code
of Conductis complemented by several Group-wide
policies covering areas including safety, environment,
supplierrequirements, anti-corruption, data protection,
competition compliance and diversity. The main
compliance policies and the yearly Code of Conduct
training are available in 35 languages. Allemployees

are expected to understand and abide by the Code

of Conduct. Konecranes has aregular compliance

and ethicsrisk assessment process supported by risk
assessment surveys to gatherinsights throughout the
organization. Konecranes’ global Compliance & Ethics
Programis managed by the Group’s Compliance & Ethics
team, and its development and quality are overseen by an
executive-level Compliance and Ethics Committee and
the Board of Directors’ Audit Committee. The Head of the
Compliance and Ethics teamregularly reports directly to
the Board’s Audit Committee.

Konecranes promotes a healthy speak-up culture
where people can feel safe reporting ethical concerns.
Multiple ways to raise concerns are offered, including
an externally hosted whistleblowing channel opento
the Company's employees as well as all externals, which
enables anonymous reporting when allowed by local
laws. Allreports made are reviewed and investigated

as appropriate. Thereis a clear policy of no retaliation.
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Konecranes also encourages its suppliers and other
business partners to report any compliance and ethics
concerns relating to Konecranes.

During 2023, Konecranes’ Code of Conduct was
reviewed and updated to make it more user-friendly with
enhanced practical guidance and examples. In addition,
the Company's data protection policy was updated and
continued focus was put on the Group’s whistleblowing
andinvestigation processes andrelated guidance to
ensure compliance with the new whistleblowing law
requirementsinthe EU. Multiple awareness-raising
activities and trainings took place in 2023, with the

main focus being on compliance trainings inthe APAC
region, targeted data protection trainings, as well as
launching of the updated Code of Conduct and the yearly
Code of Conduct training. The 2023 Code of Conduct
training focusing on humanrights, data protection and
whistleblowing was mandatoryfor all staff employees (i.e.
allemployees excluding operatives) globally, and over
9,500 employees completed the training during 2023.

Konecranes expectsits suppliers and subcontractors

to conduct their business in compliance with the

same legal and ethical requirements and principles

that Konecranesrequiresinits Code of Conduct.

These principles are of the utmost importance when
establishing and conducting business relationships.
Konecranes’ Supplier Code of Conduct (“SCoC”) sets the
minimum legal and ethical requirements and principles

of conduct which Konecranes requires fromits suppliers
and subcontractors. The SCoC hasrequirements, for
example, on anti-corruption, trade compliance, human
rights, safety, environmental and compliance topics.

The principles and requirements of the SCoC form an
important part of the agreements made with key suppliers
and subcontractors. During 2023, the SCoC was reviewed
and updated to meet the current and upcoming legal

and compliance needs, and the updated SCoC will
become effective as of February 2024. By the end of
2023, 58 percent of suppliers (as share of spend)had a
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signed commitment to the principles and requirements
of the SCoC. Background checks on suppliers and
subcontractors are done during the onboarding phase,
and thereafter selected suppliers or subcontractors

are assessed based on self-assessments and possible
on-site supplieraudits. In2023 Konecranes continued
on-site supplier audits concentrating particularly on
compliance with Konecranes’ Supplier Code of Conduct.

Anti-corruption and bribery prevention
Konecranes’ Anti-Corruption Policy and Code of
Conduct demonstrate the Company's commitment to
work against corruptionin all forms, including extortion
and bribery, and set the foundation for the Company's
anti-corruption program. The Anti-Corruption Policy

has compliance protocols and guidelinesin place to
detect and address risks, with azero-tolerance approach
embedded inthe monitoring and follow-up processes.
Several actions and processes are set up to mitigate
corruption and fraud risks including internal controls,
sponsorships and donations approval process, a Gift and
Hospitality Portal and a Conflict of Interest portal.

Anti-Corruption matters form animportant element of
the Code of Conduct trainings and it is also the subject of
regular, targeted trainings. Konecranes’ zero-tolerance
approachis also promoted to business partnersinthe
Konecranes Distributor Code of Conduct, Supplier Code
of Conduct and Supplier Manual. Konecranes uses a risk-
based Know-Your-Counterparty process to conduct due
diligence and background screenings, identify red flags
and carry out risk assessments on third parties worked
with whereby the level of scrutiny and required approval
process are determined by considering, forexample, the
risks associated with the business in question, country
risks and business partnerrisks. Selected business
partners are also audited for their anti-corruption work.

EU Taxonomy
Konecranes has activities that qualify as environmentally
sustainable according to the EU Taxonomy Regulation
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(EU)2020/852. Konecranes has activities related to

its equipment sales that are in the scope of technical
screening criteria (TSC) 3.6. Manufacture of otherlow
carbon technologies of delegated regulation (EU)
2021/2139. These activities are, according to Article

16 of the Taxonomy Regulation, enabling substantial
contribution towards climate change mitigation, which
is one of the objectives definedin Article 9 of the
Regulation. In addition, Konecranes’ service activities
within both Business Areas are taxonomy-eligible for
their contribution to circulareconomy according to
delegated regulation (EU) 2023/3851C (2023) 3851,
activities that support the transition to circulareconomy
and are describedinthe TSC 5.1 Repair, refurbishment
and remanufacturing and 5.2 Sale of spare parts. These
activities are, according to Article 16 of the Taxonomy
Regulation, contributing substantially to a circular
economy, whichis one of the objectives definedin Article
9 of the Regulation.

Accounting principles and assessment process
Eligibility and alignment of revenue was evaluated at
product and solutionlevel and represents only sales

to external customers at corporate level. Eligibility

and alignment of capital expenditure and operational
expenditure were assessed at corporate level.
Konecranes avoids double counting by clearly separating
the activities related to equipment and service activities,
and by having a clear structure in financial reporting to
ensure that the business units and cost elements are
separate foreach activity.

Konecranes completed the process of reviewing the
taxonomy eligibility and alignment of all Konecranes
activities against the Climate Delegated Regulationin
2022.The workincluded identifying eligible and aligned
activities, reviewing the technical screening criteria (TSC)
and the ‘do no significant harm’ criteria (DNSH) for each of
the remaining five environmental objectives for all relevant
business activities, and carrying out an assessment of

the Minimum Safeguards (MS) at corporate level. The
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purpose of the process was to define taxonomy eligibility
and alignment, and to gather evidence of substantial
contribution. The focus of the first assessment was on
the activity code 3.6. Manufacturing of otherlow carbon
technologies. In2023 the main change in the process
was to assess the new environmental objectives and
toidentify eligible activities related to environmental
objectives foreconomic activities contributing
substantially to the transition to a circulareconomy.
Konecranes’ operations include service activities which
contribute to a circulareconomy as describedin the
Environmental Delegated Act. Activity 8.2. for data driven
solutions for greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reductions
was removed due to immateriality. Konecranes also
reviewed its compliance against the updated 2023
version of the OECD guidelines.

Eligible and aligned revenue

Therelevant activities of Konecranes are aligned with the
objective of Climate Change Mitigation (CCM)according
to the technical screening criteria of 3.6. Manufacture

of otherlow carbontechnologies. The calculation of the
revenue percentageis based onlower carbontechnology
such asinverter-controlled hoisting, regenerative braking
and hybrid and electric power options (within the markets
where there are diesel power options). These solutions
provide alower-emission alternative compared to other
available technologies. Inverter technology as well as
regenerative braking solutions may contribute significantly
to the energy consumption of the equipment, saving 15-45
percentin carbon emissions fromthe use phase during the
crane’slifecycle. These technologies substitute existing
technology with lower-emission alternatives inlifting
applications of all customerindustries, but especially in
heavy duty applications where the use phase impactis
significant. Comparedto diesel equipment, hybrids lead up
to 20 percent emissions saving during equipment lifetime.
Electric equipment canreduce emissions by approximately
70 percent. When using renewable electricity, the
emission savings will be higher. These equipment aim

to create substantial GHG emissions reductionsin the
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ports and terminal industries. Konecranes’ activitiesin
these areas enable substantial contributions towards
climate change mitigation according to representative
Lifecycle Assessments (LCA) made in comparison with the
best performing alternative technologies. The lifecycle
GHG emissions savings are calculated according to

ISO standards. The ‘do no significant harm’ criteria were
assessed based onthe remaining five environmental
objectives, and eligible revenue fulfilled all the criteria.
There was a change in the criteria for pollution prevention
and control, which now enable a different assessment
outcome compared to the previous year, when Konecranes
was not able to define the alignment. Konecranes has
providedrestated percentages for alignment accordingly
inthereporting tables.

The new Environmental Delegated Act enabled
Konecranes to evaluate the taxonomy eligibility of its
service activities. Environmental activities contributing
substantially to a circulareconomy include maintenance
and service activities, since these enable a significantly
longer lifetime for the equipment. The taxonomy
eligibility of Konecranes’ service activities was assessed
according to the technical screening criteriaand ‘do no
significant harm’ criteria of 5.1Repair, refurbishment and
remanufacturing and 5.2 Sale of spare parts. The result
was that all service and maintenance operations carried
out by Konecranes’ business segments Industrial Service
and Port Solutions are eligible under these criteria. Based
on Konecranes'initial assessment, the eligible revenue is
also alignedto alarge degree. Alignment will be reported
fromtheyear2024.

‘Do no significant harm’ assessment

The ‘do no significant harm’ (DNSH) assessment has
been conducted collaboratively for Konecranes entities,
focusing on Konecranes’ production sites and offering.

Climate change adaptation
Konecranes has conducted a climate risk and
opportunity assessment based on SSP1-2.6 and SSP3-
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7.0 scenarios up to the year 2100. Based on the results
of the assessment, Konecranes has implemented
mitigation measures.

Sustainable use and protection of

water and marine resources

Konecranes has good practicesinplace forwater
management, such as the ISO 14001 management system,
and otherinternal processes and policies. According

to a study done using the WWF’s Water Risk Filter tool,
Konecranes has no manufacturing sitesin “Extremely High”
water stress areas. Only two of Konecranes’ sitesin high-
risk areas use waterin their production processes. For
example, the sitein Jejuri, India, has countermeasuresin
place, such asaclosed-loop system forthe waterusedin
the production process and a sewage treatment plant.

Transition to a circular economy
Konecranes’ commitment to a circulareconomy is
integratedinto the Company's business processes,

covering sourcing, product development and production.

Konecranes has implemented a Design for Environment
(DfE) concept, and the Company's Supplier Code of
Conduct coversrequirements for waste management
and alist of restricted substances. Forits own operations,
the Company has launched a Global Environmental
Standard on waste management.

Pollution prevention and control

The criteria for this environmental objective require
thatrelevant business activities do not lead to the
production, putting onto the market, or use of chemicals
listed in multiple EU chemical regulations and directives.
Konecranes hasidentified that its products contain
commercial components that, atlow concentrations,
include Substances of Very High Concern (SVHC),

such aslead. Konecranesis compliant with the REACH
Regulation. The Company's processes ensure that

the use of such substances is minimized and that
components are substituted if thereis commercial
availability.
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Protection andrestoration of biodiversity and ecosystems
Konecranes has conducted an analysis to identify
factories located in biodiversity-sensitive areas such

as UNESCO World Heritage sites, Ramsar sites or
UNESCO biospherereserves, and based on the analysis
no factories are locatedinthese areas. However,

the Company’s Thailand factoryisinan area thatis
considered a key biodiversity area. The biggest threats to
the area’s biodiversity are agriculture, urban expansion,
infrastructure andindustrial development, as well as
pollution. The factoryisin an established industrial area
and no factory expansions are planned. Konecranes

aims to secure thatithas an efficient environmental
management systemin place including pollution control
and waste management practices, as well as all other
necessary precautionary procedures.

Minimum safeguards

Konecranes has assessed its alignment regarding the
Minimum Safeguards and based on the assessment, it has
adequate minimum safeguardsin place. Konecranesis
committed to the UN Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights and the OECD Guidelines for Multinational
Enterprises. The Company has reviewed its compliance
with the updated 2023 OECD guidelines. The Company
has a documented assessment of the due diligence
criteria. Konecranes’ global policies such as the Code

of Conduct, the Human Rights Policy and the Supplier
Code of Conduct, among other standards, set the
minimum requirements for the conduct of the Company's
employees, management and business partners.
Furthermore, Konecranes has processesinplace to
discover any material breaches orviolations of the
principles. The Company is committed to strengthening
the processes and assessments continuously to further
improve its practices.

Turnover

Revenue is calculated on the basis of the sales revenue
(revenues according to IFRS 15) reportedin the income
statement for the year 2023, which amounted to EUR
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3,966 million (denominator). Revenue is calculated at
product level and represents only equipment sales to
external customers on a group level. Taxonomy-aligned
products forthe activity 3.6. account for EUR 758 million,
or19 percent of Konecranes’ revenue. The changesin
the revenue are affected by the sales mix. In 2023, the
sales mix of Business Segment Port Solutions was more
weighted for electrified and hybrid products, causing a
slightincreaseinits share of revenue. Taxonomy-eligible
service solutions for the activity 5.1account for EUR 1,060
million, or 27 percent of the revenue, and for the activity
5.2.EUR 485 million, or 12 percent of the revenue.

Capital and operating expenditure

Capital expenditure (CapEx) and the specifically defined
categories of operating expenditure (OpEx) describedin
the Taxonomy Regulation are reported at group level. They
support the transition towards a low carbon economy and
achieving the science-based climate targets set forown
operations and for the value chain.

CapExinintangible and tangible assets amountedto a
total of EUR110.6 million (2022: 98.4 million) (see Notes
14 and 15 to the Financial Statements). In taxonomy
reporting, CapExincludes additions to right-of-use
assetsreportedin Note 15 to the Financial Statements,
while thisis excluded from CapEx presentedin the
Group’s key figures. In the aligned CapEx, Konecranes
includes the energy efficiency improvements of own
and leased facilities and production equipment. In

the eligible CapEx, Konecranesreports vehicles used
forthe service activities, meaning, forexample, the
maintenance and modernization of customer assets.
Konecranes only includes investments with a value

over EUR50,000 that improve the energy efficiency of
facilities orequipment and leads to lower emissions. The
aligned CapExisrelated to assets or processes that are
associated with Konecranes’ own taxonomy-aligned
activities. The taxonomy-aligned CapEx of EUR 4.6
millioninthe reporting yearis reported in property, plant
and equipment.
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Konecranes defines aligned and eligible OpEx as direct
non-capitalized costs that relate to building renovation
measures and maintenance and repair expenditures
relating to the day-to-day servicing of assets of
property and equipment that are necessary to ensure
the continued and effective functioning of such assets.
R&D expenses for projects to lower the emissions or
improve the energy efficiency of Konecranes products
are alsoincluded. Konecranes classifies the costs of
maintenance and repair for plants that manufacture
taxonomy-aligned products as taxonomy-aligned OpEx.
Taxonomy-eligible OpEx for the technical screening
criteria5.1.and 5.2. refers to costs of maintenance
andrepairforlocationsin service operations. The
expenditure of these costsis calculated according to
the proportion of taxonomy-aligned sales or production
value of the total sales or productionvalue. The OpExis
related to assets or processes that are associated with
own taxonomy-eligible or taxonomy-aligned activities.
From taxonomy-aligned OpEx, EUR 3.4 million was for
maintenance and repair expenditures and EUR10.4
million for R&D expenses. For circulareconomy units,
the eligible OpExis calculated proportionally according
to the taxonomy-eligible sales. The total OpEx contains
direct non-capitalized costs that relate to building
renovation measures and maintenance and repair
expenditures related to servicing of assets of property
and equipment, R&D expenses and short-termleases.
The proportion of taxonomy-aligned or -eligible OpEx as
well as total OpExin 2022 has beenrestated according to
the 2023 definitions.

4 percent of CapExand 19 percent of specifically defined
taxonomy OpExis taxonomy-aligned. The mainreason
forthereductionin the taxonomy-aligned OpExwas a
lower share of low-carbon R&D. 19 percent of CapEx

and 4 percent of specifically defined taxonomy OpExis
taxonomy-eligible.
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Table 1. Revenue

Turnover from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities - disclosure covering year 2023
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. ) . . . . e PN ' Proportion
Financial year 2023 2023 Substantial Contribution Criteria DNSH criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm') of Taxonomy
aligned
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Economic Activities Code Turnover year2023 Mitigation Adaptation Water Pollution Economy Biodiversity Mitigation Adaptation Water Pollution Economy Biodiversity safeguards year2022 activity activity
M€ %  Y;N;N/EL  Y;N;N/EL  Y;N;N/ZEL  Y;NGN/ZEL  Y;NSNZEL  YiN;N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T
A. TAXONOMY -ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1. Environmentally sustainable
activities (Taxonomy-aligned)
Manufacturing of otherlow o 9
carbon technologies CCM3.6 758 19% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y 14% E
Turnover of environmentally
sustainable activities 758 19% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 14%
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1)
Of which Enabling 758 19% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 14% E
Of which Transitional 0] 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0% T
A.2. Taxonomy-Eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
EL; N/EL EL;N/EL  EL;N/EL EL; N/EL EL; N/EL EL; N/EL
Repair,refurbishment and CE51 1060 27% N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL
remanufacturing
Spare parts CE5.2 485 12% N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL
Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible but
not environmentally sustainable o o o o o o o o
activities (not Taxonomy-aligned 1,545 39% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0%
activities) (A.2)
A. Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible 2,303 58% 33% 0% 0% 0% 67% 0% 14%

activities (A.1+A.2)
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE

ACTIVITIES

Turnover of Taxonomy-non-eligible

activities 1,663 42%
TOTAL 3,966 100%
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Table 2. CapEx

CapEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities - disclosure covering year 2023

Financial Review

. A . . . . e PN ' Proportion
Financial year 2023 2023 Substantial Contribution Criteria DNSH criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm') of Taxonomy
aligned
Proportion Climate Climate Climate Climate oreligible Category Category
of CapEx, Change Change Circular Change Change Circular Minimum CapEx, year enabling transitional
Economic Activities Code CapEx year2023 Mitigation Adaptation Water Pollution Economy Biodiversity —Mitigation Adaptation Water Pollution Economy Biodiversity safeguards 2022 activity activity
ME %  Y;N;N/EL  Y;N;N/EL  Y;N;N/ZEL  Y;NGN/ZEL  Y;NSN/ZEL  YiN;N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1. Environmentally sustainable
activities (Taxonomy-aligned)
Manufacturing of otherlow
carbontechnologies CCM3.6 5 4% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y 5% E
CapEx of environmentally
sustainable activities 5 4% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 5%
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1)
Of which Enabling 5 4% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 5% E
Of which Transitional 0o 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0% T
A.2. Taxonomy-eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
EL; N/EL EL;N/EL  EL;N/EL EL; N/EL EL; N/EL EL; N/EL
Repair,refurbishment and CE51 21 19% N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL
remanufacturing
CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible but
not environmentally sustainable 2 19% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0%

activities (not Taxonomy-aligned
activities) (A.2)

A. CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible
activities (A.1+A.2) 26 23% 18% 0% 0% 0% 82% 0%

B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE

ACTIVITIES

CapEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible o
activities 85 77%
TOTAL m 100%

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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A
Table 3. OpEx Z
Proportion of OpEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities - disclosure covering year 2023 I I I
Financial year 2023 2023 Substantial Contribution Criteria DNSH criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm') Proportion
of Taxonomy
aligned
Proportion Climate Climate Climate Climate oreligible Category Category
of OpEx, Change Change Circular Change Change Circular Minimum OpEx, year enabling transitional
Economic Activities Code OpEx Year2023 Mitigation Adaptation Water Pollution Economy Biodiversity Mitigation Adaptation Water Pollution Economy Biodiversity safeguards 2022 activity activity m
ME % Y;N;N/EL  Y;N:;N/EL Y;N;N/EL Y;N:N/EL Y;N;N/EL  Y;N;N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T m
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1. Environmentally sustainable 3
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) >0
Manufacturing of otherlow =*<
o o
carbontechnologies CCM3.6 14 19% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y 31% E Q g
OpEx of environmentally [ E
sustainable activities 14 19% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 31% =y
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) ,‘l’.
Of which Enabling 14 19% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 31% E
Of which Transitional (0] 0% 0% Y Y Y Y Y Y 0% T
A.2. Taxonomy-eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
EL; N/EL EL;N/EL  EL;N/EL EL; N/EL EL; N/EL EL; N/EL
Repair,refurbishment and CE51 2 3% N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL
remanufacturing
Sale of spare parts CE5.2 1 1% N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL
OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible but
not environmentally sustainable
activities (not Taxonomy-aligned 3 4% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0%
activities) (A.2)
A OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible % 23% 83% 0% 0% 0% 7% 0% 1%

activities (A.1+A.2)
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE

ACTIVITIES

OpEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible o
activities 56 77%
TOTAL 73 100%
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Litigation

Various legal actions, claims, and other proceedings are
pending against the Group in different countries. These
actions, claims, and other proceedings are typical for
thisindustry and are consistent with the global business
offering that encompasses a wide range of products and
services. These matters involve contractual disputes,
warranty claims, product liability (including design
defects, manufacturing defects, failure to warn, and
asbestoslegacy), employment, auto liability, and other
matters involving liability claims.

Risks and uncertainties

Global component and labor availability challenges
and other global supply chain constraints may lead to
production and customer delivery delays and have a
negative impact on Konecranes' sales and cash flow.
Inflation may also increase risk for negative impact on
Konecranes' cash flow and result. Furthermore, high
inflation canincrease the likelihood of weaker demand
conditions and creditlosses.

Global pandemics, such as COVID-19, have and may have
anegativeimpact on Konecranes’ customers and its own
operations. Physical restrictions on the daily conduct

of people and businesses canlead to lowerrevenue
recognition and adversely impact cash flow. Physical
restrictions may also lead to component availability and
other supply chainissues and inventory obsolescence.
Furthermore, global pandemics canincrease the
likelihood of weaker demand conditions and, as aresult,
may lead to overcapacity, impairment of assets and credit
losses.

Konecranes operates in emerging countries that face
political, economic, and regulatory uncertainties. Adverse
changesinthe operating environment of these countries
may resultin currency losses, elevated delivery costs,

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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orloss of assets. Konecranes operates a crane factory

in Zaporizhzhia, Ukraine. In 2022, Konecranes impaired

all Ukraine related assets as the level of uncertainty
regarding Konecranes’ operationsin Ukraine remains high
due to the ongoing war.

The operations in emerging countries have had a negative
impact onthe aging structure of accountsreceivable

and may increase credit losses or the need for higher
provisions for doubtful accounts.

Political risks and uncertainties have also increased
outside the emerging countries due to the emergence of
populism, patriotism, and protectionismin a number of
economies. Thishasled and canlead to changesin supply
chains as well asincreasesintariffs onimported goods.
Theserisks may resultin a decrease in profitability.

Konecranes has made several acquisitions and
expanded organically into new countries. Afailure to
integrate acquired businesses or grow newly established
operations may resultin a decrease in profitability and
impairment of goodwill and other assets.

One of the key strategic initiatives of Konecranesis
oneKONECRANES. This initiative involves a major capital
expenditure oninformation systems. A higher-than-
expected development orimplementation costs, ora
failure to extract business benefits from new processes
and systems may lead to animpairment of assets or
decrease in profitability.

Konecranes delivers projects, which involve risks related,
forexample, to engineering and project execution with
Konecranes’ suppliers. Afailure to plan ormanage these
projects may lead to higher-than-estimated costs or
disputes with customers.

Challengesinfinancing, e.g. due to currency fluctuations,
may force customers to postpone projects oreven
cancelthe existing orders. Konecranes intends to avoid

Financial Review

incurring costs for major projects under construction
in excess of advance payments. However, itis possible
that the cost-related commitmentsin some projects
temporarily exceed the number of advance payments.

Cybersecurity risks have increased in Konecranes’
industry, asin mostindustries, inrecent years. Potential
cyber-attacks against Konecranes orits suppliers may
resultin delivery delays and/or a decrease in profitability.

The Group’srisks and risk management are discussed
inthe Notes to the Financial Statements and the
Governance Supplement to the Annual Report.

Stock exchange releases during full
year2023

Date Release
December15, Konecranes Restricted Share Unit Plan 2017 -
2023 directed share issue
December15, Changes in Konecranes Leadership Team: Minna
2023 Aila appointed EVP, Corporate Affairs & Brand
Konecranes PIc's Interim Report, January-
October25, September 2023: All-time high quarterly
2023 )
comparable EBITA margin
October 24, Konecranes PIc's financial information and AGMin
2023 2024
September7, Composition of Konecranes Plc's Shareholders'
2023 Nomination Board
September 7 Changes in Konecranes Leadership Team: Juha
P ’ Pankakoski appointed EVP, Port Solutions, Mika
2023
Mahlberg to leave the company
Konecranes Plc's Half-year financial report,
July 26,2023 January-June 2023: Sustained strong performance
July14,2023 Change in Konecranes' Leadership Team

Change in Konecranes' reporting languages
June15,2023 starting from January 1,2024
Changes in the Composition of the Konecranes'

June7,2023 Shareholders' Nomination Board
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Date Release

Konecranes Plc: Notice pursuant to the Finnish

May 16,2023 Securities Market Act, Chapter 9, Section 10
Shaping next generation material handling for

May 10,2023 asmarter, saferand better world: Konecranes
announces new financial targets

April 28,2023 Konecranes Plc: Interim report, January-March

2023

March 29, 2023 Konef:ranes Plc: Board of Directors' organizing
meeting
Resolutions of Konecranes Plc's Annual General

March 29,2023 Meeting of shareholders

;Zk;r;ary 28, Konecranes Plc's Annual Report 2022 published
February 22, Konecranes Employee Share Savings Plan2019 -
2023 directed shareissue

February 10, Konecranes Plc's Board of Directors convenes the
2023 Annual General Meeting 2023

Proposals by the Board of Directors to the Annual

February 2,2023 General Meeting 2023

February 2,2023 Konecranes Plc: Financial statement release 2022

The Board of Directors of Konecranes Plc has decided

February1,2023 to continue the Employee Share Savings Plan

The Board of Directors of Konecranes Plc has decided
February1,2023 the criterion for the measurement period 2023 of the
Performance Share Plans 2021and 2022

The Board of Directors of Konecranes Plc has decided

February1,2023 to establish anew Performance Share Plan

Corporate press releases during full
year2023

e OnDecember4,2023, Konecranes announced that
its material handling equipment and services support
growth of Eldorado Brasil Celulose Logisticain Latin
America's largest port.

e OnNovember 20,2023, Konecranes announced that it
istoupgrade areactor hall overhead crane at Sweden's

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Oskarshamn Nuclear Power Plant. The order was
bookedin Q42023.

OnNovember15,2023, Konecranes announced that it
secured a 16-crane order to support environmentally
sustainable scrap metalrecycling rebar millin Arkansas.
The orderwaswonin September2023.

On October 31,2023, Konecranes announced that it
won the 2024 German Sustainability Award for Lifting
and Handling Technology.

On October18,2023, Konecranes announced thata
Norwegian logistics company ordered a Konecranes
Generation 6 mobile harbor crane for a new terminal.
The orderwas bookedin Q32023.

On October11,2023, Konecranes announced that

its January-September 2023 interim report will be
published on October 25,2023.

On September 20,2023, Konecranes announced that
its sustainability work was rewarded once again with a
Goldrating from EcoVadis.

On September19,2023, Konecranes announced that
itwon an 8 RTG order for anew container terminalin
Colombiain drive for sustainable globalization. The
orderwas booked in August 2023.

On September15,2023, Konecranes announced

that Port Houston ordered 5 more Konecranes RTGs,
continuingits hybridization drive. The order was booked
inQ32023.

OnAugust 9,2023, Konecranes announced that it
won an orderin Taiwan for 7 hybrid RTGs. The order was
bookedin Q32023.

OnJuly 12,2023, Konecranes announced that its
January-June 2023 half-year financial report will be
published on July 26,2023.

OnJune 30,2023, Konecranes announced that

CMP ordered 8 straddle carriersand 2 STS cranes
from Konecranes for a new container terminalin
Copenhagen. The order was booked in Q2 2023.
OnJune 21,2023, Konecranes announced that it had
acquired the industrial crane service business of
Norway's Munck Cranes AS to strengthenits Nordic
operations.

Financial Review

OnJune 16,2023, Konecranes announced that it
signed a EUR 350 million ESG-linked revolving credit
facility.

OnJune1,2023, Konecranes announced that the
Belgianlogistics company Zuidnatie ordered a
Konecranes Generation 6 mobile harbor crane toraise
capacity, lower emissions. The order was booked in Q2
2023.

OnMay 3,2023, Konecranes announced that Port of
Virginia made an over EUR 130 millioninvestmentin 36
Konecranes Automated Stacking Cranes toimprove
capacity and efficiency. The orderwas booked in Q2
2023.

OnApril 14,2023, Konecranes announced that its
Interimreport, January-March 2023 will be published on
April 28,2023.

OnApril 13,2023, Konecranes announced that it
supports a Cambodian port modernization with its first-
ever mobile harbor crane orderin the country. The order
was booked in Q12023.

OnApril12,2023, Konecranes announced changes
inreporting its orders received and alternative
performance measures.

On April 5,2023, Konecranes announced thatitis to
supply 4 cranes to Siemens Gamesa offshore wind
power plantin Taiwan. The orderwas booked in Q12023.
OnApril4,2023, Konecranes announced that it
acquires Whiting Corporation'sindustrial and nuclear
crane and crane service businesses to broadenits
footprintin the North American market.

OnMarch 31,2023, Konecranes announced that
Guinea's Winning Logistics bolstersits bauxite handling
fleet with two more Konecranes barge cranes. The
orderwas bookedin Q12023.

OnMarch 30,2023, Konecranes sent aninvitationtoiits
Capital Markets Day 2023 onMay 10, 2023.

OnMarch 30,2023, Konecranes announced that its
new Zero4 program will receive EUR 70 million from
Business Finland to unlock industrial productivity.
OnMarch 29,2023, Konecranes announced that
Georgia Ports Authority ordered 55 hybrid Konecranes
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RTGs as part of major capacity increase in the Port of
Savannah. The order was bookedin Q12023.

e OnMarch16,2023, Konecranes announced that it
powers LTC Group's material handling in the Middle East
with a 21-crane and service contract. The order was
bookedin Q12023.

e OnMarch15,2023, Konecranes announced that it
had started to deliverits final cranes to Russia fora
European customer.

e OnFebruary 20,2023, Konecranes announced thatitis
to divest MHE-Demag Industrial Products business to
Jebsen & Jessen Group.

e OnJanuary 19,2023, Konecranes announced thatits
financial statementrelease 2022 will be published on
February 2,2023.

Events after the end of the reporting
period

OnJanuary 2,2024, 6,868 treasury shares were conveyed
without consideration as the reward payment to the key
employee participating in the Konecranes Restricted
Share Unit Plan 2017. After the share delivery, Konecranes
holds a total of 12,788 own shares.

OnFebruary1,2024, Konecranes announced that the
Board of Directors had decided to establish a new
Performance Share Plan 2024 for Konecranes' key
employees. The Plan has a three-year performance
period from 2024 to0 2026. The Plan has three
performance criteria: the cumulative comparable
Earnings per Share (EPS) for the financial years 2024-
2026 with a 55 percent's weighting, the compound
annual growthrate (CAGR) for Sales for the financial
years 2024-2026 with a 35 percent's weighting and the
CO, emissions from own operations for the financial
years 2024-2026 with a 10 percent's weighting. The
targets forthe three-year performance period have
also been decided by the Board of Directors. The
target group of the Plan consists of approximately 170

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Konecranes key employees. Additional information,
including essential terms and conditions of the Plan,
is available in the stock exchange release dated
February1,2024.

OnFebruary1,2024, Konecranes announced that the
Board of Directors had decided the criterion for the
measurement period 2024 of the Performance Share
Plan2022. The criterionis comparable earnings per
share (EPS). Also, the targets for the measurement
period 2024 were decided by the Board of Directors.
Additionalinformation on the criterionis available in the
stock exchange release dated February 1,2024.

OnFebruary1,2024, Konecranes announced that the
Board of Directors had decided to launch a new Plan
Periodrelating to the Employee Share Savings Plan. The
new Plan Period willbegin onJuly 1,2024, and willend on
June 30,2025. The other terms and conditions approved
by the Board have been published in the stock exchange
release dated February 1,2024.

Demand outlook

Ourdemand environment within industrial customer
segments has remained good and continueson a
healthy level.

Global container throughput continues on ahighlevel,
andlong-term prospectsrelated to global container
handling remain good overall.

Financial guidance

Konecranes expects net sales to remain approximately on
the same level ortoincrease in 2024 compared to 2023.
Konecranes expects the comparable EBITA margin to
remain approximately on the same level ortoimprovein
2024 compared to 2023.

Financial Review

Board of Directors' proposal for disposal
of distributable funds

The parent company’s non-restricted equity is EUR
953,922,136.07, of which the netincome for the yearis
EUR94,993,467.37. The Group’s non-restricted equity is
EUR1,516,609,000.

According to the Finnish Companies Act, the distributable
funds of the company are calculated based on the parent
company’s non-restricted equity. For the purpose of
determining the amount of the dividend, the Board

of Directors has assessed the liquidity of the parent
company and the economic circumstances subsequent
to the end of fiscal year.

Based onsuch assessments, the Board of Directors
proposes to the Annual General Meeting to be held on
March 27,2024, that a dividend of EUR1.35 be paid on
each share and that the remaining non-restricted equity
isretainedin shareholders’ equity. The proposal will be
includedin the notice to the Annual General Meeting,
which will be published during February 2024.

APDF version of Konecranes’ full audited financial

statements, including the report of the Board of Directors,

and corporate governance statement will be available as
pdf documents on Konecranes' website on Wednesday,
February 28,2024.

Espoo, February1,2024
KonecranesPlc
Board of Directors
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Konecranes Group 2019-2023

Financial Review

Business development 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Key figures and balance sheet 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Orders received** MEUR 41614 42279 34469 29942 34316 Equity(incl. MEUR W 1130 13606 12511 12467
Orderbook MEUR  3,040.8 29017 20368 17155  1824.3 non-controlling interest) ’ ’ ’ ' ’
Net sales MEUR 39663 33648 31857 30789 33269 Balance sheet E’IEUR 45524  4340.6 38458 40165  3,854.2
of which outside Finland MEUR 3864.6 32620 30981 30963 32442 Return on equity % 18.2 9.9 n.3 9.8 6.5
T 0,
Export from Finland MEUR 11485 789.6 9552  1,075.9 969.6 Returnon capitalemployed . % 16.4 9.0 9.3 8.3 6.3
Personnel on average 16,503 16,563 16,625 17,027 16104 Currentratio 1.4 1.6 12 1.4 1.4
. . .
Personnel on December 31 16586 16522 16573 16862 16196 Equity to assetratio % gl 379 38.9 34.1 35.4
Capital expenditure MEUR 54.4 37.0 49.8 42.8 395 Net working cvapltal MEUR 353.6 490.2 350.6 2271 331.2
as % of Net sales % 1.4% 11% 1.6% 1.3% 1.2% Interest-bearing net debt MEUR 365.8 688.3 541.6 577.1 655.3
1 (o)
Researchand development costs MEUR 51.3 47.7 47.7 48.5 411 Gearing % 22.9 48.0 39.8 461 52.6
as % of Net sales % 1.3% 1.4% 1.5% 1.5% 1.2%
Shares in figures
Profitability Earnings pershare, blasic EUR 3.48 1.77 1.86 1.54 1.03
Net sales MEUR 3.966.3 3.364.8 31857 31789 3.326.9 Earnings pershare, diluted EUR 3.46 1.77 1.85 1.54 1.03
Equity per share EUR 20.14 1810 17.08 15.69 15.70
Comparable EBITA MEUR 450.7 318.4 3122 260.8 2751 Cash flow per share EUR 7-°f 0.84 2.13 5.15 219
as % of net sales % 11.4% 9.5% 9.8% 8.2% 8.3% Dividend per share EUR 1.35 1.25 1.25 0.88 1.20
Dividend /earnings % 38.8 70.6 67.2 57.] 16.5
Comparable operating profit ~ MEUR 9.7 286.6 279.1 2249  250.4 Effective dividendyield % 3.3 4.3 3.6 31 4.4
as % of net sales % 10.6% 8.5% 8.8% 7.1% 7.5% Price /eamings .7 16.2 18.9 18.7 26.6
Trading low / high*** EUR  2829/4138 19.61/38.43 28.80/42.31 14.05/33.08 24.84/3815
Operating profit MEUR 4025 2232 220.0 173.8 148.7 Average.share price*** . EUR 33.68 27.14 36.41 23.03 29.98
as % of net sales % 10.1% 6.6% 6.9% 55% 4.5% Share price on December 31 EUR 40.78 28.76 35.16 28.78 27.40
Year-end market capitalization MEUR 3,229.9 2,276.8 2,782.4 2,277.5 2,160.2
Income before taxes MEUR 367.6 190.7 192.5 170.3 118.5 Number traded™*** f}ooo) 70,349 87275 56561 121487 96,906
as % of net sales % 9.3% 57% 6.0% 5 4% 36% Stock turnover % 88.8 110.3 71.5 1563.6 122.9
Q‘L’Jgfgfd’i‘r‘jg‘gg;i‘;f shares (1,000) 79096 79152 79134 79,078 78,836
Netincome
(incl.non-controllinginteresty ~ MEUR 2756 138.5 147.4 122.9 82.8 é‘égfgr?d?ﬁé“gﬁag Shares (1,000) 79,583 79,508 79,607 79272 78,836
as % of net sales % 6.9% 41% 4.6% 3.9% 2.5% , .
Number of shares outstanding, ;q00) 79,202 79067 79134 79134 78,839
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atend of the period

*The Board's proposal to the AGM

**History restated
*** Source: Nasdaq Helsinki

**** Source: Intercontinental Exchange
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Calculationof key figures

Operating profit (EBIT)

Comparable EBITA

Comparable Operating profit

Return on equity (%):

Return on capital employed
(%):

Current ratio:

Equity to assetratio (%):

Gearing (%):

Earnings per share:

Earnings per share, diluted:

Equity pershare:

Cashflow per share:

Effective dividendyield (%):

Price perearnings:

Networking capital**:

Interest-bearing net debt:

Year-end market capitalization:

Average number of personnel:

Number of shares outstanding:

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Sales + Other operating income - Materials, supplies and subcontracting -
Personnel cost - Depreciation and impairment - Other operating expenses

Operating profit (EBIT) + purchase price allocationimpacts and impairment
+restructuring costs + transaction costs + otheritems affecting to
comparability

Operating proft (EBIT) + restructuring costs + transaction costs + otheritems
affecting to comparability

Net profit for the period

Total equity (average during the period)

Income before taxes + interest paid + other financing cost

Total amount of equity and liabilities - non-interest-bearing debts
(average during the period)

Current assets

Current liabilities

Shareholders' equity

Total amount of equity and liabilities - advance payment received

Interest-bearing liabilities - liquid assets - loans receivable

Total equity

Net profit for the shareholders of the parent company

Average number of shares outstanding

Net profit for the shareholders of the parent company

Average fully diluted number of shares outstanding

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company

Number of shares outstanding

Net cash flow from operating activities

Average number of shares outstanding

Dividend per share

Share price at the end of financial year
Share price at the end of financial year

Earnings per share

Remuneration

X100

X100

X100

X100

X100

Non-interest-bearing current assets excludingincome tax receivables and other

financial assets (derivatives) - Non-interest-bearing current liabilities excluding

income tax payables and other financial liabilities (derivatives) - long-term provisions

Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current and current) - cash and
cash equivalents - loans receivable (hon-current and current)

Number of shares outstanding multiplied by the share price
atthe end of year

Calculated as average of number of personnelin quarters

Total number of shares - treasury shares

Risk Management Financial Review

Operating profit % and EBITA % are used to measure business profitability
before financialitems and taxes. Comparable operating profitand Comparable
EBITA are used toreflect the underlying business performance and to enhance
comparability between financial periods and is frequently used by management,
analysts andinvestors. See also note 3 forreconciliation.

Return on equity % represents the rate of return that shareholders receive
ontheirinvestments and Return on capital employed % represents relative
profitability or the rate of return that has been received on capital employed
requiringinterest or otherreturn.

Currentratio, Equity to assetratio, Interest-bearing net debt, Interest-bearing
net debt /Equity are used to measure solvency and indebtedness of Konecranes
Group. Some of Konecranes’ loan agreements include a covenant measured by
Gearing percentage. Capital expenditure and Net working capital give additional
information on the cash flows and funding needs of Konecranes Group. Share-
related alternative performance measures enhance the information on equity,
cash flow and dividend attributable to the shareholders and development of
Konecranes' share value in the stock exchange.

**) Konecranes changed the reporting of orders received and net working capital in 2023.
Ordersreceived now alsoinclude the sales from the agreement base for the corresponding
period. Net working capital formula was changed to better meet the net working capital
definitionin the cash flow statement by excluding tax and other financial assets and liabilities.
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Reconciliation of certain alternative

performance measures

Reconciliation of comparable operating profit and comparable EBITA (MEUR) 2023 2022
Operating profit 402.5 223.2
Restructuring costs
Employment termination costs 21.7 4.8
Impairments of non-current assets 0.2 2.9
Impairments of inventories 1.4 4.8
Otherrestructuring costs andincome 3.1 4.5
Restructuring costs, total 26.4 17.0
Transaction and integration costs 0.0 8.7
Costsrelated to theimpacts of the warin Ukraine -9.2 37.8
Comparable operating profit 419.7 286.6
Purchase price allocation and goodwillimpairmentimpacts 31.0 31.8
Comparable EBITA 450.7 318.4
Reconciliation of interest-bearing net debt
Interest-bearing liabilities 954.9 1,106.2
Loansreceivable -2.5 -3.9
Cash and cash equivalents -586.6 -413.9
Interest-bearing net debt 365.8 688.4
Reconciliation of net working capital
Total current assets 2,5658.3 2,369.2
- Interest-bearing current assets -2.5 -3.9
- Otherfinancial assets -23.5 -43.7
-Income taxreceivables -16.5 -15.0
- Cash and cash equivalents -586.6 -413.9
Non-interest-bearing current assets 1,929.2 1,892.7
Total current liabilities -1,845.9 -1,480.8
- Currentinterest-bearing liabilities 227.2 49.8
- Other financial liabilities 1.3 15.9
- Income tax payables 51.8 31.7
Non-interest-bearing current liabilities -1,555.6 -1,383.5
Non-current provisions -20.0 -19.0
Net working capital 353.6 490.2

Transaction andintegration costsin 2022 relate to the cancelled merger with Cargotec Oyjj.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Financial Review
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Consolidated statement ofincome - IFRS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(1,000,000 EUR) Jan1-Dec 312023 Jan1-Dec 312022 (1,000,000 EUR) Jan1-Dec 312023 Jan1-Dec 312022
Note: Note:
3,56 Sales 3,966.3 3,364.8
Other operatingincome 9.5 8.1 Profit for the period 275.6 138.5
7 Materials, supplies and subcontracting -1,820.3 -1,510.2 Items that can be reclassified into profit
7,8 Personnel cost -1186.6 -1,091.9 orloss
9 Depreciation and impairments -114.9 -124.4 34 Cashflow hledges - 125 2.0
7 Other operating expenses -451.5 -423.2 ngquﬂ%%g'rgﬁgigces ontranslating -17.0 -3.2
n3 Income taxrelating toitems that canbe 25 _0.4
Operating profit 402.5 223.2 : reclassifiedinto profit orloss ' )
Items that cannot be reclassified into
416 Share of associates' and joint ventures' result 0.8 0.4 profitorloss
. o Re-measurement gains (losses) on
10 Financialincome 32.0 26.8 28 defined benefit plans -15.6 62.6
10 Financial expenses -67.7 -59.7 . .
n3 Income tax relating to items that cannot 45 187
) be reclassified into profit orloss ) '
Profit before taxes 367.6 190.7 Other comprehensive income 2181 42.3
for the period, net of tax . .
n Taxes -92.0 -52.2
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD B 180.8
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 275.6 138.5
Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Profit for the period attributable to Shareholders of the parent company 257.5 183.1
Shareholders of the parent company 275.6 140.3 Non-controlling interest 0.0 -2.3
Non-controlling interest 0.0 -1.8
12 Earnings per share, basic (EUR) 3.48 1.77
12 Earnings per share, diluted (EUR) 3.46 1.77

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

The accompanying notes form anintegral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet - IFRS

ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(1,000,000 EUR) Dec 31,2023 Dec 31,2022 (1,000,000 EUR) Dec 31,2023 Dec 31,2022
Note: Note:
Non-current assets Equity attributable to equity holders
13 Gooduwil 1,038.6 1,019.6 ofthe parent company
14 Intangible assets 4581 475.4 Share capngl S0 30.1
15 Property, plant and equipment 359.9 345.9 Shlarc.a premlum g 39.5
. Paidin capital 752.7 752.7
Constructionin progress 15.8 18.1 .
34 Fairvalue reserves 8.8 -1.1
16 Investments accounted for 6.9 78 : :
using the equity method Translation difference -8.7 8.3
Other non-current assets 0.8 0.8 Otherreserve 71.2 67.8
17 Deferred tax assets 13.9 103.8 Retained earnings 425.8 395.5
Total non-current assets 1,994.0 1,971.4 Net profit for the period 275.6 140.3
23 holderaof the parent company 1,594.8 1.432.9
16 Non-controllinginterest 0.0 0.1
Current assets -
18 Inventories 995.9 992.7 Total equity 1,594.8 1,433.0
19 Accountsreceivable 587.5 585.6 o
20 Otherreceivables 335 36.8 Non-currentliabilities
Income tax receivables 16.5 15.0 26,27,32 Interest-bearing I!ab!Iftfes 727.7 1,056.4
6 Contract assets 216.9 183.5 28 Otheﬁlong-term liabilities 232.5 217.7
32 Otherfinancial assets 23.5 43.7 24 Provisions e 19 19.0
21 Deferred assets 98.0 98.0 17 Deferred taxllabllmss. 131.6 133.7
22 Cash and cash equivalents 586.6 413.9 Total non-current liabilities 1,1M.7 1,426.8
Total current assets 2,558.4 2,369.2
Current liabilities
TOTAL ASSETS 4,552.4 4,340.6 26,27,32 Interest-bearing liabilities 227.2 49.8
6 Advance paymentsreceived 668.8 564.3
Accounts payable 313.4 306.2
24 Provisions 101.9 93.4
25 getgorei;;i;ort—term liabilities (non-interest- 61.9 56.1
32 Other financial liabilities 1.3 15.9
Income tax payables 51.8 31.7
éggréijsegncdossé?vriilgéed to delivered 181.9 165.1
25 Accruals 227.7 198.3
Total current liabilities 1,845.9 1,480.8
Total liabilities 2,957.6 2,907.6
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4,552.4 4,340.6

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

The accompanying notes form anintegral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changesinequity - IFRS

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company

pre?nhitalﬁ Paidin Cash flow Translation Other Retained contrylﬁ:; Total

(1,000,000 EUR) Share capital account capital hedges difference reserve earnings Total interest equity
Balance at 1January 2023 30.1 39.3 752.7 -1.1 8.3 67.8 535.8 1,432.9 0.1 1,433.0
Dividends paid to equity holders -99.0 -99.0 -99.0
(Enc(qjt‘tli;yz—g’s)ettled share-based payments 3.4 0.0 3.4 3.4
Acquisitions 0.0 0.0 -0.1 -0.1
Profit for the period 275.6 275.6 275.6
Other comprehensive income 10.0 -17.0 -11.1 -18.1 -18.1
Total comprehensive income 10.0 -17.0 264.5 257.5 0.0 257.5
Balance at 31 December 2023 30.1 39.3 752.7 8.9 -8.7 7.2 701.3 1,594.8 0.0 1,594.8
Balance at 1January 2022 30.1 39.3 752.7 -2.7 10.9 65.7 455.4 1,351.4 9.2 1,360.6
Dividends paid to equity holders -98.9 -98.9 -0.3 -99.2
(IEr::éL:i;yz—gs)ettled share-based payments 21 00 2] 2.1
Acquisitions -4.8 -4.8 -6.5 -1.3
Profit for the period 140.3 140.3 -1.8 138.5
Other comprehensive income 1.6 -2.6 43.8 42.8 -0.5 42.3
Total comprehensive income 1.6 -2.6 184.1 183.1 -2.3 180.8
Balance at 31December 2022 30.1 39.3 752.7 -1.1 8.3 67.8 535.8 1,432.9 0.1 1,433.0

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Consolidated cash flow statement - IFRS

(1,000,000 EUR)

Jan1-Dec 312023 Jan1-Dec 312022

(1,000,000 EUR)

Jan1-Dec 312023

Jan1-Dec 312022

Note: Note:
Cash flow from operating activities Cash flow from investing activities
Profit for the period 275.6 138.5 4 Acquisition of Group companies, net of cash -39.0 -1.6
Adjustments to net profit for the period 4 Divestment of businesses, net of cash 9.0 0.1
Taxes 92.0 52.2 Proceeds from disposal of associated 05 0.0
Financial income and expenses 35.7 329 company .
Share of associates' and joint ventures' 08 04 Capital expenditures -52.4 -44.7
result Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 6.5 26
Depreciation and impairments 114.9 124.4 equipment and other
Profits and losses on sale of fixed assets 02 24 NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES -75.4 -43.6
Other adjustments 3.5 -0.7 Cashflowb ‘ 819
nai ash flow before financing activities 481. 23.1
Operatingincomebefore change ?
Cash flow from financing activities
Changeininterest-free current receivables -23.0 -159.9 27.6 Proceeds from borrowings 0.0 600.0
Change ininventories -25.2 -264.4 27.6 Repayments of borrowings -160.6 -331.7
Changeininterest-free current liabilities 170.1 262.0 27.6 Repayments of lease liability -44] -44]
Change in net working capital 121.9 162.3 27.6 Eg??oevsﬂsggrom (+), payments of (-) current _04 437
ﬁﬁsh flow from operations before 642.6 182.2 Change inloans receivlabl.e 0.6 -1.2
ancing items and taxes Acquired non-controlling interest -0.1 -1.0
Dividends paid to equity holders of the -99.0 -98.9
Interest received 495 28.0 parentcompany
Interest paid _77.0 _56.5 Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 0.0 -0.3
Other financial income and expenses 27.3 _33.7 NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES -303.6 69.1
1 Income taxes paid -85.1 -53.3
Financing items and taxes -85.3 -115.5 Translation differencesin cash -5.6 1.0
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 557.3 66.7 CHANGE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 172.7 93.2
(C)Z?Fs)zraigg cash equivalents at beginning 413.9 320.7
22 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 586.6 413.9
CHANGE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 172.7 93.2

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

The effect of changesin exchange rates has been eliminated by converting the beginning balance at the

rates current onthe last day of the year.

The accompanying notes form anintegral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Corporate information

Konecranes Plc (‘Konecranes Group” or “the Group”) is
a Finnish public limited company organized under the
laws of Finland and domiciled with its principal place
of business in Hyvinkaa. The company s listed onthe
NASDAQ Helsinki.

Konecranes is a world-leading manufacturerand
servicer of cranes, lifting equipment and machine
tools, serving a broad range of customers, including
manufacturing and process industries, shipyards, ports
and terminals. Konecranes operates internationally,
withits products being manufacturedin North and
South America, Europe, Africa, the Middle East, and Asia
and sold worldwide. Konecranes has three reportable
segments: Service, Industrial Equipment and Port
Solutions.

2. Accounting principles

2.1. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Konecranes
Plc have been preparedinaccordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except foritems
that are required by IFRS to be measured at fair value,
principally certain financial instruments.

The consolidated financial statementsincluding notes
thereto are presented in millions of euros and all values

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

are rounded to the nearest million (€000,000) except
when otherwise indicated.

Due to the rounding, some totals might differ from
the sum of individual figures as calculations are done
originally in thousands of euros.

The financial statements were approved forissuance by
the Board of Directors on February 1,2024.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
consolidated balance sheet of Konecranes Plc and its
subsidiaries as at December 31,2023 and 2022 and the
consolidated statements of income and cash flows for
the periods ended December 31,2023 and 2022. Control
isachieved when the Group is exposed, or hasrights, to
variable returns fromits involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns throughits power
overtheinvestee. Specifically, the Group controls an
investee if, and only if, the Group has:

« Powerovertheinvestee (i.e., existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee)

o Exposure, orrights, to variable returns fromits
involvement with the investee

The ability to use its power over the investee to affect
itsreturns

Generally, thereis a presumption that majority of voting
rights resultin control. To support this presumption and
when the Group has less than majority of the voting or
similarrights of aninvestee, the Group considers all

relevant facts and circumstancesin assessing whetherit
has power overaninvestee, including:

e The contractual arrangement with the othervote
holders of the investee

« Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

« The Group’s votingrights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whetherornotit controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one ormore of the three elements of
control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when

the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are includedin
the consolidated financial statements from the date the
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit orloss and each component of other comprehensive
income (OCl) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
evenif thisresultsin the non-controllinginterests having a
deficitbalance. When necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policiesinto line with the Group’s accounting
policies. Allintra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminatedin fullon
consolidation.

Achangeinthe ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
aloss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes
therelated assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controllinginterest and other components of equity while
any resultant gain orlossis recognized in profit orloss. Any
investment retained is recognized at fair value.

Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significantinfluence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee butis not control orjoint control over
those policies.

Ajoint ventureis a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
haverights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
controlis the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’sinvestmentsinits associates and joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Underthis method, the consolidated financial statements
show the Group’sinvestment in and share of net assets
of the associate orjoint venture. Any premium over net
assets paidto acquire aninterestinanassociate or
jointventureisrecognized as goodwill within the same
line as the underlying investment. The statement of

profit orlossreflects the Group’s share of the results of
operations of the associate orjoint venture. Any change
in OCl of those investeesis presented as part of the
Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has beenachange
recognized directly in the equity of the associate orjoint
venture, the Group recognizes its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity.
Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and the associate orjoint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or
jointventure.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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After application of the equity method, the Group
determines whetheritis necessary torecognize an
impairment loss onitsinvestmentinits associate orjoint
venture. At eachreporting date, the Group determines
whether there is objective evidence that the investment
inthe associate orjoint venture isimpaired. If thereis such
evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment
as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate orjoint venture andits carrying value, and then
recognizes the loss as share of profit of anassociate and a
joint venture in the statement of profit orloss.

2.2. Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the financial statementsin
accordance with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the valuation of
reported assets and liabilities and otherinformation,
such as contingent liabilities and recognition of
income and expenses in the statement of income.
These assumptions, estimates and judgments are
based on management’s historical experience, best
knowledge about the events and other factors, such
as expectations on future events, which the company
assesses to bereasonableinthe given circumstances.
Although these estimates and judgments are based
onthe management’s best understanding of current
events and circumstances, actual results may differ from
the estimates. Changesin estimates and assumptions
arerecognized in the financial period the estimate or
assumptionis changed.

The mostimportantitemsin the consolidated financial
statements, which require management’s estimates and
thatinvolve complex and subjective judgments and the
use of assumptions, some of which may be for matters
that are inherently uncertain and susceptible to change,
are impairment testing, recognition of deferred taxes,
measurement of the fair value of assets and actuarial
assumptionsin defined benefit plans, and percentage of
completionrevenue recognitioninlong term projects.

Financial Review

Impairment testing

Therecoverable amount for goodwill has been
determined based on the value in use of the relevant cash
generating unit to which the goodwillis allocated. The
recoverable amounts of all materialintangible assets and
property, plant and equipment have also been based on
theirvalue inuse. The impairment testing of goodwillis
based onnumerous judgmental estimates of the present
value of the cash flows which affect the valuation of the
cash generating units (CGU) pertaining to the goodwill.
Cash flow forecasts are made based on CGU specific
historical data, order book, the current market situation,
and industry specific information of the future growth
possibilities. These assumptions are reviewed annually as
part of the management's annual and strategic planning
cycles and can be subject to significant adjustment as
arising from the development of the global economy,
pressure from competitors’ products, climate risks and
opportunities as well as changesin raw material prices and
operating expenses. The value of the benefits and savings
from the efficiency improvement programs already
announced andincluded in certain cash flow estimates
are also subjective and based on the management's
best estimate of theimpact. The fairvalue of the CGUs

is determined using a derived weighted average cost

of capital as the rate to discount estimated future cash
flows. The discount rate used may not be indicative of
actualrates obtainedinthe marketsin the future. See
note13.

Business Combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the
acquisition method according to which the acquired
company’sidentifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities are measured at fair value on the date of
acquisition. The excess of the consideration transferred
forthe business combination over the acquirer’sinterest
inthe net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
measurement of fair value of the acquired net assets
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is based on market value of similar assets (property,
plant and equipment), or an estimate of expected cash
flows (intangible assets). The valuation, whichis based

on prevailingrepurchase value, expected cash flows or
estimated sales price, requires management judgement,
estimates and assumptions. See note 4.

Recognition of deferred taxes

The ultimate realization of deferred tax assetsis
dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible orinwhich tax

losses can be utilized. The tax effect of unused tax
lossesisrecognized as a deferred tax asset whenit
becomes probable that the tax losses will be utilized.
Inmaking assessments regarding deferred tax assets,
management considers the scheduledreversal

of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income and tax planning strategies. The actual current
tax exposure is estimated together with assessing
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment
of items, such as depreciation, provisions and accruals,
fortax and accounting purposes. Whenrecording the
deferred tax assets, judgments have been based on the
estimates of the taxable income in each subsidiary and
countryin which Konecranes operates, and the period
overwhich the deferred tax assets will be recoverable
based onthe estimated future taxable income and
planned tax strategies to utilize these assets. The amount
of deferred tax assets considered realizable could
howeverbereducedinsubsequent years if estimates
of future taxable income during their carry forward
periods are reduced, orrulings by the tax authorities are
unfavorable. Estimates are therefore subject to change
due to both market related and tax authorities related
uncertainties, as well as Konecranes’ own future decision
matters such as restructuring. Konecranes is unable to
accurately quantify the future adjustments to deferred
income tax expense that may occur as aresult of these
uncertainties. See note 17.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Actuarial assumptions in defined benefit plans

The net pension liability and expense for defined benefit
plansis based onvarious actuarial assumptions such

as the assumed discount rate, expected development

of salaries and pensions and mortality rates. Significant
differences between assumptions and actual experience,
or significant changesin assumptions, may materially
affect the pension obligations. The effects of actual
results differing from assumptions and the changing of
assumptions are included in Remeasurement gains/loss
on defined benefit plansin other comprehensive income.
Discount rates are determined annually based on changes
inlong-term, high-quality corporate bondyields.

Decreasesinthe discountratesresultinanincreasein
the defined benefit obligation and in pension costs.
Conversely, anincrease in the discountrateresultsina
decreaseinthe defined benefit obligation andin pension
costs. Increases and decreases in mortality rates have
aninverse impact on the defined benefit obligation and
pension costs. Increases and decreases in salary and
pension growth rates have a direct correlatingimpact on
the defined benefit obligation and pension costs.

The assumed discountrate, which is based onrates
observed at the end of the preceding financial year,

may not be indicative of actual ratesrealized. The actual
development of salaries and pensions may not reflect the
estimated future development due to the uncertainty of
the global economy and various other factors. Konecranes
uses generational mortality tables to estimate probable
future mortality improvements. These tables assume

that the trend of increasing life expectancy will continue,
resultingin pension benefit payments to younger
members being likely to be paid forlonger time periods
than oldermembers’ pensions, given that assumed
retirement ages are those defined in the rules of each plan.

The funded status, which canincrease or decrease based
on the performance of the financial markets or changes

Financial Review

in our assumptions, does not represent amandatory
short-term cash obligation. Instead, the funded status of
a defined benefit pension planis the difference between
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of the
planassets. See note 28.

Revenue recognition over time in long-term projects
Konecranes applies the percentage of completion
method forrecognizing revenue over time from certain
long-term large crane projects and modernizations
inaccordance with IFRS 15 Revenue Recognition. The
percentage of completionis based onthe cost-to-cost
method. Under this method, the progress of contracts
ismeasured by actual costsincurredinrelationto the
management's best estimate of total estimated costs at
completion, which are reviewed and updated routinely
forcontractsinprogress. The cumulative effect of any
changein estimateisrecordedin the periodin which the
changein estimate is determined.

The percentage of completion method of accounting
involves the use of assumptions and projections,
principally relating to future material, labor and project-
related overhead costs. Asaconsequence, thereisa

risk that total contract costs will exceed those originally
estimated and the margin will decrease, or the contract
may become unprofitable. Thisriskincreases as the
duration of a contractincreases because thereisa

higher probability that the circumstances upon which the
estimates were originally based will change, resultingin
increased costs that may not be recoverable. Factors
that could cause costs toincrease include: unanticipated
technical problems with equipment supplied or
developed by us which may require us to incur additional
coststoremedy, changesinthe cost of components,
materials orlabor, project modifications creating
unanticipated costs, suppliers’ or subcontractors’

failure to perform, and delays caused by unexpected
conditions or events. By recognizing changes in estimates
cumulatively, recordedrevenue and costs to date reflect
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the current estimates at the stage of completion foreach
project. Additionally, losses onlong-term contracts are
recognized in the period when they are identified and are
based uponthe anticipated excess of contract costs over
therelated contractrevenues.

The warin Ukraine

The impacts of the warin Ukraine on estimatesinthe
financial reporting rely on the management's best
judgement. The Group has assessed the impacts to
goodwill, otherintangible and tangible assets as part of
the impairment testing process, and to defined benefit
plans, provisions, valuation of inventory, recoverability
of deferred tax assets and collectability of account
receivables as part of the regular reporting process.

Konecranes operates a crane and component factory

in Zaporizhzhia, in the south-eastern part of Ukraine.

The production at the Ukrainian factory was stopped
immediately after the warin Ukraine started. The
productionhas beenredirected to other Konecranes
manufacturing sites. As the level of uncertainty regarding
Konecranes’ operations in Ukraine remains high due to the
ongoing war, Konecranes hasimpaired all Ukraine-related
assets, includinginventories and receivables. Konecranes
has also decided not to take any business from Russia.
The war has increased market volatility and uncertainty by
increasing costinflation and global material availability
concerns and other supply chainissues. See note 24.

Climate risks and opportunities

The biggest climate-relatedrisks are physical risks
related to own operations and supply chain, transitional
risks related to technological decisions, and market

risks related to costimpacts. Market risks canrelate to
increased production costs due to changinginput prices
(energy, raw materials etc.) and output requirements (for
example waste treatment). Technological development
pressure in carbon-intensive industries might also
increase the development costs as well as the availability

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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of technology orkey components. Forexample, the
widespread electrification trend might cause availability
risks inbatteries. The potential physicalrisks are mostly
related to transportation or productionlocations. An
increase in extreme weather conditions could especially
affect our craneinstallations and project sites. Heavy
rain, storm or floods might put only few of our production
sites at risk. Extreme weather conditions can also have
apotentialimpact on the shipment of our products or
spare parts. Konecranes takes advantage of findings
from climate risk scenario analysisinits risk management.
Having a continuance plan for production changes due to
e.g., extreme weather conditions lowers the interruption
risk for production.

Signals from the markets, legislation development,
voluntary agreements made by industries, customer
feedback andrequests for quotations allindicate that

the demand forlow-emission products and services will
continue toincrease. As Konecranes already has energy
efficient productsinall product segments available

and focuses on continuous product development and
technologicalimprovements, the growing demand for low-
emission products presents an opportunity - especially in
traditional diesel engine powered product segments such
as Ports Solutions. Konecranes' service business advances
circulareconomy by focusing on extending product
lifecycles. By maintaining the equipment, Konecranes

can extend the lifetime of the equipment and create
significant raw material and emission savings. Konecranes
offers several retrofit solutions for customers toreduce
emissions, increase fuel efficiency and update technology
to current standards. Modernizing an old crane instead

of purchasing a new one saves hundreds of tons of steel.
Modernizations and retrofits also enhance the energy
efficiency and performance of the equipment.

Konecranes has set Science Based Emission Targets
forits operations as well as for the value chain that are in
line with the goal to limit global warming to 1.5°C. 99% of

Financial Review

the emissions originate from the value chain. Most of the
emissions arise from the emission categories “purchased
goods and services” and “the use of sold products”.

This commitment guides Konecranes to make more
strategic decisions related to increasing the share of
eco-optimized portfolio, including electrification, and
investigate new technologies that help our customers to
transition to alow carbon future.

Climate risks might have a significantimpact on our
operations, which requires significantjudgment, for
example, inrevenue recognition (especially inlong-term
projects), provisions, collectability of accountsreceivable
andimpairment of assets. The evaluation of the overall
climate risk and opportunity impacts canbe complicated
as the effects of the risks and opportunities can be difficult
to estimate or quantify. Theimpacts of climate change
onthe estimates and assumptions used in the financial
reportingrely onthe management's best judgement and
knowledge underthe current circumstances.

2.3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at an amount of consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitledin exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer and
to the extent thatitis probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Company, that revenue can bereliably
measured, and that collectability is reasonably assured.
Revenueis measured at the fair value of the consideration
received orreceivable. The creditworthiness of the buyeris
assessed before engaginginto a sale. However, if arisk of
non-payment arises after revenue recognition, a provision
fornon-collectability is established.

The company recognizes revenue whenit satisfies
anidentified performance obligation by transferring
promised goods or services to the customer. Goods and
services are generally considered to be transferred when
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the customer obtains the control overit. Control means
that the customer can direct the use of and obtain benefit
from the good and service and also prevent others from
directing the use of and receiving the benefits from them.
Thus, the customer has sole possession of the right to use
the good orservice for the remainder of its economic life
orto consume the good or service inits own operations.

The transaction price is usually fixed but may also include
variable considerations such as volume or cash discounts
or penalties. Variable considerationisincludedin the
revenue only to the extent thatitis highly probable that
the amount will not be subject to significant reversal when
the uncertainty isresolved. The variable considerations
are estimated using the most likely value method if not yet
realized at the end of the reporting period. If the contract
is separated into more than one performance obligation,
Konecranes allocates the total transaction price to

each performance obligation based on the estimated
relative standalone selling prices of the promised

goods orservicesineach performance obligation, orif
the standalone selling prices do not exist, Konecranes
typically uses the expected cost plus a margin approach
to estimate the standalone selling price.

Contract assetsrelate toreceivables arising from
percentage of completion method. Net asset balances
are balances where the sum of contract costs, recognized
profits and recognized losses exceed advance payments
received. Where advance payments received exceed

the sum of contract costs, recognized profits, and
recognized losses, these liabilities are includedin the
line-item advance paymentsreceived. Contract assets
are subject toimpairment assessment. See also financial
assets at amortized cost.

Nature of goods and services and timing of satisfaction of
performance obligations and significant payment terms
The Service segment principally generates revenue from
providing maintenance and consultative services as well
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as spare parts forall types and makes of industrial cranes
and hoists. Service also provides modernizations which
are complete transformations of existing cranes as an
alternative toreplacing them. Revenue from servicesis
recognized when the outcome of the transaction canbe
estimatedreliably and by customer acknowledgement
forthe completion of the service work or by reference to
the stage of completion based on services performed

at the end of the reporting periodif it can be measured.
The assessment of the stage of completionis dependent
onthe nature of the contract but will generally be based
on costsincurredto the extent theserelate to services
performed up to the reporting date. Inmodernization
projects, the customer typically controls the assets that
are enhanced; thus the revenue is recognized over time
according to the percentage of completion method.
Inthe spare parts business, the transfer of controland
revenue recognition usually takes place eitherwhen goods
are shipped or made available to the buyer for shipment,
depending on the terms of the contract, orwhen the
customer has accepted the delivery. Usually, customers
pay according to agreed payment terms after the services
and products have been delivered. Sometimesitis
required that the paymentis doneinadvance. Inthese
cases, forexample in annual maintenance contracts, the
payment is periodized to meet the revenue recognition
inaccordance with the delivery of services and goods.
Inmodernization projects, the customers are typically
required to make advance payments according to the
milestones defined in the modernization project contract.

The Industrial Equipment segment generates revenue
from hoists, cranes and material handling solutions fora
wide range of customers. For standard equipment and
components, the revenueisrecognized when goods
are shipped or made available to the buyer for shipment,
depending on the terms of the contract, orwhen the
customer has accepted the delivery, whichis typically
aninstalled crane. The revenue fromlarge, engineered
crane projectsisrecognized over time according to
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the percentage of completion (POC) method as those
contracts are specifically negotiated for the construction
of anasset oracombination of assets that are closely
interrelated orinterdependentin terms of their design,
technology and function or their ultimate purpose or use.
Konecranesis then also entitled to anamount that at least
compensates the entity for performance completed to
date evenif the customer can terminate the contract for
reasons other than our failure to perform as promised. In
general, the warranty period for cranes is two years for
which the Group records a warranty provision based on
historical data. The revenue for an extended warranty is
recognized over the extended warranty period. Incrane
projects, the customers are typically required to make
advance paymentsinaccordance with the milestones
definedin the crane project contract.

The Port Solutions segment generates revenue from
container handling equipment, shipyard equipment,
mobile harbor cranes, heavy-duty lift trucks and Port
Solutionsrelated software. Allequipment deliveries are
supported by acomplete range of services. Most of the
containerhandling and shipyard equipment are tailored
and engineered to the customer needs, so the revenue
from these projectsis recognized over time according

to the percentage of completion (POC) method as those
contracts are specifically negotiated for the construction
of anasset oracombination of assets that are closely
interrelated orinterdependentin terms of their design,
technology and function or their ultimate purpose or use.
Konecranesis then also entitled to anamount that at least
compensates the entity for performance completed to
date evenif the customer can terminate the contract for
reasons other than our failure to perform as promised. The
revenue from lift trucks and standard port equipmentis
recognized when goods are shipped or made available
to the buyer for shipment, depending on the terms of

the contract, orwhen the customerhas acceptedthe
delivery. The general warranty period for port equipment
varies to some extent depending on the components
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usedinthe projects. Fora general warranty, the Group
records awarranty provision based on historical data. The
revenue from a possible extended warranty is recognized
over the extended warranty period. In Port Solutions
projects, the customers are typically required to make
advance payments according to the milestones defined
inthe project contract. The advance payments from
clients do not generally include a significant financing
component, because typically the payment schedule of
advances follows the timing of performance obligations
to be satisfied.

Measurement of stage of completion for performance
obligations satisfied over time

The stage of completion of a contractis determined

by the proportion that the contract costsincurred for

the work performed to date bear to the estimated total
contract costs (cost-to-cost method) at completion.
This best depicts the transfer of control to the customer,
which occurs as we incur costs in our contracts. When the
final outcome of a project cannot be reliably determined,
the costs arising from the project are expensedin the
same reporting period in which they occur, but the
revenue from the projectis recorded only to the extent
that the Group will receive an amount corresponding to
actual costs. An expectedloss onacontractisrecognized
immediately in the statement of income. Revenuein
respect of variations to the contract scope and claimsis
recognized whenitis probable that it will be received and
canbe measuredreliably.

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed asincurred. The development
expenditure of anindividual projectis recognized as an
intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:

e Thetechnical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset sothatit will be available foruse or sale.

¢ Itsintentionto complete andits ability to use or sell the
asset.
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e How the asset will generate future economic benefits.

e The availability of resources to complete the asset.

e The ability to reliably measure the expenditure during
development.

Amortization of capitalized development costs begins
when developmentis complete, and the assetis available
foruse.

Comparable EBITA (alternative performance measure)
The Group uses comparable EBITA as an alternative
performance measure to reflect the underlying business
performance and to enhance comparability between
financial periods. Itis frequently used by management,
analysts and investors. Comparable operating profit
before amortization and impairment of purchase price
allocations (a non-GAAP measure) represents earnings
from continuing operations before income taxes (a

GAAP measure), excluding restructuring, transaction
andrestructuring related assetimpairment costs as well

as otheradjusting items, amortization and impairment

of purchase price allocations and financialincome and
expense. Alternative performance measures should not be
considered as a substitute formeasures of performance in
accordance withtheIFRS. See also note 3.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net
income from continuing operations and netincome
from discontinued operations all attributable to ordinary
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share
are calculated by assuming conversion or exercise of all
potentially dilutive share-based payment plans.

Dividend distribution

The company recognizes a liability to make dividend
distributions to equity holders when the distributionis
approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount
isrecognized directly in equity.
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Employee benefits

Konecranes companies have various pension plans
inaccordance with local conditions and practices.
Pensions are generally managed for the Group
companies by external pension insurance companies

or by similar arrangements. These pension plans are
classified either as defined contribution or defined
benefit plans. Under defined contribution plans,
expenses are recognized for the period to which

the contributionrelates. The Group hasnolegal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay employee
benefits. The Konecranes Group accounts for the Finnish
systemunder the Employees’ Pensions Act (TyEL) within
insurance system as a defined contribution plan.

Under defined benefit plans, aliability recognizedin the
balance sheet equals to the net of the present value

of the defined benefit obligation (calculated using the
Projected Unit Credit Method) less the fair value of the
planassets at the balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and
losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of
other comprehensive income as remeasurement items
when they occur. Remeasurementrecorded in other
comprehensive income is not recycled. Past service
costisrecognizedin the statement of profit orlossin the
period of planamendment. Netinterestis calculated

by applying the discount rate to the net defined liability
orasset. Independent actuaries calculate the defined
benefit obligation by applying the Projected Unit Credit
Method. The Group presents service cost, past-service
cost, gains andlosses on curtailments and settlements
and netinterest expense orincome as Personnel cost -
Pension costs: Defined benefit plansin the statement of
income (see note 8).

Aliability for termination benefitisrecognized at the
earlier of when the entity can nolonger withdraw the offer
of the termination benefit and when the entity recognizes
any relatedrestructuring costs.
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Share-based payments

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group and
its subsidiaries receive remunerationin the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services

as consideration forequity instruments (equity-settled
transactions) orreceive settlementin cash (cash-settled
transactions).

Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactionsis determined by
the fairvalue at the date when the grantis made using an
appropriate valuation model.

That costisrecognized, togetherwith a corresponding
increase in otherreservesin equity, over the periodin
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilledin Personnel cost - Other personnel expense
inthe statement of income. The cumulative expense
recognized for equity-settled transactions at each
reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
willultimately vest. The expense or creditrecordedin
the statement of income for a period represents the
movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognized forawards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions for
which vestingis conditional upon a market ornon-vesting
condition. These are treated as vestingirrespective of
whether ornot the market or non-vesting conditionis
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
the minimum expense recognized is the expense had
the terms not been modified, if the original terms of the
award are met. An additional expenseisrecognized for
any modification that increases the total fair value of
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the share-based payment transaction oris otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

The tax laws orregulations usually oblige Konecranes

to withhold an amount foran employee's tax obligation
associated with a share-based payment and transfer
that amount, normally in cash, to the tax authority on the
employee's behalf. To fulfil this obligation, the terms

of the share-based payment arrangement permit
Konecranes to withhold the number of equity instruments
equal to the monetary value of the employee's tax
obligation from the total number of equity instruments
that otherwise would have beenissued to the employee
upon vesting of the share-based payment. This share-
based payment arrangement with a net settlement
featureis classifiedinits entirety as an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction and the payment
made shall be accounted for as a deduction from equity
for the shares withheld.

Cash-settled transactions

The cost of cash-settled transactions, which is usually
related to the additional employee social cost or taxes

of the share-based payments, is measured initially at fair
value at the grant date using a binomial model. This fair
value is expensed over the period until the vesting date
withrecognition of a corresponding liability. The liability is
remeasured to fairvalue at each reporting date up to, and
including, the settlement date, with changesin fairvalue
recognizedin Personnel cost - Other personnel expenses
inthe statement of income (see Note 8).

Foreign currency translation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are
reportedineuros, whichis the Group’s presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determinesits own
functional currency, and items includedin the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency.
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Transactions and balances

Transactionsin currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognized by the Group
entities at theirrespective functional currency rates
prevailing at the date of the transaction. At the end of each
reporting period, foreign currency monetary items are
retranslated at the functional currency spot exchange rate
ineffect at the reporting date. The resulting foreign currency
exchange differences are recordedin the statement of
income with the exception of differences that arise from
monetary items that provide an effective hedge foranet
investmentin aforeign operation (such asintragroup

loans where settlementis neither planned norlikely to
occurinthe foreseeable future). These are recognized

in other comprehensive income until the disposal of the
netinvestment, at which time they are recognizedin the
income statement. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences onthose monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensiveincome.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical costinaforeign currency are translated using
the exchangerates as of the date of the initial transaction.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fairvalue is determined.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translatedinto euros at the rate of exchange prevailing
atthereporting date and theirincome statements are
translated at average exchange rates for the period.

The exchange differences arising from the translation
are recognized in other comprehensive income. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operationisrecognizedinthe income statement.

Any goodwill arising from the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
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amounts of assets and liabilities arising from the
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closingrate.

Income tax

Taxes shownin the consolidated statement ofincome
include income taxes to be paid on the basis of local tax
legislations, tax adjustments from previous years as well
as the effect of the annual change in the deferred tax
balances. Taxes are calculated using rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxliabilities and deferred tax assets are
calculated forall temporary differences arising between
the tax basis and the book value of assets and liabilities.
Deferredtaxis not recognized fornon-deductible
goodwill oninitial recognition and temporary differences
ininvestments in subsidiaries to the extent that they
probably willnot reverse in the foreseeable future.

The main temporary differences arise from unused tax
losses, depreciation differences, provisions, defined
benefit pension plans, inter-company inventory margin
and derivative financial instruments. In connection with
an acquisition, the Group records provisions for deferred
taxes on the difference between the fairvalues of the net
assetsacquired and theirtaxbases. A deferred tax asset
isrecognized to the extent thatitis probable thatit can
be utilized.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the
acquisition method according to which the acquired
company’sidentifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities are measured at fair value on the date of
acquisition. The excess of the consideration transferred
forthe business combination over the acquirer’sinterest
inthe net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilitiesisrecorded as goodwill. Foreach
acquisition, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree,
if any, can be recognized either at fairvalue or at the
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non-controllinginterest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets. If the purchase considerationis less
than the fairvalue of the Group’s share of the net assets
acquired, the differenceisrecognized directly through
the profit and loss. Direct acquisition transaction costs
are expensed as incurred.

Assets held for sale

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal
groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a disposal rather than
through continuing use. Such non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
coststosell.

The criteria forheld for sale classification are regarded as
met only when the sale is highly probable, and the asset
ordisposal groupis available forimmediate disposalin

its present condition. Actions required to complete the
disposal should indicate thatitis unlikely that significant
changesto the disposal willbe made or that the decision
to dispose will be withdrawn. Management must be
committed to the disposal expected within one year from
the date of the classification.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
not depreciated or amortized once classified as held for
sale.

Intangible assets

Intangible assetsinclude service contracts, patents

and trademarks as well as software licenses and
implementation costs. Intangible assets acquired
separately are measured oninitial recognition at cost.
The cost of intangible assets acquiredin a business
combinationis their fair value at the date of acquisition.
Intangible assets with definite useful life are amortized
on the straight-line basis over expected useful lives,
which may vary from 5 to 20 years with service contracts
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and patents and trademarks and from 4 to 7 years with
software licenses. They are assessed forimpairment
whenever there is anindication that the intangible asset
may be impaired.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are not
amortized, but they are tested annually forimpairment
ina manner equivalent to that for testing goodwill.

The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to
be supportable. If not, the change inuseful life from
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwillacquired in abusiness combinationis

tested forimpairment annually or whenever events or
changesincircumstancesindicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combinationis, from the acquisition date, allocated

to each of the Group’s cash generating units that are
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets orliabilities of the acquiree

are assigned to those units. If the carrying amount for

a CGU exceedsitsrecoverable amount, animpairment
loss equal to the difference isrecognized. Konecranes
uses a discounted cash flow analyses to assess the

fair value of goodwill. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. The Group bases
itsimpairment calculation on detailed budgets and
forecast calculations, which are prepared separately for
each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets
are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations
cover a period of five years. A previously recognized
impairment loss on goodwillis not reversed eveniif there
is a significantimprovement in circumstances having
initially caused the impairment.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at costless
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Depreciationisrecorded on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful economic life of the assets as
follows:

e Buildings
e Machinery and equipment

10-40years
3-10years

No depreciationisrecorded for land.

Improvements made for existing property, plant and
equipment that will provide future economic benefit are
capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful
life of the asset.

Forleasedright-of-use assets, please see the accounting
principles section for leases.

Impairment of assets subject to amortization and
depreciation

The carrying values of intangible assets subject to
amortization, property, plant and equipment and
investmentsin associates andjoint ventures are
reviewed forimpairment whenever events and changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not berecoverable. If such anindication
exists, the recoverable amount of the assets willbe
estimated.

The recoverable amountis the higher of the asset’s
fairvalue less selling costs and value in use which is

the present value of the cash flows expected from

the asset’s use and eventual disposal. Animpairment
lossisrecognizedin the statement of income when

the recoverable amount of an assetisless thanits
carrying amount. Impairment losses on these assets
arereversed if theirrecoverable amounts subsequently
increase.
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Valuation of inventories

Raw materials and supplies are valued at the acquisition
costor,if lower, at the netrealizable value. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less estimated costs of completionand

the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Semi-
manufactured goods are valued at variable production
costsincluding a share of production overheads based
onnormal capacity. Work in progress of uncompleted
ordersincludes directlaborand material costs, as well as
a proportion of overhead costs related to production and
installation. Raw materials and supplies are valued using
the weighted average cost or the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
basis. The inventory stock obsolescence provisionis
based on the best estimate of slow-moving and obsolete
inventory at the balance sheet date. The estimates are
based onfrequentreview and evaluation of inventory
ageing and composition.

Account and other receivables

Account and otherreceivables are initially recorded at
fairvalue after which they are subsequently measured

at amortized cost. Accountreceivablesrepresent the
Group’sright to an amount of consideration that s
unconditional(i.e., only the passage of time is required
before payment of the considerationis due). The
provision for doubtfulaccountsis estimated based on
the Group’s historical creditloss experience adjusted
with current conditions and reasonable and supportable
forecasts about the future. The effectisrecognizedin the
statement of income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and
deposits with banks and otherliquid investments that
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to aninsignificant risk
of changesinvalue as the instruments have a maturity
of three months orless from the date of acquisition.
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Bank overdrafts are includedin currentinterest-bearing
liabilities.

Fair value measurement

Fairvalue is the price that would be received from
sellinganasset orpaid to transfer aliability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. The Group
categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value
into one of three levels depending on the ability to
observe inputs employed in theirmeasurement. Level 1
inputs are quoted pricesin active markets foridentical
assets orliabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs that are
observable, either directly orindirectly, otherthan quoted
pricesincluded within level 1for the asset orliability. Level
Jinputs are unobservable inputs for the asset orliability
reflecting significant modifications to observable related
market data or Konecranes’ assumptions about pricing by
market participants.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group’s global operations expose it to currency risk
andto alesserextentinterestraterisk.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, primarily
forward contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge

its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations
relating to certain commitments and forecasted
transactions and interest rate risks. Derivative financial
instruments are used forhedging purposesinaccordance
with the Group’s hedging policy and not for speculative
purposes. These instruments are initially recognized at fair
value at the derivative contract date and are re-measured
to fairvalue at subsequentreporting dates. Derivatives
are presented as financial assets when the fairvalue is
positive and as financial liabilities when the fairvalue is
negative.

For certainlarge crane projects, the Group applies hedge
accounting. The Group designates hedges of the foreign
currency risk of firm commitments and highly probable
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forecasted transactions to a cash flow hedge. Changes

in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are
designated as effective hedges of future cash flows are
recognized directly in other comprehensive income, while
the ineffective portionisrecognized immediately in the
income statement. See note 34.

Amountsrecognized as OCl are transferred to profit or
loss when the hedged transaction affects profit orloss,
such as when the hedged financialincome or financial
expense isrecognized orwhen aforecast sale occurs.
When the hedgeditemis the cost of a non-financial asset
ornon-financial liability, the amounts recognized as OCI
are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-
financial asset or liability.

If the hedginginstrument expires oris sold, terminated
or exercised without replacement orrollover (as part of
the hedging strategy), orif its designation as ahedge
isrevoked, or when the hedge no longer meets the
criteria forhedge accounting, any cumulative gain or
loss previously recognized in OClremains separately
in equity until the forecast transaction occurs or the
foreign currency firm commitment is met. If ahedged
transactionisnolongerexpectedto occur, the

net cumulative gain orloss recognized in the other
comprehensive income is transferred to profit orloss for
the period.

Changesin the fair value of derivative financial instruments
that do not qualify forhedge accounting are recognized
inthe statement of income as they arise.

The Group does not apply fair value hedging.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified, atinitial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; financial
assets at fairvalue through OCI; or financial assets at
amortized cost. Financial assets are classified according
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to their cash flow characteristics and the business model
they are managed in. Trade day accountingis applied
toregular purchases and sales of financial assets. They
include account and otherreceivables, interest-bearing
investments and derivative financial instruments. The
subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification, as follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate method.
Accountreceivables and otherreceivables are
recognized at their anticipatedrealizable value, whichis
the originalinvoice amount less an estimated provision
fordoubtfulaccounts forimpairment. The increasein
the creditrisk for financial assets measured at amortized
costis assessed at the end of the reporting period.

The creditloss allowance is estimated based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience adjusted with
current conditions andreasonable and supportable
forecasts about the future. The Group applies the
simplified approach torecord expected credit losses
onitsaccountsreceivable by using a provision matrix
where accountsreceivable is grouped based on different
customer bases and different historical loss patterns.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest-bearinginvestments, which are non-derivative
financial assets and have fixed or determinable payments
and are not quoted on active markets, are measured at
fairvalue through the statement of income. This category
alsoincludes derivatives that do not qualify forhedge
accounting.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Derivatives that qualify forhedge accounting are
classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The treatment of gains and
losses arising fromrevaluationis described above inthe

Financial Review

accounting policy for derivative financial instruments and
hedge accounting.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities
at fairvalue through profit orloss; financial liabilities
at fair value through other comprehensive income;
oras financial liabilities measured at amortized cost,
as appropriate. Financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, finance debt and derivative financial
instruments. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. The
measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification, as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit orloss are
carried on the balance sheet at fair value with gains or
losses recognizedinthe income statement. Derivatives,
otherthanthose designated as effective hedging
instruments, are classified as held for trading and are
included in this category.

Financial liabilities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

These financial liabilities are typically derivatives
designated forhedge accounting and are carried on the
balance sheet at fairvalue. The treatment of gains and
losses arising fromrevaluation is described above in the
accounting policy for derivative financial instruments and
hedge accounting.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

All other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair
value. Forinterest-bearingloans and borrowings, thisis
the fairvalue of the proceedsreceived net of issue costs
associated with the borrowing. Afterinitial recognition,
other financial liabilities are subsequently measured
atamortized cost using the effective interest method.
Amortized costis calculated by taking into account any
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issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.
Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement
or cancellation of liabilities are recognized respectively
ininterest and other finance income and finance costs.
This category of financial liabilities includes accounts
payables andinterest-bearingliabilities.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the
netamount reportedin the consolidated statement of
financial positionif, and only if, there is a currently existing,
legally enforceable, unconditional right of offset that
applies to all counterparties of the financial instruments

in all situations, including both normal operations and
insolvency.

Derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets have expired orthe
Group has transferreditsrights to receive cash flow;
and either the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the assets, or the Group has neither
transferred norretained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the assets but has transferred the control of
the assets.

Financial liability is derecognized when the obligation

is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing loan are substantially modified, such an exchange
ormodificationis accounted for as an extinguishment of
the original liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability. The difference between the respective carrying
amountsis recognizedin the income statement

Provisions

Provisions are recognized in the balance sheet when
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as aresult of apasteventanditis considered probable

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
areliable estimate canbe made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions may arise from restructuring plans,
onerous contracts, guarantees and warranties, among
otherevents. Obligations arising from restructuring
plans are recognized when the detailed and formal
restructuring plans have been established, the personnel
concerned have beeninformed andwhenthereisa

valid expectation that the plan will be implemented.

The warranty provisionis based on the history of past
warranty costs and claims on delivered products
underwarranty. Additionally, warranty provisions can

be established on a case by case basis to take into
consideration the potentially increased risks.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, forexample, under aninsurance contract, the
reimbursementis recognized as a separate asset, but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Leases

The Group assesses at contractinception whethera
contractis, orcontains, alease. Thatis, if the contract
conveys theright to control the use of anidentified asset
foraperiod of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as alessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approachforallleases, except forshort-termleases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. assetis available
foruse). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted forany remeasurement of lease liabilities. The

Financial Review

cost of right-of-use assetsincludes the amount of lease
liabilities recognized, possible initial costincurred, lease
payments made before the commencement date and
less any lease incentives received. The recognized right-
of-use assets are mainly rentals of premises and vehicles
which are typically depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and estimated useful life
of the asset. Right-of-use assets are subject to possible
impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of alease, the Group
recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present
value of the lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease paymentsinclude fixed payments less
any leaseincentives, variable lease payments that
dependonanindexorarate and amounts expected to
be paid underresidual value guarantees. The variable
lease payments that do not depend onanindexorarate
arerecognized as expense in the period inwhich the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. In
calculating the present value of the lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowingrate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicitin the
leaseis not determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilitiesis increased toreflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
isremeasured if there is a modification, achangeinlease
term, achangein the fixed lease payments orachangein
the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-termlease recognition
exemptiontoits short-termleases of machinery and
equipment (i.e. those leases that have alease term

of 12 months orless from the commencement date

and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies
the recognition exemption to equipment that are
considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term
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leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as
an expense over the lease term.

Judgment in determining the lease term

The Group has various lease agreements for office
equipment, vehicles and premises with varying terms and
renewal rights. The Group determines the lease term as
the non-cancellable term of the lease together with any
periods covered by an option to extend or early terminate
theleaseifitisreasonably certain to be exercised. The
Group uses judgment especially for the use of extension
options as well as when defining the lease term for
open-end lease agreements so that they are based
onthe businessrequirements, factors that create an
economic incentive andreal estimated useful lifetime of
the underlying asset.

Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement has been preparedin
accordance with the indirect method. In the cash flow
statement, a distinctionis made between cash flows
from operating, investing and financing activities.
Currency differences on cash and cash equivalents

are recognized separately in the cash flow statement.
Revenue and expenses forincome tax are recognized
under Cash flows from operating activities. Interest costs
and interest revenues are recognized under Cash flows
from operating activities. Cash flows as aresult of the
acquisition or disposal of financial interests (subsidiaries
and interests) are recognized under Cash flows from
investing activities, taking into account the cash, cash
equivalents and repaid third-party debts presentin
theseinterests. Dividends paid out, as well as obtained
andrepaidloans, are recognized under Cash flows from
financing activities.

2.4. Application of new and amended IFRS
standards and IFRIC interpretations

Therelevant new orrevised IFRSs that Konecranes has
adopted from January1,2023, were the following:

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to
IAS1and IFRS Practice Statement 2, The amendment
replaces the requirement to disclose significant
accounting policies with arequirement to disclose
material accounting policies. The amendment aims to
help companies to disclose accounting policies which
are material for users to understand the informationin the
company’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction. The
amendment clarifies deferred tax accounting for
transactions and events, such as leases, thatlead to
theinitial recognition of both an asset and a liability. The
amendments require companies to recognize a separate
deferred taxasset and deferred taxliability when the
temporary differences arising from the initial recognition
of anasset and a liability are equal.

Amendment to IAS 12 - International tax reform - pillar

two modelrules. These amendments give companies
temporary mandatory relief from accounting for deferred
taxes arising from the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development’s (OECD) international
taxreform. The amendments also introduce targeted
disclosure requirements for affected companies.

Konecranes applies the temporary mandatory relief to the

recognition of deferred taxes.

None of these amendments to IFRS standards had
any significantimpact on the financial statements of
Konecranes.

New and amended standards issued applicable from
January 1,2024, but not yet effective are disclosed below.
The Group adopts new and amended standards and

interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IAS 1- Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants clarifies how conditions with which an entity

Financial Review

must comply within twelve months after the reporting
period affect the classification of aliability.

Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback clarifies how a seller-lessee subsequently
measures sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the
requirementsinIFRS15to be accounted foras a sale.

AmendmentstolAS 7 and IFRS 7 on Supplier finance
arrangements in which the amendments require
disclosures to enhance the transparency of supplier
finance arrangements and their effects onacompany’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

New oramended standards, improvements or annual
improvements applicable from January 1,2024, orlater
donot have significant effect on the Group, but the
amount of additional information provided in the financial
statements may increase.
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3. Segmentinformation

Formanagement purposes, the Groupis organizedinto
business units based onits products and services and had
three reportable segmentsin 2023 and 2022: Service,
Industrial Equipment and Port Solutions.

The Service segment provides maintenance and
installation services of industrial equipment, the Industrial
Equipment segment produces industrial cranes and
theircomponents for a variety of industries and the Port
Solutions segment produces lifting and material handling
equipment for ports and provides services for port
equipment.

The business units have been aggregated to form the
above reportable operating segments due to the similar
economic characteristics with respect to the nature of the
production process, product type and class of customers
for theirproducts.

The above reportable segments are based onthe Group's
management reporting and organizational structure.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Konecranes Group's chief operating decision makeris the
Board of Directors.

Segment performanceis evaluated based on profit or
loss andis measured consistently with profit orlossin
the consolidated financial statements. However, the
performance of the investees accounted for using
the equity method s evaluated using proportionate
consolidation.

The assets and liabilities of the reportable segments
include only items directly connected with the business
as well as the goodwill related to them. Taxes and financial
income and expenses are managed at the Group level
and are not allocated to segments.

Konecranes also reports three geographical areas,
which are the main market areas: EMEA (Europe, Middle
East and Africa), AME (Americas) and APAC (Asia-Pacific).
Sales arereported by the customerlocation and assets
and capital expenditure by the location of the assets.

Financial Review
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3.1. Operating segments

Corporate functions

Service Industrial Equipment Port Solutions and unallocated Eliminations Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Sales
Sales to external customers 1,432.7 1,292.8 1173.8 1,068.8 1,359.8 1,003.2 0.0 0.0 3,966.3 3,364.8
Inter-segment sales 57.7 50.6 181.4 136.8 1.0 1.9 10.9 9.8 -261.0 -209.0 0.0 0.0
Total sales 1,490.4 1,343.3 1,355.3 1,205.6 1,370.8 1,015.0 10.9 9.8 -261.0 -209.0 3,966.3 3,364.8
Comparable EBITA 296.2 249.4 87.4 32.5 102.7 63.5 -35.7 -27.1 0.0 0.1 450.7 318.4
% of net sales 19.9% 18.6% 6.5% 2.7% 7.5% 6.3% 11.4% 9.5%
Purchase price allocation amortization -17.4 -14.3 -7.0 -11.0 -6.6 -6.6 -31.0 -31.8
Comparable operating profit 278.8 235.2 80.4 21.5 96.2 57.0 -35.7 -27.1 0.0 0.1 419.7 286.6
% of net sales 18.7% 17.5% 5.9% 1.8% 7.0% 5.6% 10.6% 8.5%
Items affecting comparability
in operating profit
Transaction andintegration costs 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -8.6 0.0 -8.7
Restructuring costs -1.7 -2.6 -24.6 -12.9 0.7 -0.6 -0.8 -0.9 -26.4 -17.0
Costsrelated to theimpacts of the war in Ukraine -0.2 -0.4 1.1 -19.6 -1.8 -17.8 0.0 -0.1 9.2 -37.8
Total -1.9 -2.9 -13.5 -32.5 -1.1 -18.6 -0.7 -9.5 -17.2 -63.5
Operating profit 276.9 232.3 66.9 -10.9 95.1 38.4 -36.4 -36.6 0.0 0.1 402.5 223.2
% of net sales 18.6% 17.3% 4.9% -0.9% 6.9% 3.8% 10.1% 6.6%
Share of associates andjoint ventures result
(note 16) 0.8 0.4 0.8 0.4
Financialincome 32.0 26.9 32.0 26.9
Financial expenses -67.7 -59.7 -67.7 -59.7
Profit before tax 367.6 190.7
Segment assets 1,562.1 1,502.5 1,061.6 1,112.0 1,106.1 1,070.0 3,729.8 3,684.5
Investment accounted for using the equity
method (note 16) 6.9 7.8 6.9 7.8
Cash and cash equivalents 586.6 413.9 586.6 413.9
Deferred tax assets 13.9 103.8 13.9 103.8
Income taxreceivables 16.5 15.0 16.5 15.0
Otherunallocated and corporate function
level assets 98.7 115.6 98.7 15.6
Total assets 1,562.1 1,502.5 1,061.6 1,112.0 1,106.1 1,070.0 822.5 656.1 4,552.4 4,340.6

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Corporate functions

Service Industrial Equipment Port Solutions and unallocated Eliminations Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Segment liabilities 300.5 252.5 557.6 503.3 631.7 539.3 1,489.8 1,295.2
Interest-bearing liabilities 954.9 1,106.2 954.9 1,106.2
Deferred tax liabilities 131.6 133.7 131.6 133.7
Income tax payables 51.8 31.7 51.8 31.7
Otherunallocated and corporate function
levelliabilities 329.5 340.9 329.5 340.9
Total liabilities 300.5 252.5 557.6 503.3 631.7 539.3 1,467.8 1,612.4 2,957.6 2,907.6
Other disclosures
Capital expenditure 1.5 8.9 28.9 20.9 14.1 7.3 0.0 0.0 54.4 37.0
Personnel 8,010 7,802 5,253 5,529 3,222 3,102 101 89 16,586 16,522

Revenue expected to be recognized in the future periods related to performance obligations that

are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied

During 2024 During 2025 From 2026 onwards Total
Service 395.6 22.7 252 443.5
Industrial Equipment 719.5 139.3 33.5 892.3
Port Solutions 1122.0 393.8 189.3 1,705.0
Total 2,237.1 555.8 248.0 3,040.8

The transaction price associated with unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied performance obligations does not
include variable consideration that is constrained. The
Group total revenue will also include new orders, scope

changes and contract extensions which are not known at
the reporting date and thus are excluded from this table.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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2023 EMEA* AME APAC Total
External sales* 1,872.7 1,522.0 571.6 3,966.3
Assets* 3,177.8 764.8 609.7 4,552.4
Capital expenditure 42.5 4.1 7.8 54.4
Personnel 9,785 3,335 3,466 16,586

* External sales to Finland EUR 101.8 million. Non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets) in Finland: EUR 173.2 million and in other countries:

EUR1,707.0 million.

2022 EMEA* AME APAC Total
External sales* 1,714.1 1,201.1 449.7 3,364.8
Assets* 3,052.7 643.6 644.3 4,340.6
Capital expenditure 27.2 3.6 6.3 37.0
Personnel 9,565 3,131 3,826 16,522
* External sales to Finland EUR 102.8 million. Non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets) in Finland: EUR 175.6 million and in other
countries: EUR1,692.0 million.
There are no single customers which account for over 10% of the Group's sales.
4. Acquisitions and divestments EUR million Fair value
Intangible assets
. Clientele 14.6
Acquisitions ) ) ) . . Otherintangible assets 1.4
Konecranes acquired in April 2023 the industrial and Property, plant and equipment 0.4
nuclear crane and crane service operations of privately Inventories 3.7
held Whiting Corporationinthe U.S. The purchase price Accounts receivable 3.5
forthe acquired business was EUR 37.3 million. The Total assets 23.6
acquisition offers operational synergiesin the service
) . . . Otherlong-termliabilities 0.4
business, which are reflected in Goodwill. X
Advancesreceived 3.3
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 4.5
The fairvalues of acquired businesses are as follows: Total liabilities 8.2
Net assets 15.4
Purchase consideration, paidin cash 37.3
Acquisition cost 37.3
Goodwill 22.0
Cash flow on acquisition
Purchase consideration, paidin cash 37.3
Transaction costs' 0.7
Net cash flow arising from acquisition 38.1
Goodwill allocation to Cash Generating Units:
Industrial Service 22.0
Total 22.0

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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If the businesses had been acquired on January1,2023,
the full year sales of the Group would have been EUR
3,972.8 millionand EBIT EUR 402.1 million. The year to date
sales of the acquired business after the acquisition date
was EUR 9.3 million and EBIT EUR 1.2 million. The amount
of goodwill thatis expected to be deductible for tax
purposeswas EUR 42.3 million.

InJune 2023, Konecranes acquired a smallindustrial crane
service operation of Munck Cranes AS inNorway from the
bankruptcy estate and paid EUR 1.7 million as purchase
price forthe acquired assets. The fair value of the acquired

business was EUR 1.7 millionforIntangible assets (clientele).

1) Transaction costs of EUR O.1millionin 2022 and EUR 0.6 million
in2023 have been expensed and are included in other operating
expenses.
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Divestments

In April 2023, Konecranes divested MHE-Demag’s
Industrial Products business, whichrents material handling
products and offers equipment like dock levellers and car
park systems, to Jebsen & Jessen. The Industrial Product
business unit operatesin Australia, Indonesia, Malaysia,
the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam. The
sales price was EUR 9.0 million and Konecranes recorded
EUR 0.2 million pre-tax profit from the transaction.

Carrying amounts of net assets over which
control was lost:

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 52
Investments accounted for using the equity

method 06
Inventories 13.5
Otherreceivables 0.4
Divested assets 19.7
Liabilities

Defined pension benefits 0.1
Advancesreceived 9.7
Provisions 0.7
Accruals and other liabilities 0.3
Divested liabilities 10.9
Net assets derecognized 8.8
Considerationreceived 9.0

Divestments of joint ventures and associated companies
During the second quarter of 2023, Konecranes also
solditsinterestsintwo joint venturesin China (Jiangyin
Dingli ShengshaiHigh Tech Industrial Crane Company,
Ltd and Guangzhou Technocranes Company, Ltd). The
sales prices werein total EUR 0.5 million and Konecranes
recorded EUR 0.2 million pre-taxlosses from the
transactions.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Acquisitions and divestmentsin 2022

Acquisitions

InJuly 2022, Konecranes acquired a small crane service
business of Garabilndustrial Technologiesin Spain and
paid EUR1.5 million as purchase price for the acquired
assets. The fairvalues of the acquired business were EUR
1.6 million forIntangible assets (clientele), EUR O.1million
for Property, plantand equipment, EUR 0.3 million for
Inventories and EUR 0.4 million for Deferred tax liability.

If the business had been acquired on January 1,2022, the
2022 full-year sales of the acquiree would have been EUR
3,365.9 millionand EBIT EUR 223.2 million.

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

In September 2022, Konecranes acquired the non-
controlling interest of 6 % of Konecranes Real Estate
GmbH & Co. KG in Germany and paid EUR 2.7 million as
purchase price.InNovember 2022, Konecranes became
the sole owner and provider of TBA software products by
acquiring the non-controllinginterest of 30.22 % of Ports
Sofware Solutions B.V. inthe Netherlands. TBA Group
provides software as well as port planning and optimizing
consultancy services in the ports, intermodal and
warehousing sectors. The acquisition price was EUR 8.0
million of which EUR 5.0 million was paidin cash and EUR
3 millionwasrecorded as deferred purchase price. At the
same time, the TBA design consultancy operations were
transferred to a new legal entity of which Konecranes
Group now owns 49%. The total effect from these
acquisitions was EUR -4.8 millioninretained earnings and
EUR-6.5millionin non-controlling interest.

Financial Review

Divestments

In September 2022, Konecranes divested from the
Ports Solutions segment the small automation business
Motronicain Italy. Konecranes received proceeds of
EUR 0.4 millionandrecorded EUR 0.4 million pre-tax
profit from the transaction. Between September and
December, Konecranes also divested the service
businessin Russia and received proceeds of EUR 0.3
million and recorded EUR 0.4 million pre-taxloss from
the transactions.
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6. Contract balances

Customer contract revenue 2023 2022 6.1. Contract assets and liabilities
Sale of goods 2,820.0 2,308.4
Rendering of services 1,151.8 1,047.1 Contract assets 2023 2022
Total customer contract revenue 3,971.8 3,355.5 The cumulative revenues of 819.1 641.3
non-delivered projects : )
Otherrevenue Advancesreceived netted 602.2 457.9
Leasing of own products 3.7 8.9 L B LB
Royalties 0.4 0.4 Transt bles
ransfers to receivables from
Total otherrevenue 4.1 9.3 contract assets recognized at the 344.8 303.2
beginning of period
Total sales 3,975.9 3,364.8
Contract liabilities
Gross advance received from
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022 percentage of completion method 815.0 5722
Advancesreceived netted 602.2 457.9
Timing of satisfying performance At apoint Over At apoint Over Total 212.8 Ta.3
obligations by Segments of time time Total of time time Total ota : :
Service 186.9 1,245.8 1,432.7 165.3 1127.5 1,292.8 R sedinth
) . evenue recognised in the current
Industrial EQuipment 955.4 218.4 1,173.8 882.5 165.1 1,047.6 period that was included in the 254.2 257.4
Port Solutions 1,084.8 275.0 1,359.8 877.6 146.8 1,024 .4 contract liability opening balance
Corporate functions 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 Increases due to cashreceived 525.3 284.0
Total 2,227.1 1,739.2 3,966.3 1,925.4 1,439.4 3,364.8

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Contract assetsrelate toreceivables arising from
percentage of completion method. Net asset balances
are balances where the sum of contract costs, recognized
profits and recognized losses exceed progress billings.
Where progress billings exceed the sum of contract
costs, recognized profits and recognized losses, these
liabilities are includedin the line item contract liabilities.

Seenote 3forrevenue expectedto berecognizedin

the future periods related to performance obligations
that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied and note 21for
unbilled revenue.

6.2. Advancesreceived

2023 2022
Advance received from percentage
of completion method (netted) 212.8 n4.3
Otheradvance received from
customers 456.0 450.1
Total 668.8 564.3
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8.2. Number of personnel

2023 2022 2023 2022
Changeinworkin progress 13.4 -170.9 Average number of personnel 16,503 16,563
Production forown use -0.7 -11 gggignfig‘rg]ersonnelas at 16,586 16.522
Material and supplies 1,303.7 1,267.5 Number of | .
. umber of personnel as a
Subcontracting 503.9 414.7 December 31in Finland 2,300 2,151
Materials, supplies and
subcontracting 1.820.3 1510.2
8.3. Personnel by Reportable Segment
Wages and salaries 959.2 884.8 at the end of period
Pension costs 76.9 66.9
Other personnel expenses 150.5 140.2 2023 2022
Personnel cost 1,186.6 1,091.9 Service 8,010 7,802
Industrial Equipment 5,253 5,529
Other operating expenses 4515 423.3 Port Solutions 3,222 3102
Total operating expenses 3,458.4 3,025.3 Group Staff 101 89
Total 16,586 16,522

Research and development costsrecognized as an
expense in the statement of income amount to EUR 51.3
millioninthe year 2023 (EUR 47.7 millionin2022).

7.1. Audit and non-audit fees to Group auditor

2023 2022
Audit 3.5 4.1
Non-audit services 0.3 0.2
Total 3.9 4.3
8. Personnel expenses

and number of personnel

8.1. Personnel expenses

2023 2022
Wages and salaries 959.2 884.8
Pension costs: Defined benefit plans 15.0 9.5
Pension costs: Defined
contributionplans 61.9 57.5
Other personnel expenses 150.5 140.2
Total 1,186.6 1,091.9

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

9. Depreciation, amortization
and impairments

9.1. Depreciation and amortization

2023 2022
Intangible assets 38.7 38.0
Buildings 30.7 31.4
Machinery and equipment 45.2 45.7
Total 14.6 115.2
9.2. Impairments

2023 2022
Property, plant and equipment 0.2 5.3
Goodwill 0,0 3.9
Total 0.2 9.2

The nature of the impairmentsis describedin the
disclosures of goodwill, intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment (see notes 13,14 and 15).

Financial Review

10. Financialincome and expenses

10.1. Financialincome

2023 2022
Interestincome on bank deposits
andloans e 61
Fair value gain on derivative
financialinstruments 14.8 0.0
Exchangerate gains 0.0 20.4
Otherfinancialincome 0.3 0.4
Total 32.0 26.8
10.2. Financial expenses

2023 2022
Interest expenses on liabilities 46.8 26.5
Netloss onfinancial instruments at
fair value through profit orloss 0.0 27.2
Exchangerateloss 15.8 0.0
Other financial expenses 5.0 6.0
Total 67.7 59.7
Financialincome and expenses net -35.7 -32.9

The company applies hedge accounting on derivatives
usedto hedge cash flows in certainlarge crane projects.
The cash flow hedges of the expected future cash flows
are assessed to be highly effective and a net unrealized
effect of EUR +12.5 million (2022: EUR +2.0 million) with
deferredtaxes of EUR -2.5 million (2022: EUR -0.4 million)
relating to the hedginginstrumentsisincluded in equity.
The hedged operative cash flows are expected to occur
during the next 3-18 months. The realized andrecycled
currency differences from these hedgesrecordedinthe
statement of income were EUR -6.0 millionin 2023 (EUR
-17.8 millionin 2022).
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11. Income taxes

11.1. Taxes in statement of income

2023 2022
Localincome taxes of group
companies 100:3 63.8
Taxes from previous years 3.4 -0.6
Change in deferred taxes -11.7 -11.0
Total 92.0 52.2

11.2. Reconciliation of income before taxes with
totalincome taxes

2023 2022
Profit before taxes 367.6 190.7
Tax calculated at the domestic
corporation taxrate of 20.0% 73.5 38.1
(2022:20.0%)
Effect of different tax rates of
foreign subsidiaries 16.3 16.0
Taxes from previous years 3.4 -0.6
Tax effect of non-deductible 4.4 01
expenses and tax-exemptincome ' '
Tax effect of unrecognized taxlosses
of the current year 2.9 24
Tax effect of utilization of previously
unrecognized tax losses 7.2 -4.0
Tax effect of recognition of 0.2 292
previously unrecognized taxlosses ’ '
Tax effect of impairment of previously 0.0 17

recognized deferred tax assets

Tax effect of recognizing the
controlled temporary difference 0.5 -1.8
from investment in subsidiaries

Remuneration Risk Management

applies atemporary mandatory relief to recognizing and
disclosinginformation about deferred tax assets and
liabilities arising from Pillar Two income taxes, as provided
inthe amendments to IAS 12. The Group has performed
an assessment of the Group's potential exposure to
Pillar Two income taxes. The assessment of the potential
exposure to Pillar Two is based on the most recent

Group reporting and country-by-country information
and analysis. Based on the assessment, the Pillar Two
effective taxratesin most of the jurisdictionsin which the
Group operates are above 15%. Additionally, when taking
into account certain exceptions and safe harborrules,
the possible top-up tax exposure will be immaterial in the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

11.3. Tax effects of componentsin other
comprehensive income

Financial Review

Tax effect of taxrate change 0.5 -0.1
Otheritems -2.1 2.5
Total 92.0 52.2
Effective taxrate % 25.0% 27.4%

The company regularly evaluates the net realizable value
of its deferred tax assets.

OECD Pillar Two legislation for minimum top-up tax has
been enactedin certainjurisdictions in which the Group
operates. The legislation will be effective forthe Group's
financial year beginning on January 1,2024. The Group

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

2023 2022
Cash flow hedges -25 -0.4
Re-measurement gains (losses) on
defined benefit plans 4.5 -18.7
Total 2.0 -19.1

12. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing

the netincome attributable to the shareholders of the
parent company by the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per
share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year for the
dilutive effect of the sharesissued under the share-based
incentive plans. The number of treasury sharesis excluded
from the weighted average number of shares.

2023 2022
Net profit attributable to
shareholders of the parent company 275.6 140.3
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding (1,000 pcs) 79196 79,152
Effect of share basedincentive
plans (1,000 pcs) 387 357
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding, dilited (1,000 pcs) 79,583 79.508
Earnings per share, basic (EUR) 3.48 1.77
Earnings per share, diluted (EUR) 3.46 1.77
13. Goodwill and goodwill

impairment testing

13.1. Goodwill

2023 2022
Acquisition costs as of January 1 1,038.3 1,036.8
Additions 22.0 0.0
Translation difference -3.0 1.5
Acquisition costs as of December 31 1,057.2 1,038.3
Accumulated impairments as of
January 1 -18.7 -14.7
Impairments for the financial year 0.0 -3.9
Total as of December 31 1,038.6 1,019.6

13.2. General principles

Management monitors the performance of the Group
through the monthly meetings and monthly reporting that
take place on abusiness unit level. Impairment testingis
done at the lowest level of the Group at which goodwillis
monitoredinternally.

ewsaron STANVADIINOM

87



Corporate Governance Statement 2023

13.3. Total goodwill inreportable segments after

impairments

2023 2022
Industrial Cranes 152.9 153.7
Agilon 0.0 0.0
Goodwill in Industrial Equipment
total 152.9 153.7
Industrial Crane Service 682.8 662.9
Machine Tool Service 3.8 3.9
Goodwillin Service total 686.5 666.8
Port Cranes 163.3 163.3
Lift trucks 35.8 35.8
Goodwillin Port Solutions total 199.2 199.1
Total goodwillin reportable 1.038.6 1.019.6

segments as of December 31

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
based onvalue inuse calculations using the discounted
cash flow method. The forecasting period of cash flows
is five years anditis based on financial forecasts of the
management responsible for that CGU, and adjusted
by Group management if needed. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period were calculated using the terminal
value method. The forecasts have been made based on
the CGU specific historical data, order book, the current
market situation and industry specific information of the
future growth possibilities taking also into consideration
the effects of the climate risks and opportunitiesin Port
Solutions product offerings. The presentincrease of
costinflationis considered to be covered mostly by
theincreasesin sales prices while the long-term cost
inflationis expected toreturnbackto alowerlevel. The
productivity and efficiency assumptions are based
oninternal targets, which are evaluated against actual
performance. These assumptions are reviewed annually
as part of the management's annual planning and
strategic planning cycles. Calculations are prepared
during the fourth quarter of the year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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The discount rate applied to cash flow projectionsis the
weighted average (pre-tax) cost of capitalandis based
onrisk-free long-term government bondrates and
market and industry specific risk premiums. These risk
premiums are derived based on the business portfolio of
companies which operate in a similarindustry.

The key assumptions, being the average compound
annual growthrate for the forecasted sales of the five
years and the discount rate, are as follows:

Compound
annual Discount
growthrate rate
Industrial Cranes 3.7% 12.6%
Agilon 19.8% 16.2%
Industrial Crane Service 6.6% 13.1%
Machine Tool Service 2.8% 11.5%
Lift trucks 7.3% 10.8%
Port Cranes 7.5% Nn.7%

The average compound growthrate for the gross profitis
consistent with that of sales. Furthermore, for all the CGUs
a 1% terminal growth rate has been applied.

Impairment charges
The impairment testing performedin 2023 did not resultin
any impairments being recognized.

Konecranesimpairedin 2022 the goodwill of Agilon Cash
Generating Unit due to decreased discounted cash flow
projections. Agilonis an automated storage and retrieval
system designed especially for maintenance, production
and distribution operations and warehouse management.
The development of the sales had not met the targets and
consequently the cash flows had beeninsufficient. The
businessis partially based on rental model, which employs
capital. The Agilon business operates mainly inregion
Europe and belongs to Industrial Equipment segment.
According to the Goodwill test the recoverable amount
of the unitwas EUR 2.4 million, which was based onits

Financial Review

value inuse calculations. The discount rate used for the
calculationwas 14.5% (13.2% December 31, 2021).

Sensitivity analyses

In additionto impairment testing using the base case
assumptions, four separate sensitivity analyses were
performed foreach CGU:

1) Adiscount rate analysis where the discount rate was
increased by 5% points.

2) A Group management adjustment to the future
profitability. The cash flow of each CGU was analyzed
by the Group management. Based on the CGU
specific historical data and future growth prospects,
the cash flows were decreased by 10%in eachyear
including terminal year.

3) Ahigher discount rate (+5% points) analysis
combined with lower (-10%) cash flows as mentioned
above.

4) A decrease inthe compound annual growth rate for
the sales foreach of the five forecasted years (- 2%
points) combined with the current discount rate.

2023

There was noindication of impairment of goodwill forany
CGU from the sensitivity tests. The probability of material
impairment losses is low as under the basic scenario,

the calculated value in use was approximately two times
higherthanthe CGUs’ assets employed.

2022

There was noindication of impairment of goodwill for
any other CGU than Agilon from the sensitivity tests.
The probability of materialimpairmentlossesis low for
the other CGUs in which under the basic scenario, the
calculated value in use was approximately two times
higherthanthe CGUs’ assets employed.
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Patents Intangible
2023 and trademarks Software Other assets total
Acquisition costs as of January 1 243.5 200.9 504.6 949.0
Additions 0.0 4.0 0.0 4.0
Disposals 0.0 -3.7 0.0 -3.6
Business combinations 0.0 0.0 17.7 17.7
Translation difference 0.0 0.0 -0.4 -0.4
Acquisition costs as of December 31 243.5 201.2 522.0 966.6
Accumulated amortization as of January 1 -20.6 -178.2 -274.8 -473.6
Translation difference 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2
?é:g%rgglsaatlesd amortization relating 0.0 36 0.0 3.6
Amortization for financial year -0.6 -8.3 -29.7 -38.7
Total as of December 31 222.2 18.3 217.6 458.1

Patents Intangible
2022 and trademarks Software Other assets total
Acquisition costs as of January 1 243.8 191.7 504.1 939.6
Additions 0.0 9.8 0.0 9.8
Disposals -0.3 -0.6 -1.1 -2.0
Business combinations 0.0 0.0 1.6 1.6
Translation difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Acquisition costs as of December 31 2435 200.9 504.6 949.0
Accumulated amortization as of January 1 -19.5 -168.4 -248.5 -436.4
Translation difference 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.3
?é:g%rgglsaatlesd amortization relating 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.5
Amortization for financial year -1.4 -10.0 -26.5 -38.0
Total as of December 31 222.8 22.7 229.8 475.4

The category Other mainly consists of customer lists
and technology acquiredin business combinations.
They are stated at cost and amortized on a straight-
line basis over their expected useful lives. The normal
amortization period of intangible assets varies from
4to 20 years. The amortization of intangible assets s

includedin the depreciation andimpairmentslinein the

consolidated statement of income. On December 31,
2023, and December 31,2022, the intangible assets
having indefinite useful life consisted of the Demag and

Gottwald trademarks of EUR167.0 millionand EUR 51.0

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

million. As there is no foreseeable limit on the period over
which the assetis expected to generate net cash inflows
forthe entity, itis classified asintangible assets having
anindefinite usefullife. The carrying amounts of these
assets are tested on ayearly basisin connectionwith the
goodwillimpairment testing.

The addition of EUR 4.0 million (EUR 9.8 millionin 2022)
mainly consisted of capitalized development costs of the
Group’s ERP systems.

Financial Review
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Machinery & and equipment
2023 Land Buildings Equipment total Classification of Property, plant and equipment 2023 2022
Acquisition costs as of January 1 29.7 319.0 448.8 797.5 Property, plant and equipment, owned 218.3 213.5
Additions 0.4 42.0 64.2 106.6 Right-of-use assets, leased 141.6 132.5
Disposals -0.2 -13.8 -28.2 -42.2 Total 359.9 345.9
Business combinations 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.4
Divestments of businesses 0.0 -1.0 -1.7 -12.7
Transfer within assets 0.0 -0.2 0.2 0.0 2023
Impairment 0.0 0.0 -0.8 -0.7 Landand Machinery and
Translation difference -0.3 -2.5 -1.4 -4.3 Right of use assets Buildings Equipment Total
Acquisition costs as of December 31 29.7 343.4 471.7 844.7 Balance as of January 1 89.6 42.9 132.5
Accumulated depreciation as of 0.0 J135.9 -315.7 _451.6 Translation difference -0.6 -0.6 -1.3
January 1 Business combinations 0.0 0.4 0.4
Translation difference 0.0 0l 02 0.3 New contracts and changes in lease contracts 26.9 28.1 55.0
tAngiUS%g?atgd depreciationrelating 0.0 1.8 23] 34.9 Depreciation during the year -23.1 -21.9 -45.0
Divestments of businesses 0.0 04 70 7.4 Total as of December 31 92.8 48.8 141.6
Depreciation for financial year 0.0 -30.7 -45.2 -75.9
Total as of December 31 29.7 189.2 141.1 359.9

2022
Landand Machinery and

Machinery & zﬁ?j‘f&ﬁf’pﬂgm Right of use assets Buildings Equipment Total
2022 Land Buildings Equipment total Balance as of January 1 76.5 39.1 115.6
Acquisition costs as of January | 29.8 2888 418.4 737.0 Translation difference 03 06 0.9
Additions 0.0 40.2 48.4 88.6 New contracts and changes in lease contracts 36.0 23.5 59.6
Disposals 0.0 87 _15.0 -23.7 Depreciation during the year -23.2 -20.3 -43.5
Transfer within assets _0.2 01 0.0 0.0 Total as of December 31 89.6 42.9 132.5
Impairment 0.0 -1.1 -3.6 -4.8
Translation difference 0.1 -0.2 0.6 0.5
Acquisition costs as of December 31 29.7 319.0 448.8 797.5 In2023, the EUR 0.7 millionimpairments of Property, plant and equipment were
f;:uuar&ufated depreciation as of 0.0 _113.0 _284.7 -397.7 restructuring actions. In 2022, EUR 1.6 million of the impairments related to the warin
Translation difference 0.0 03 0.4 0.7 Ukraine, EUR 2.9 million to restructuring actions and EUR 0.3 million to old rental assets.
?é:g%gglsa;lesd depreciationrelating 0.0 83 14.4 22.7
Depreciation for financial year 0.0 -31.4 -45.7 -77.2
Total as of December 31 29.7 183.1 133.1 345.9

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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and non-controlling interests

16.1. Investments accounted for using

Remuneration Risk Management

Financial Review

16.2. Investments in Associated Companies and Joint Ventures
The following table illustrates the summarized financial information of the Group’s investments and
reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investmentsin consolidated financial statements.

the equity method Profit/
quity Carrying loss after
amount Non- Non- taxfrom Totalcom-
of the current Current current Current continuing prehensive Dividends
Associated Companies 2023 2022 2023 investment assets* assets* liabilities* liabilities* Revenue* operations* income* received
Acquisition costs as of January 1 2.5 1.7 Investments
Share of associated companies' in associated 6.9 2.6 40.0 0.9 19.6 46.4 1.8 1.8 0.4
result after taxes* 0.0 0. companies and
Dividends received -0.3 -0.1 Jolnt ventures
- : Total 6.9 2.6 40.0 0.9 19.6 46.4 1.8 1.8 0.4
Change from subsidiary shares 0.0 0.8
Total as of December 31 2.2 2.5
Profit/
. Carrying loss after
Joint l\llellwtures 2023 2022 amount Non- Non- taxfrom Totalcom-
Acquisition costs as of January 1 5.3 5.1 of the current Current current Current continuing prehensive Dividends
Share of joint ventures' result after 08 03 2022 investment assets* assets* liabilities* liabilities* Revenue* operations* income*  received
* . .
SX,edS q ved ol ol Investments
Ividends receive -0. -0. in associated
h 7.8 3.6 54.5 0.9 31.3 69.3 1.4 1.4 0.2
Disposals -1.3 0.0 companies and
jointventures
Total as of December 31 4.7 5.3
Total 7.8 3.6 54.5 0.9 31.3 69.3 1.4 1.4 0.2

*Including adjustments from purchase price allocation.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

*Asset and liability values, revenue and profit/loss represent values according to the latest published financial information.

16.3. Joint operations

Konecranes has classified the interestin AS Konesko
(domiciledin Estonia) as ajoint operation based on the
jointarrangement agreement. AS Konesko is a strategic
supplier of components usedin Konecranes products.
Konecranes has the exclusive right to purchase certain
motors and end carriages from AS Konesko at a price to
be agreed upon with AS Konesko. However, Konecranes
retains ownership of the current motor designs and the
trademarkrights to the end carriages.

As of December 31,2023, Konecranes owns 49.5% of AS
Konesko shares..

Konecranes has recognized and accounted for the
assets, liabilities, revenues and expensesrelating toits
interestin AS Konesko inaccordance with IFRST1.
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16.4. Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest
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Profit/loss
Accumulated after tax from Total
non-controlling Non-current Non-current Current continuing  comprehensive
2023 Interest Goodwill assets Current assets liabilities liabilities Revenue operations income
Non-controlling interests 0.0 0.0 0.5 1.6 0.1 4.2 4.1 -1.2 -1.1
Total 0.0 0.0 0.5 1.6 0.1 4.2 4.1 -1.2 -1.1
Profit/loss
Accumulated after tax from Total
non-controlling Non-current Non-current Current continuing comprehensive
2022 Interest Goodwill assets Current assets liabilities liabilities Revenue operations income
Non-controlling interests 0.1 0.0 1.4 5.3 0.1 6.9 6.6 -0.6 -0.6
Total 0.1 0.0 1.4 5.3 0.1 6.9 6.6 -0.6 -0.6

Assets and liabilities as well as revenue and profit/loss values represent the total company values including purchase price allocations. See also the
company list for the ownership and principal place of business of the subsidiaries.

17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

17.1. Deferred tax assets

2023 2022
Employee benefits 31.4 30.2
Provisions 18.1 18.0
Unused taxlosses 7.7 10.1
Othertemporary differences 56.6 45.4
Total 1n3.9 103.8

Othertemporary differencesinclude timing differences
arising, forexample, from accrued costs, advances
received and unrealized currency differences that are not
deductiblein taxation until they occur.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

17.2. Deferred tax liabilities

2023 2022
Intangible and tangible assets 109.3 14.8
Othertemporary difference 22.3 18.9
Total 131.6 133.7

The deferred tax assets and deferred taxliabilities have
been netted on ajuridical company level when thereis a
legally enforceable right to offsetincome taxreceivables
againstincome tax payablesrelated to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority. The gross amount of
deferredtaxassetsin 2023 were EUR125.2 million (EUR
110.9 millionin 2022) and deferred tax liabilities EUR 143
million (EUR140.8 millionin 2022).

Konecranes has not recognized the temporary
differencesininvestmentsin subsidiaries to the extent
that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

17.3. Tax losses carried forward

At the end of 2023, Konecranesrecorded a deferred tax
asset of EUR7.7 million (EUR10.1millionin2022) related
tounused taxlosses onthe carry-forward losses of EUR
143.9 million (EUR187.2 millionin 2022) in total. The tax
losses, forwhich no deferred tax assets are recognized
due to the uncertainty of the utilization of the losses,
amounted to EUR112.7 millioninthe year 2023 (EUR144.4
millionin2022). EURT00.6 million of these carry-forward
taxlosses available have unlimited expiry, EUR 16.2 million
expire laterthanin five years and EUR 27.1 million expire in
five years.

Part of the carry-forward losses relate to Morris Material
Handling, Inc., USA, whichwas acquired in2006. The
overall carry-forward losses of Morris Material Handling,
Inc. amounted to EUR 19.8 million (EUR 23.1millionin 2022).
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To assessif the convincing evidence threshold perIAS

12 was met, Konecranes has prepared tax forecasts for
future periods considering the restructuring done and the
tax planning opportunities that were being implemented
atthattime.

Tax losses carried forward and related deferred tax assets on December 31
by the most significant countries:

Risk Management

Taxlosses Potential Deferred tax Deferred
2023 carried forward deferred tax assets assets notrecorded tax assets
France 52.3 13.1 13.1 0.0
USA 19.8 4.8 0.0 4.8
Austria 14.7 3.4 3.4 0.0
India 14.6 5.1 5.1 0.0
Philippines 6.7 1.7 1.7 0.0
Australia 6.4 1.9 0.0 1.9
Great Britain 6.2 1.6 1.6 0.0
Japan 3.5 1.1 1.1 0.0
Netherlands 3.0 0.4 0.4 0.0
Hong Kong 25 0.4 0.4 0.0
Other 14.3 3.4 2.4 1.0
Total 143.9 36.8 29.1 7.7

Tax losses Potential Deferred tax Deferred
2022 carried forward deferred tax assets assets notrecorded tax assets
France 75.2 18.8 18.8 0.0
USA 231 5.5 0.0 5.5
Austria 16.4 4.1 4.1 0.0
India 251 6.3 6.3 0.0
Philippines 5.3 1.3 1.3 0.0
Australia 10.7 3.2 0.0 3.2
Great Britain 3.4 0.9 0.9 0.0
Japan 4.0 1.2 1.2 0.0
Netherlands 3.1 0.5 0.5 0.0
Hong Kong 2.8 0.5 0.5 0.0
Other 18.0 4.4 3.0 1.4
Total 187.2 46.7 36.6 10.1

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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2023 2022

Raw materials and semi-manufactured goods 389.2 357.3

Work in progress 525.7 551.9

Finished goods 232 38.1

Advance payments 57.7 45.3

Total 995.9 992.7

Balance at the Balance

beginning Translation Business  Utilized during Provision attheend

2023 of the year difference disposals the period notneeded Additions of the year
Provision

forobsolete 52.2 -1.0 -1.6 -5.5 -4.3 12.2 52.0
inventory

Balance at the Balance

beginning Translation Business  Utilized during Provision attheend

2022 of theyear difference  combinations the period not needed Additions of theyear
Provision

forobsolete 42.0 0.3 0.0 -2.8 -1.2 13.9 52.2
inventory

19. Ageing analysis of accounts receivable

2023 2023 2022 2022

Accounts including Accounts including

receivable impairment of receivable impairment of

Not overdue 351.6 3.1 376.2 2.7

1-30 days overdue Nn2.2 0.4 92.9 0.8

31-60 days overdue 54.5 0.2 41.9 0.6

61-90 days overdue 26.9 0.2 26.4 1.1

more than 91days overdue 42.3 19.5 48.1 19.2

Total 587.5 23.4 585.6 24.5

The carrying amount of accounts receivable approximates to their fair value. Accounts receivable are subject to only minor
creditrisk concentrations due to the Group's extensively diversified customer portfolio. Credit losses recognized from the
customer contracts for the financial year totaled EUR 5.2 million (EUR 5.9 millionin 2022).

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Financial Review
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19. Ageing analysis of accounts receivable (continues)

Balance at Balance

the beginning Translation Business Utilized during Provision attheend

2023 of the year difference combinations the period notneeded Additions of the year
Provision for

doubtfulaccounts 24.5 -0.8 0.0 -5.2 -4.4 9.3 23.4
(Impairment)

Balance at Balance

the beginning Translation Business Utilized during Provision attheend

2022 of the year difference combinations the period not needed Additions of theyear
Provision for

doubtfulaccounts 26.8 0.0 0.0 -5.8 -8.2 n.7 24.5

(Impairment)

The release of the provision for doubtful accountsrelates to the cash received from individual receivables which were
historically provided for due to management’s uncertainty of their collectability.

20. Otherreceivables

2023 2022
Notes receivable 4.0 5.6
Value added tax 29.5 31.2
Total 33.5 36.8
21. Deferred assets

2023 2022
Interest 3.2 1.9
Prepaid expenses 24.1 23.0
Unbilled revenue 40.0 39.7
Other 30.7 33.4
Total 98.0 98.0
22. Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022
Short-term deposits 263.6 25.7
Cashinhand and at bank 323.0 388.2
Total 586.6 413.9

Short-term deposits have a maturity of three months or
less. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at nominal
value, which corresponds to their fair value.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

23. Equity
23.1. Shareholders’ equity
Number of
Number of treasury
shares shares
As of January 1,2022 79,134,459 87,447
Share subscriptions with
share awards 32,140 -32,140
As of December 31,2022 79,166,599 55,307
Share subscriptions with
share awards 35,651 -35,651
As of December 31,2023 79,202,250 19,656

The total shareholders' equity consists of share capital,
share premium, paidin capital, cash flow hedges,
translation difference, otherreserves and retained
earnings. Consistent with local legislation, Konecranes'
share has no nominal value. Allissued shares are fully paid
and listed on Nasdaqg Helsinki.

Share premiumincludes the value of shares, which
exceeds the accounting par value of the shares, for shares

Financial Review

issued before September1,2006. Cash flow hedges
include changesin the fair values of derivative financial
instruments used to hedge operational cash flows.
Translation differences comprise the differences arising
from translating non-euro functional currency entities to
euro, whichis the Group's presentation currency. Other
reservesinclude the credit for equity settled share-based
payment cost. The paidin capitalincludes the portion

of shares' subscription price whichis notrecorded to
share capital ortoliabilities according to IFRS. The paid

in capital also includes other capital contributions to the
Group which are notrecorded to some otherreserve
within the equity. The paid in capital also includes the
possible amount of share capital decrease whichis not
netted against accumulated losses oris not distributed to
shareholders.

Dividend proposal per share for2023 was EUR1.35 and
dividend for2022 was EUR1.25.

23.2. Distributable earnings
Seepage 122 /Board of Directors' Proposal to the Annual
General Meeting.
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Pension
2023 Warranty Restructuring commitments Other Total
Total provisions as of January 1 55.4 27.7 7.5 21.9 2.4
Translation difference -0.5 0.0 -0.3 -0.2 -0.9
Increase through business combination 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2
Additional provisionin the period 33.5 18.0 1.0 9.3 61.8
Utilization of provision -15.6 -13.2 -0.1 -6.3 -35.2
Unused amountsreversed -16.8 -0.3 0.0 -1.5 -18.6
Total provisions as of December 31 58.3 32.2 8.1 23.1 121.8

Pension
2022 Warranty Restructuring commitments Other Total
Total provisions as of January 1 56.4 39.8 8.0 21.8 126.1
Translation difference -0.1 0.0 0.5 0.3 0.7
Additional provisionin the period 241 7.9 1.0 8.4 41.4
Utilization of provision -11.0 -19.1 0.0 -6.9 -37.0
Unused amounts reversed -14.1 -0.9 -2.0 -1.8 -18.7
Total provisions as of December 31 55.4 27.7 7.5 21.9 12.4

The provision for warranties covers the expenses due

to the repair orreplacement of products during their
warranty period. The warranty liability is based on historical
realized warranty costs for deliveries of standard products
and services. The usual warranty periodis 12 months. For
more complex contracts, mainly including long-term
projects, the warranty reserve is calculated contract by
contract and the warranty period can be significantly
longer. The restructuring provisionis recognized when the
Group has prepared a detailed reorganization plan and
begun the implementation of the plan orannounced the
matter. Pension commitmentsinclude provisions forlocal
pension schemes.

Other provisionsinclude provisions for claims, litigations
and provisions forloss contracts in which the amountis not
provided for as part of work in progress or percentage of
completionreceivable of the loss making project.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Restructuring costs

Konecranes hasrecorded EUR 26.4 million of restructuring
costs during1-12/2023 (EUR 17.0 millionin1-12/2022) of
which EUR 0.2 million was impairment of assets (EUR 2.9
million for1-12/2022). The remaining restructuring items
arereported1-12/2023 in personnel costs (EUR 21.7
million), in material, supplies and subcontracting (EUR 1.4
million), in other operating expenses (EUR 5.8 million) and
in other operatingincome (EUR 2.7 million).

Financial Review

War in Ukraine

In2022, Konecranes reviewed therisks related to the

war in Ukraine regarding the effects on assets and
ongoing projects and impaired the values of property,
plant and equipment by EUR 2.1 million, inventories

by EUR 1.5 million, receivables by EUR 0.5 million and
deferred taxassets by EUR 0.4 millionin Ukraine due to
the circumstances, whichindicated that the carrying
amountis unlikely to be recoverable.In2022, Konecranes
alsorecorded EUR1.I1million of additional losses and
provisions to the inventories and receivables in Russia and
EUR 31.0 million for the projects to Russia, including a EUR
33.5millionreversal of sales.

In2023 some of the impairments and provisions were
reversed due to changedrisk position. The total value
of released unutilized provisions was EUR 5.8 million and
reversal of impairment for fixed assets EUR 0.3 million.
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25.1. Accruals
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Amounts recognized

2023 2022
Wages, salaries and personnel
expenses 152.3 127.7
Pension costs 10.4 8.6
Interest 18.1 1.5
Otheritems 46.9 50.5
Total 227.7 198.3
25.2. Other current liabilities

(non-interest bearing)

2023 2022
Value added tax 27.1 24.3
Payroll tax liability 19.1 17.6
Other short-termliabilities 15.7 14.2
Total 61.9 56.1
26. Lease accounting
Maturity
of undiscounted cash flows 2023 2022
within1year 43.7 40.3
1-5years 88.3 73.4
over 5years 41.1 45.8
Total 173.1 159.5
Lease liabilities included
inthe balance sheet 2023 2022
Non current interest-bearing
liabilities 2.y 104.0
Currentinterest-bearingliabilities 37.7 36.5
Total as of December 31 150.3 140.5

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Financial Review

27. Interest-bearing liabilities

27.1. Non-current

in statement of income 2023 2022
Depreciation forright of use asset 45.0 43.5
Income for subleasing right 16 Ry
of use asset ' )
Expensesrelated to

short-termleases 5.6 4.0
Expensesrelated to leases of

low-value assets 12 24
Interest onlease liabilities 5.8 4.1
Total expenses 56.1 52.9
Total cash flow of leases 56.8 54.7

The Group leases land and buildings forits production
and office space. The leases of production facilities
typically runfor a period of two to seven years, and leases
of office space forone to tenyears. Some leases include
anoptiontorenew the lease foran additional period after
the end of the contract term. Konecranes Group has
major lease agreements of factory and office buildings

in Hyvinkaa and Hameenlinna, Finland. During 2022 the
second extention option of 5 years for these buildings
was applied. The Group has also included one additional
5-yearoptioninthe lease liability value. The Group has
various otherleases for office equipment, vehicles and
premises with varying terms and renewal rights. Vehicles
typically have alease term of three to sevenyears. Leasing
contracts comply with normal practicesin the countries
concerned. The average interestrate inlease contracts
was 4.6% (3.54% in 2022).

2023 2022
Loans from financial institutions 599.9 928.8
Pensionloans 15.0 20.0
Lease liabilities Nn2.7 104.0
Otherlong-term loans 0.1 3.6
Total 727.7 1,056.4
27.2. Current

2023 2022
Loans from financial institutions 176.9 0.0
Pensionloans 5.0 5.0
Lease liabilities 37.7 36.5
Other short-termloans 7.6 8.3
Total 227.2 49.8

During the year 2023 the Group voluntarily prepaid a EUR
150 million bilateral termloanin full withits cash reserves
and agreed on an extension of maturity of its EUR 300
milliontermloanfrom 2024 to 2025. In addition, the Group
signed anew EUR 350 million committed revolving credit
facility that refinanced the previous EUR 400 million
facility (2017-2024). The new revolving credit facility was
undrawn at the end of December2023. At the end of the
fourth quarter, the Group’sliquid cashreserves were EUR
586.6 million(31.12.2022: EUR 413.9 million). In addition, the
Group may draw short-term financing from the domestic
commercial paper markets within the EUR 500 million
limit, which was unutilized at the end of December2023
(31.12.2022: unutilized).

At the end of December 2023, the outstanding short-
and long-termloan portfolio consists of: EUR 400 million
termloans, EUR 377 million Schuldscheinloan and
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EUR 20 million employment pensionloan. The loan
portfolio contains floating and fixed rate tranches and
interest swaps. The weighted average interestrateis
currently 3.96% per annum. The Group isin compliance
with the quarterly monitored financial covenant
(gearing). No specific securities have been given for the
loans. The Group continues to have healthy gearing ratio
of 22.9% (31.12.2022: 48.0%) which isin compliance with
the financial covenants the Group has to comply with.

Derivatives areinitially recorded in the balance sheet

at fairvalue and subsequently measured at fair value at
eachbalance sheet date. All derivatives are carried as
assets whenfairvalue is positive and as liabilities when
fairvalueis negative. Derivative instruments that are not
designated as hedges (hedge accounting) are measured
atfairvalue, and the change in fairvalueisrecognizedin the
consolidated statement ofincome. When the derivative is
designated as ahedge (hedge accounting) the effective
part of the changein fairvalue isrecognizedin other
comprehensive income. Any ineffective partisrecognized
inthe consolidated statement ofincome. The foreign
exchange forward contracts are measured based onthe
closing date’s observable spot exchange rates and the
quotedyield curves of the respective currencies. Interest
rate swaps are measured based on present value of the
cash flows, which are discounted based on the quoted
yield curves.

In addition, the Group has certainrevolving facilities the
details of which can be foundin note 33.3.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

The average interest rate of the non-current liabilities
portfolio at December 31,2023 was 4.67% (2022: 2.51%)
and that of the current liabilities portfolio was 3.05% (2022:
3.93%). The effectiveinterest rate for EUR loans varied
between 0.80% -5.28% (2022: 0.80% - 4.05%).

27.3. Maturity tables of financial liabilities
and liquidity risk

The following table reflects the maturity of interest-

bearingliabilities.

2023 Maturity

Avg. Avg. Less than Over Total
Currency duration rate % Tyear 1-5years S5years MEUR
EUR 1.2 years 3.09 200.5 647.4 35.2 883.2
INR 1.8 years 9.68 0.5 1.4 0.0 2.0
CNY 1.3 years 4.69 1.0 0.5 0.0 1.5
usbD 1.7 years 5.37 8.9 18.3 1.3 28.5
GBP 1.8 years 4.89 1.5 3.9 0.3 5.7
Others 0.8-3.4years 2.23-18.39 14.8 12.3 7.0 34.1
Total 4.29 227.2 683.9 43.8 954.9
2022 Maturity

Avg. Avg. Less than Over Total
Currency duration rate % lyear 1-5years 5years MEUR
EUR 1.5years 218 23.5 973.5 40.4 1,037.4
INR 1.7 years 8.62 0.3 0.6 0.0 0.8
CNY 1.5years 4.59 1.6 12 0.0 2.8
usb 1.7 years 4.01 7.8 15.7 0.5 24.0
GBP 1.8 years 3.33 1.3 4.2 0.3 5.8
Others 1.1-3.0 years 1.43-20.78 15.3 13.3 6.7 35.3
Total 2.58 49.8 1,008.5 47.9 1,106.2
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27.4. Liquidity risk, containing undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative
financial liabilities by currency

The following table reflects all contractually fixed pay-offs earliest date on which Konecranes could be required

for settlement, repayments and interest resulting from to pay. Cash outflows for financial liabilities (including
recognized financial liabilities, excluding derivatives. The interest) without fixed amount or timing are based on the
amounts disclosed are undiscounted net cash outflows conditions existing at December 31.

fortherespective upcoming fiscal years, based onthe

2023 Maturity

Avg. Avg. Less than 1-5 Over Total
Currency duration rate % Tyear years S5years MEUR
EUR 1.2 years 3.09 241.3 720.8 40.0 1,002.1
INR 1.8 years 9.68 0.7 1.6 0.0 2.3
CNY 1.3 years 4.69 1.0 0.5 0.0 1.5
UsD 1.7 years 5.37 10.1 20.7 1.5 32.2
GBP 1.8 years 4.89 2.2 4.0 0.6 6.7
Others 0.8-3.4years 2.23-18.39 16.7 14.8 12.9 44.4
Total debt 4.29 272.0 762.2 55.0 1,089.2
Otherfinancial
liabilities 375.3 8.1 0.0 383.4
Total financial
liabilities 647.3 770.3 55.0 1,472.6
2022 Maturity

Avg. Avg. Less than 1-5 Over Total
Currency duration rate % Tyear years S5years MEUR
EUR 1.5years 2.18 53.4 1,024.5 43.3 1,121.2
INR 1.7 years 8.62 0.3 0.6 0.0 0.9
CNY 1.5years 4.59 1.7 1.3 0.0 3.0
UsD 1.7 years 4.01 8.6 17.3 0.4 26.2
GBP 1.8 years 3.33 1.6 3.9 0.6 6.1
Others 1.1-3.0 years 1.43-20.78 17.0 15.5 13.2 45.7
Total debt 2.58 82.6 1,063.2 57.4 1,203.2
Other financial
labilities 362.4 7.9 0.0 370.3
Total financial
liabilities 444.9 1,071 57.4 1,573.4

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Financial Review
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27.5. Maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
The following table reflects the maturity of all financial liabilities.

Remuneration

Risk Management

Financial Review

27.6. Changesin Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities

2023 Maturity of financial liabilities Non-current Non- Current
interest current interest Current
Amount Less than 1-5 Over bearing lease bearing lease  Financial
Liability type drawn Tyear years 5years 2023 loans liabilities loans liabilities derivatives Total
Loans from financial institutions 776.8 176.9 589.9 10.0 ]:;ﬂ!irak])”ities as of 952 4 104.0 13.3 36.5 15.9 1122.1
Lease liabilities 150.3 37.7 79.0 33.7 y
Pension loans 20.0 50 15.0 0.0 Proceeds 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Otherlong-term debt and short-term loans 7.7 7.6 0.0 0.1 Repayments OE O 0z -441 G0 g0t
Derivative financial instruments .3 .3 0.0 0.0 éfs%‘gzg;gns and 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4
Account and other payables 383.4 375.3 8.1 0.0 Forei
gnexchange _
Total 1,349.5 613.7 692.0 438 movement o e o 0L oo e/
Changesin fairvalues 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -4.6 -4.6
Changesinlease
2022 Maturity of financial liabilities Contracts 0.0 5.9 0.0 -1 0.0 54.9
A ‘ Lessth -5 o Other -176.7 -46.8 176.9 46.8 0.0 0.2
moun ess than - ver
Liability type drawn lyear years 5years Total as of December 31 615.0 n2.7 189.5 37.6 1n.3 966.2
Loans from financial institutions 928.8 0.0 918.8 10.0
Lease liabilities 140.5 36.5 66.2 37.8
Pensionloans 25.0 5.0 20.0 0.0 Non—'current Non- _Current
Other long-term debt and short-term loans 1.9 8.3 3.5 0.2 interest current interest Current . .
Derivative fi iali 15.0 159 0.0 0.0 bearing lease bearing lease  Financial
Aerlvatlve gan?a mstn:)rlnents 370'3 362I4 7‘9 O'O 2022 loans liabilities loans liabilities derivatives Total
ccount and other payables : - : - Total liabilities as of
Total 1,492.3 428.0 1,016.4 47.9 January 362.0 851 579.7 38.3 169 8820
Proceeds 600.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 600.0
Repayments -8.7 0.0 -366.7 -44.] 0.0 -419.5
Acquisitions and
disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Foreign exchange
movement 0.2 0.6 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.1
Changesinfairvalues 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -1.0 -1.0
Changesinlease
Contracts 0.0 61.5 0.0 -1.2 0.0 60.3
Other -1.0 -43.3 0.2 43.3 0.0 -0.8
Total as of December 31 952.4 104.0 13.3 36.5 15.9 1,122.1
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28. Otherlong-termliabilities

2023 2022
Employee benefits 224.3 209.7
Other non-interest-bearing long-
term liabilities 8.1 7.9
Total 232.5 217.7

28.1. Employee benefits

The company and most of its subsidiaries offer retirement
plans which cover the majority of employeesin the
Group. Many of these plans are defined contribution,
where Konecranes' contribution and resulting charge is
fixed at asetlevel oris a set percentage of employees’
pay. However the Group has significant defined benefit
pension plansin the United Kingdom, Germany and
Switzerland as well as individually insignificant plansin
other countries. The companiesin many countries also
have otherlong-term employee benefits such as part-
time pension benefits andjubilee benefits, which are
reported as defined benefit plans.

The UK defined benefit planis administered by an
independent trustee company thatis legally separated
from the Group. The investments are managedby a
professional and independent Fiduciary Manager who

is appointed by the trustees. The Fiduciary Manager
appoints Investment Managers as he/she seefitin order
to achieve the Trustees' stated objectives for the scheme
funding level and taking into account the agreed risk
appetite. The Fiduciary Manager has trigger points setin
conjunctionwith the Trustees which whenreached allows
he/she to make changes to the investments to repatriate
the gains to achieve full funding position. The UK planis
subject to the UK's pensions legislation, isregulated by
the UK Pensions Regulator and is exempt from most UK
taxation throughitsregistered status. The UK plan was
closed tonew membersin 2005. Under the UK plan the
employees are entitled to post-retirement installments
calculated as an average annual basic salary from the best

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Remuneration Risk Management

three years within the last tenyears. The net liability in the
United Kingdomwas EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.0 millionin
2022).

In Germany the defined benefit pension plans are direct
pension promises which are unfunded and administered
by a service provider. The payments to plan participants
start afterretirement orin case of disability or death.
Benefits are based on the number of years worked

and the final salary. The commencement of pension
payments depends on the beginning of the state pension
when the earliest age is 63in case of early retirement.
The old age pension starting from 65 is independent of
the beginning of the state pension. The biggest defined
benefit pension planin Germany is the Mannesmann
Leistungsordnung (MLO), whichis closed to new
employees. The monthly pension benefit provided by
this planis calculated as the ratio Individual pay/Average
pay, times the years of service, times 3.07,and has to

be atleast equalto 2.10 times the years of service. The
net liability in Germany was EUR 194.6 million (EUR 184.8
millionin 2022) of which the MLO planwas EUR130.7
million (EUR124.3 millionin 2022).

The Swiss pension plans are administered via pension
funds, which are legally separated from the Group.

The board of Trustees of the pension funds are equally
composed of representatives of both the employerand
employees. The Trustees are required by law to actin the
interest of all relevant beneficiaries and are responsible
forthe investment policy withregard to the assets and
the administration and financing of the benefits. The plans
functioninand comply with alarge regulatory framework
and comply with the local minimum funding requirements.
The plans are open to new members. Both the company
and employees pay contributions to fund the plans.

The pension plans qualify as defined benefit plan for

IFRS purposes because accruals are by law subject to
aminimum guaranteed rate of return and the plan has

to guarantee a certain legal minimum level of benefits.

Financial Review

Thereishence arisk that the company may have to pay
additional contributions. Under the plans, participants are
alsoinsured against the financial consequences of old
age, disability and death. The net liability in Switzerland was
EUR 4.1 million (EUR 1.8 millionin 2022) of which the pension
planwas EUR 3.9 million (EUR 1.6 millionin 2022).

The defined benefit plans typically expose the company
to actuarialrisks such as: investmentrisk, interest raterisk,
longevity risk and salary risk. The investment riskis being
mitigated by investing the funds both to equity and debt
instruments.

The following tables summarize the components of net
benefit expense recognizedin the statement of profit or
loss and the funded status and amounts recognizedin the
balance sheet fortherespective plans:

28.2. Amounts recognized in the balance sheet

2023 2022
Present value of obligation wholly
unfunded 2201 207.9
Present value of obligation wholly
or partly funded 60.1 558
Defined benefit plan obligations 280.1 263.7
Fair value of plan assets -55.8 -53.9
Total net liability recognized 224.3 209.7
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28.3. Components of defined benefit plan
recorded in comprehensive income

Remuneration Risk Management

28.4. Movements of the present value
of defined benefit obligation

Financial Review

28.5. Major categories of plan assets
at the end of the reporting period

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Service cost: Obligation as of January 1 263.7 358.0 Equity instruments 6.6 4.6
Current service cost 7.9 6.7 Translation difference 1.6 -2.4 Debtinstruments 32.0 30.7
Netinterest cost 7.2 2.9 Divestment of business -0.2 0.0 Insurances 2.0 13.6
Past service cost -0.1 -0.2 Settlements and curtailments -0.1 0.0 Real estate 6.3 3.3
Components of defined benefit 15.0 9.5 Current service cost 8.0 6.9 Others 9.0 1.7
plan costs recordedin profitor loss Interest cost 10.0 4.3 Total plan assets 55.8 53.9
Past service cost -0.1 -0.2
2023 2022 Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) arising The plan assets do not contain any Konecranes shares or
from changesin demographic -0.3 -0.1
Remeasurement on the net defined assumptions assets.
benefit liability: . .
The return on plan assets (excluding Aqtpanfl galnﬁ(—)/lossef§ g | 13.2 96.3
arising rromchanges infinancia o -70. . . .
amountsincluded in the net interest _0.5 20.2 assur‘%ptions 9 Virtually all equity and debt instruments have quoted
:Xfenf) ga.ms((—))//llosses((:) . fActuariaI gains (-)/ losses (+) arising % 136 pricesinactive markets. The plan assets originate
Ctuarialgains(-)/losses (+) arising romexperience ’ ! i i i
from changes in demographic 03 _01 Benefits sd ) 88 202 from the United Kingdom, Switzerland, Germany, the
assumptions P - . Philippines and India. Itis the policy of the UK fund to invest
) ) Obligation as of December 31 280.1 263.7 . )
Actuarial gains (-) /losses (+) approximately 20-25% to growth assets such as equity
arising from changesin financial 13.2 -96.3 )
assumptions instruments as well as property and growth funds and
Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) arising 392 136 Of the benefits paid, EUR 3.9 million (2022: EUR 6.1 million) 75-80% torisk reducing assets such as corporate bonds
from experience was paid from planassets and EUR15.0 million (2022: EUR and fixed orindex-linked gilts. The Swiss pension funds are
glgrr?ggsntesr:tesp%frg:g?:gtl?]eerr\eflt 15.5 _62.6 14.1 million) directly by the employer. secured by insurances. The Company can only indirectly
comprehensive income and partially determine the asset allocation through the
50/50 employer/employee representationin the board
Total (income (-) / expense (+)) 30.5 -53.1 Movements of the fair value

The actuarial gains /lossesin 2023 and 2022 were mainly
caused by the change indiscountratesin the defined

benefit plans of Germany, Switzerland and the United

Kingdom.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

of plan assets 2023 2022
Fairvalue of plan assets as of January 1 53.9 79.5
Translation difference 1.4 -1.9
Divestment of business -0.3 0.0
Interestincome 2.7 1.4
Employee contributions 0.4 0.4
Employer contributions 1.0 0.8
Thereturn onplan assets (excluding

amountsincludedinthe netinterest 04 -20.2
expense)

Benefits paid (-) -3.9 -6.1
Ea;(r:\éz:rlll:)eecr);]plan assets as of 55.8 53.9

of Trustees. The return on plan assets was EUR 3.2 million
(2022: EUR -18.8 million).
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28.6. Defined benefit plan:

the main actuarial assumptions
With the objective of presenting the assets and liabilities of
the defined benefit plans at their fair value on the balance
sheet, assumptions underlAS19 are set by reference
to market conditions at the valuation date. Qualified
independent actuaries have updated the actuarial
valuations under|AS 19 of the major defined benefit
schemes operated by the Group on December 31,2023.
The assumptions used by the actuaries are chosenfroma
range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to the
long-term nature of the schemes, may not necessarily be
borne outin practice. The actuarial assumptions used to
calculate the benefit liabilities therefore vary according to
the countryinwhich the planis situated. The following table
shows the assumptions, weighted by liabilities, used to
value the principal defined benefit plans.

Germany 2023 2022
Discountrate % 3.30 3.71
Expected development of salaries % 2.67 2.66
Expected development of pensions % 2.00 2.00
Mortality table: Richttafeln 2018 G von Klaus Heubeck

UK 2023 2022
Discountrate % 4.80 5.00
Expected development of pensions % 3.10 3.10

Mortality table: SAPS base table of S3PA, applied at year of birth
and weighted by male/female deferred members and pensioners,
and CMI12020 (2022: CMI2020) projections withalong term
improvement parameter of 1.25% (2022:1.25%) per annum.

Switzerland 2023 2022
Discountrate % 1.35 2.15
Expected development of salaries % 1.50 1.50

Mortality table: BVG 2020 Generational and improvement
factors CMI2019 LTR1.5%.

Other 2023 2022

Discountrate % 2.18-15.44 2.80-10.50
Expected development of salaries % 114-11.00 116-11.00
Expected developmentof pensions%  1.60-10.59 2.00-10.57

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

The below table shows the % effect of achangeinthe
significant actuarial assumptions used to determine

the retirement benefits obligationsin our main defined
benefit pension obligation countries. The effect shows
the increase or decrease in the liability. In the calculation
of the sensitivity of the discount rate, any effect fromthe
return of plan assets has beenignored.

Sensitivity analysis Increase Decrease
0.5% points change inthe

discount rate -5.4% 5.9%
0.5% points change in the expected

development of salaries 0.4% -0.4%
0.5% points change in the expected 320% -3.0%

development of pensions

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined
based onreasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period
and may not be representative of the actual change. Itis
based onachangeinthe key assumption while holding
all other assumptions constant. Alinear extrapolation

of these amounts based on alternative changesin the
assumptions as well as an addition of combined changes
inthe individual assumptionsis not possible.

There are no changes in the way the sensitivity analyses
were performed compared to the previous years.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation
weighted by the present value of the defined benefit
obligationis 11years (2022:12 years).

The Group expects to contribute EUR 1.0 millionto the
above defined benefit pension plansin 2024 (Employer
contribution).
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29. Share-based payments

Performance Share Plans Plan2020-2022

Plan 2021-2023

Remuneration

Plan2022-2024

Risk Management

Plan 2023-2025

Performance period 1.1.2020-31.12.2022

Vesting year 2023
Maximum number of participants 170
Maximum number of shares 600,000
Non-market vesting conditions Separate 1-year
targets:

Adjusted EPS!

1) Adjustments to the EPS include restructuring costs, costs related to mergers and acquisitions and separately defined other exceptional items.

1.1.2021-31.12.2023
2024

170

634,921

Separate 1-year
targets:

Adjusted EPS'

1.1.2022-31.12.2024
2025

170

600,000

Separate 1-year
targets %

Adjusted EPS'

1.1.2023-31.12.2025
2026

170

700,000
Cumulative

targets:

Adjusted EPS'(60%)

Compound annual

growth rate (CAGR) for

Sales (40%)

2) Forthe 2022-2024 vesting periods granted in 2022 the equity settled portionis based on non-market vesting condition (adjusted EPS) for

the year 2022 and 2023 when the condition for 2024 is stillopen.

The payment of the total reward takes place if the plan
term conditions are met. The potential rewards from the
planwillbe paid partly incompany shares and partly in
cash afterthe performance periods. The cash proportion
isintended to cover taxes and tax-related costs arising
from the rewards to the plan participants. As arule, no
reward will be paidif plan participant's employment or
service ends before the reward payment.

Restricted Share Unit Plan

The Restricted Share Unit Plan 2017 is directed to selected
key employeesin Konecranes. The vesting periods will
last for12 to 36 months. The prerequisite forreward
paymentis that akey employee’s employment or service
continues until the end of the vesting period. The rewards
to be allocated on the basis of the entire plan willamount
to amaximum total of 200,000 Konecranes Plc shares
including also the proportion to be paidin cash. No shares
(17,1770in 2022) of the restricted share unit plan were
allocated during 2023.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Restricted Share Unit Plan 2020
Konecranes Plc and Cargotec Corporation signed on

October1,2020, acombination agreement and a merger

planto combine the two companies through a merger.
The Board of Directors of Konecranes Plc decided to
establish a share-basedincentive plan for the Group key
employees. The Restricted Share Unit Plan 2020 was
intended to function as a bridge plan for the transition

period before the closing of the Transaction and forming

the combined company in the merger. The aim of the

Plan was to align the objectives of the shareholders and

the key employees, to secure business continuity during

the Transition Period, and to retain key employees at the

company.

As the mergerwas cancelledinMarch 2022, also the
Restricted Share Unit Plan 2020 was cancelled in 2022.

Ownership Obligations
Amember of the Konecranes Leadership Team must hold

aminimum of 50 percent of any net shares given on the

basis of these plans, until the member’s shareholding

Financial Review

inthe company in total corresponds to the value of the
member’s annual salary and the member’'s membershipin
the Konecranes Leadership Team continues.

Fair value

The fairvalue of the equity-settled portion of the share
rights granted is estimated at the date of grant using a
Monte-Carlo simulation model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the share rights were
granted. The model simulates the TSR and compares

it against the group of principal competitors. It takes
into account historical and expected dividends, and the
share price fluctuation covariance of the Group and its
competitors to predict the distribution of relative share
performance. Fair value of the cash-settled portion
ismeasured at each reporting date using a binomial
option pricing model taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the instruments were granted and
the current likelihood of achieving the specified target.

Employee Share Savings Plan

The Group has launched an Employee Share Savings

Plan (ESSP)inwhich each participant willreceive one free
matching share for every two acquired savings shares.
Matching shares willbe delivered to a participant if the
participant holds the acquired shares from the plan until the
end of the designated holding period. The matching shares
willbe paidin Konecranes shares and partly in cash. The
expenses of the plan are recognized over the vesting period
based onthe quarterly acquired savings share amounts.

The fairvalue of the equity-settled portion of the share
options grantedis estimated at the date of grant using

a binomial option pricing model, taking into account

the terms and conditions upon which the share options
were granted. Fair value of the cash-settled portion
ismeasured at eachreporting date using a binomial
option pricing model taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the instruments were granted and
the current likelihood of achieving the specified target.
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29.1. Expenses for employee service

2023 2022
Expense arising from equity-settled 15.7 6.7
share-based payment transactions ) )
Expense arising from cash-settled 1.2 19
share-based payment transactions ) '
Total expense arising from share- 16.9 4.7

based payment transactions

The carrying amount of the liability arising from cash
settled portionwas EUR 1.4 million (2022: EUR 0.8 million).

29.2. Changesin the number of gross share
rewards in Performance Share Plan

2023 2022

Number Number

of shares of shares

Asof January 1 1,655,470 1,715,800
Share rewards granted 625,500 581,670
Share rewards awarded -351,338 -149,661
Share rewards expired -159,062 -477,839
Share rewards forfeited -32,280 -14,500
Total as of December 31 1,738,290 1,655,470

29.3. Changesin the number of net share
rewardsin Restricted Share Unit Plan2020

2023 2022

Number Number

of shares of shares

Asof January 1 0 110,686
Share rewards expired 0 -110,686
Total as of December 31 (0] (o]

29.4. Changesin the number of gross share
rewards in Employee Share Savings Plan

2023 2022

Number Number

of shares of shares

Outstanding as of January 1 209,577 190,438
Share rewards granted 76,393 84,047
Share rewards awarded -71,027 -52,620
Share rewards forfeited -13,159 -12,288
Outstanding as of December 31 201,784 209,577

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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29.5. Assumptions made in determining the fair
value of Performance Shares Plan

The fairvalue for the cash settled portion is remeasured

at eachreporting date until the possible share delivery.

The fair value of the liability will thus change inaccordance

with the Konecranes Plc share price. The fairvalue for the

equity settled portion has been determined at grant using

the fair value of Konecranes share as of the grant date and

expected dividendyield.

Financial Review

2020

Restricted
2023 plan 2022 plan 2021plan share unit plan 2020 plan
Share price at grant, EUR 35.34 2213 38.77 27.74 26.95
ona SRS EgRePertingperiod 4078 4078 4078 4078 4078
Expected volatility, % * 34.0% 48.0% 26.0% 31.0% 32.0%
Risk-free interestrate, % 2.8% 0.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected dividend per share, pa, EUR 1.4 1.3 1.7 3.2 1.7
Expected contractual life inyears 2.9 2.8 2.8 0.0 2.5
‘r’gsv'g:‘c}segtat‘gg?aenfﬁga‘g'“e of the share 31.21 18.20 3375 24.54 22.59
Modelused Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Black-Scholes

* Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Konecranes share using monthly observations over

corresponding maturity.

30. Related party transactions

The related parties of Konecranesinclude subsidiaries
(see Company list), associated companies, joint ventures
and joint operations, pension fundin the United Kingdom
and the key management personnel of the Group and
major shareholders. The key management personnel of
the Group is comprised of the Board of Directors, the
CEO and the Konecranes Leadership Team.

30.1. Key Management compensation

Board of Directors

The remuneration packages for Board members are
resolved by the Annual General Meeting (AGM) on
proposal by the Nomination Committee. The AGM
2023 confirmed an annual fee of EUR 150,000 for

the Chairman of the Board (2022: EUR140,000), EUR
100,000 for the Vice Chairman of the Board (2022: EUR
100,000),and EUR 70,000 for other Board members
(2022: EUR70,000). In case the term of office of a Board
member ends before the closing of the Annual General
Meetingin 2024, he or sheis entitled to the prorated
amount of the annual remuneration calculated on the
basis of his orheractual termin office. Members of

the Board of Directors are also eligible forameeting
fee of EUR1,000 for each meeting that they attend. In
addition, compensation of EUR 1,500 was approved
per meeting for attendance at Board committee
meetings (2022: EUR1,500). However, the chairman of
the audit committee s entitled to a compensation of
EUR 5,000 (2022: EUR 3,000) and the chairman of the
human resources comittee EUR 3,000 per meeting for
attendance at committee meetings.
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Accordingto the proposal, 40% of the annual remuneration
istobe used foracquiring sharesinthe company. The
remuneration may also be paid by transferring treasury
shares based on the authorization given to the Board of
Directors by the General Meeting. In case such purchase

of shares cannot be carried out due to reasonsrelated
eitherto the company or to aboard member, the annual
remuneration shall be paid entirely in cash.

Travel expenses will be compensated against receipt.

Presidentand CEO

The Human Resources Committee reviews the President
and CEQO's performance. Based on this review and
relevant facts, the Board sets the total compensation
package for the President and CEO.

OnAugust 6,2021, Konecranes announced that Rob Smith
has decidedtoleave the company. He left Konecranes
onDecember 31,2021. The company's CFO, Teo Ottola,
who also serves as Deputy CEO, acted as the interim CEO
from January 1,2022, until October18,2022. Konecanes
announced June 10,2022, that Anders Svenssonhas been
appointed as Konecranes' new President and CEO and he
assumed hisrole on October19,2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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2023
Number of shares Value of
Total compensation to as part of compensation Compensation Total
the Board of directors compensation inshares, EUR paidin cash, EUR compensation, EUR
Chairman of the Board 2,023 63,614 125,552 189,166
Board members 7,473 234,288 558,876 793,164
Total 9,496 297,903 684,427 982,330
2022
Number of shares Value of

Total compensation to as part of compensation Compensation Total
the Board of directors compensation inshares, EUR paidin cash, EUR compensation, EUR
Chairman of the Board 1,874 51,298 90,036 141,334
Board members 7167 192,005 394,831 586,836
Total 9,041 243,304 484,866 728,170
Expense of statutory pension plans was EUR O.1millionin 2023 (EUR O.1millionin 2022).
Presidentand CEO 2023 2022
Salary and benefits, EUR (Anders Svensson October19,2022- December 31,2023,
Teo OttolaJanuary 1, 2022-October 18, 2022) 814,208 750,905
Annual variable pay, EUR 0 1,087,088
Total 814,208 1,837,993
Expense of statutory pension plans (Anders Svensson October19,2022 - December 31,2023,
Teo Ottola January 1,2022-October 18,2022) 136,565 203,162
Expense of voluntary pension plans (Anders Svensson October 19,2022 - December 31,2023, 160.000 48 802
Teo OttolaJanuary 1,2022-October18,2022) ’ !
Total 296,565 251,964
Accrued annual variable pay of CEO 799,203 48,557
The accrual of variable pay is paid during the following year.
Shareholding in Konecranes Plc (humber of shares) 324 0
Performance share rights allocated (number of share rights) 72,170 17,170
Share-based payment costs, EUR 564,439 -68,933
Retirementage 63 years 63 years
Period of notice 6 months

18 months
Severance payment (including 6 months notice period) salary and

fringe benefits
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Konecranes Leadership Team Konecranes Leadership Team excluding the President and CEO 2023 2022
The Konecranes Leadership Team (KLT) convenes as Salary and benefits, EUR 1,992,325 1,952,574
frequently as necessary, normally on a monthly basis. Annual variable pay, EUR 571,026 1,859,503
Business Areas have theirown management teams that Total e 3,812,077
convene onaregularbasis. Only the KLT is classified as key Expense of statutory pension plans 301,595 430913
management personnel due to the decision making power. Expense of voluntary pension plans 13.434 14.358

Total 315,029 445,271

The Konecranes Leadership Team consists of the
following members: Shareholding in Konecranes Plc (number of shares) 156,037 162,796

e Presidentand CEO

ewsaron STANVADIINOM

« Chief Financial Officer, Deputy CEO Performance share rights allocated (number of share rights) 202,000 256,000
) ) . . . Share-based payment costs, EUR 2,657,376 196,577
o Executive Vice President, Industrial Service and
Equipment
o Executive Vice President, Port Solutions, and Executive There were no loans outstanding to the Konecranes Leadership Team at end of the period 2023 and 2022.
Vice President, Technologies
e SeniorVice President, Human Resources There were no guarantees on behalf of the Konecranes Leadership Team in 2023 and 2022.

e SeniorVice President, General Counsel
The employee benefits to the key management personnel of the Group were in total EUR 8.9 millionin 2023 (EUR 6.6 million

The Human Resources Committee of the Board will, based in2022).
upon arecommendation by the President and CEO, make
aproposal to the Board concerning the approval of the 30.2. Transactions with associated companies and joint arrangements
base compensationreview and incentive levels for KLT
2023 2022
members.
Sales of goods and services with associated companies and joint arrangements 18.9 25.4
) o Receivables from associated companies and joint arrangements 2.3 4.
The retirement age of the Finnish members of the KLT
(excluding the President and CEO)is setaccording to the Purchases of goods and services from associated companies and joint arrangements 67.7 64.5
Employees Pensions Act (TyEL). The Finnish members of Liabilities to associated companies and joint arrangements 0.9 1.5

the KLT also participate in the contribution-based group

pensioninsurance scheme offered to key personnel Salesto and purchases fromrelated parties are concluded using terms equivalent to arm'slength transaction.
in Finland. The defined contribution payment by the

company is 1% of annual salary excluding performance

based compensation (annual orlong-termincentives).

The Finnish KLT members also have life insurance and

disability insurances. Non-Finnish members have local

insurances.
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30.3. Transactions with Pension Fund
in the United Kingdom

2023 2022
Employer contributions 0.0 0.2

31. Guarantees and contingent liabilities

2023 2022

For own commercial obligations
Guarantees 1,088.3 862.5
Other 61.6 72.7
Total 1,149.9 935.2

32. Financial assets and liabilities

32.1. Carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities

Remuneration Risk Management

From time to time Konecranes provides customers with
guarantees that guarantee the company's obligations
pursuant to the applicable customer contract. In sales of

investment goods (machinery) the typical guarantees are
the following:

tender guarantees (bid bonds) given to the customer to
secure the bidding process

advance payment guarantees given to the customerto
secure theirdown payment for project

performance guarantees to secure customers over the
Company’s own performance in customer contracts, and
warranty period guarantees to secure the correction of
defects during the warranty period.

Contingent liabilities relating to litigation
Various legal actions, claims and other proceedings pend
against the Group invarious countries. These actions,

Financial Review

claims and other proceedings are typical of this industry
and consistent with a global business offering that
encompasses a wide range of products and services.
These mattersinvolve contractual disputes, warranty
claims, product liability (including design defects,
manufacturing defects, failure to warn and asbestos
legacy), employment, vehicles and other matters
involving claims of general liability.

While the final outcome of these matters cannot be
predicted with certainty, Konecranes has the opinion,
based ontheinformation available to date and
considering the grounds presented for such claims, the
available insurance coverage and the reserves made,
that the outcome of such actions, claims and other
proceedings, if unfavorable, would not have a material,
adverse impact on the financial condition of the Group.

2023 2022
Carrying amounts Carrying amounts

Fairvalue Fairvalue through Amortized by balance Fairvalue Fairvalue through Amortized by balance
Financial assets through OCI income statement cost sheetitem through OCI income statement cost sheetitem
Current financial assets
Account and otherreceivables 0.0 0.0 621.0 621.0 0.0 0.0 622.5 622.5
Derivative financial instruments 13.6 9.9 0.0 23.5 12.2 31.5 0.0 43.7
Cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.0 586.6 586.6 0.0 0.0 413.9 413.9
Total 13.6 9.9 1,207.6 1,231.1 12.2 31.5 1,036.3 1,080.0
Financial liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 0.0 0.0 727.7 727.7 0.0 0.0 1,056.4 1,056.4
Other payables 0.0 0.0 8.1 8.1 0.0 0.0 7.9 7.9
Current financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 0.0 0.0 227.2 227.2 0.0 0.0 49.8 49.8
Derivative financial instruments 5.3 6.0 0.0 n.3 10.7 5.2 0.0 15.9
Account and other payables 0.0 0.0 375.3 375.3 0.0 0.0 362.4 362.4
Total 5.3 6.0 1,338.2 1,349.5 10.7 5.2 1,476.4 1,492.3

Additional information on financial instruments is presented in Note 34.
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32.2. Fair values
Setoutbelowis acomparison, by class, of the carrying
amounts and fair value of the Group's financial assets and

liabilities:

Carrying amount Fair value
Financial assets 2023 2022 2023 2022 Note
Current financial assets
Account and otherreceivables 621.0 622.5 621.0 622.5 19,20
Derivative financial instruments 23.5 43.7 23.5 43.7 34.1
Cash and cash equivalents 586.6 413.9 586.6 413.9 22
Total 1,231.1 1,080.0 1,231.1 1,080.0
Financial liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 727.7 1,056.4 734.7 1,082.4 27.1
Other payables 8.1 7.9 8.1 7.9
Current financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 227.2 49.8 227.6 49.8 27.2
Derivative financial instruments 1.3 15.9 1.3 15.9 34.1
Account and other payables 375.3 362.4 375.3 362.4 25.2
Total 1,349.5 1,492.3 1,356.9 1,518.3

The management assessed that cash and short-term
deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, bank
overdrafts and other current liabilities approximate their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities
of these instruments.

The fairvalue of the financial assets and liabilities is
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchangedina current transaction between willing
parties, otherthaninaforced orliquidation sale. Long-
term fixed-rate and variable-rate borrowings are
evaluated by the Group based on parameters such as
interest rates and the risk characteristics of the loan.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

IFRS 7 requires that the classification of financial
instruments at fair value be determined by reference to
the source of inputs used to derive the fair value. This
classification uses the following three-level hierarchy:

e Levell-quotedpricesinactive markets foridentical
financial instruments

e Level2- inputs otherthan quoted pricesincluded
within level 1that are observable for the financial
instrument, either directly (i.e. as prices) orindirectly
(i.e. derived from prices)

e Level 3-inputs forthe financialinstrument that are not
based onobservable market data (unobservable inputs)
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32.3. Hierarchy of fair values 33. Management of financial risks

The following table allocates financial assets and financial

liabilities measured at fair value to the three levels of the The nature of Konecranes’ business andits global

fairvalue hierarchy. presence exposesit to arange of financial risks. These
2023 2022 risks include (i) market risks, whichinclude potential

unfavorable changesin foreign exchangerates, interest
rates and commodities (ii) liquidity risk and (iii) credit and
counterparty risk.

Financial assets Levell Level 2 Level 3 Levell Level 2 Level 3

Derivative financial instruments

ewsaron STANVADIINOM

Foreign exchange forward contracts 0.0 22.9 0.0 0.0 41.9 0.0
Commodity derivatives 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 .
Interest rate derivatives 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 1.8 0.0 33.1. Market risk
Total 0.0 23.5 0.0 0.0 43.7 0.0 The responsibility of identifying, evaluating and controlling
the financial risks arising from the Group’s global business
Other financial assets operations is divided between the business units and the
Cash and cash equivalents 585.6 0.0 1.0 413.1 0.0 0.8 Group Treasury. However, the Group uses an approach
Total 585.6 0.0 1.0 4131 0.0 0.8 inwhich most of the management of financial risks is
Total financial assets 585.6 23.5 1.0 413.1 43.7 0.8 ) g
centralized to Konecranes’ Group Treasury. The Group
Financial liabilities Treasury functions within the legal entity Konecranes
Derivative financial instruments Finance Corporation. By centralization and netting of
Foreign exchange forward contracts 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 15.8 0.0 internal foreign currency cash flows, the Group’s external
Commodity derivatives 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 hedging needs can be minimized.
Total 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 15.9 0.0

Konecranes Finance Corporationis not a profit centerin
Other financial liabilities P P

Interest bearing liabilities 0.0 954.9 0.0 0.0 1106.2 0.0 the sense that it would pursue to maximize its profits. The
Other payables 0.0 0.0 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.8 company aims to serve the operating companies of the
Total 0.0 954.9 0.8 0.0 1,106.2 0.8 Group inreducing their financial risks.

Total financial liabilities 0.0 966.1 0.8 0.0 1,221 0.8

The Group’s global business operations involve market
risks in the form of currency, interest rate and commodity

There were no significant changes in classification The level 3valuations in other payables are contingent risk. The Group's objective is to increase the short-term
of fairvalue of financial assets and financial liabilities consideration liabilities resulting from business stability of the financial environment for the business
inthe period 2022 to 2023. There were also no combinations or the acquisition of non-controlling operations by reducing the negative effects caused by
significant movements between the fair value hierarchy interest and the cash-settled share-based payment price fluctuations and otheruncertainties in the financial
classifications. liability. markets.

Business units hedge theirrisks internally with the Group
Treasury. As aresult of this, most of the financial risks

of the Group are concentrated into one company,
Konecranes Finance Corporation, and can be evaluated
and controlledin an efficient way.
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Almost all funding, cash management and foreign
exchange with banks and other external counterparties
are centralized to and managed in Konecranes Finance
Corporationinaccordance with the Group's Treasury
Policy. Inafew special cases, when the local central bank
regulation prohibits using group services in hedging and
funding, this must be done directly between an operating
company and a bank under the supervision of the Group
Treasury.

Konecranes Finance Corporation uses a treasury system,
which enables practically areal-time processing of
transactions and in-depthrecords of activities and
performance. The standard reporting is done on a weekly
basis andit covers group-level commercial and financial
cash flows, foreign currency transaction exposure, debt
positions, portfolio of derivatives and counterparty credit
exposure for financial transactions. In addition, all Group
companies participate in the monthly managerial and
statutory reporting.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s global business operations generate foreign
exchange risk. However, most of the business units only
have transactionsin theirown currency, i.e. these units
have their sales and costs as well asinternal funding from
Konecranes Finance Corporationin theirlocalhome
currency. Only 30 out of some 150 Group companies
operateregularly inaforeign currency. These companies
hedge their foreign exchange risk with Group Treasury.
Depending on the business area and the probability

of the cash flows, the hedging covers operative cash
flows for the next 1-24 months and is done by using
internal foreign exchange forward contracts. In this

way, Konecranes Finance Corporation can manage the
foreign exchange risk of the whole Group. The foreign
currency funding of the other Group companies and
possibly some external foreign currency funding can net
some of these foreign currency items. The residual net
exposure can be covered with commercial banks using

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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foreign exchange forward contracts or currency options.
Currency derivatives belonging to hedge accounting are
managed in a separate portfolio than derivatives hedging
other commercial flows and funding and cannot thus be
netted out against otherinternal items. These instruments
are used when the hedging effect cannot be obtained
throughinternal netting and matching of cash flows within
the Group.

The business units’ commercial bidsin a foreign currency
can be hedged by using currency options or exchange
forwards, but, in general, using currency clauses covers
therisk.

For certainlarge crane projects, the Group applies hedge
accountingunderlAS 39. Hedges are done by using
foreign exchange forward contracts. Currently, only

USD denominated projects are includedin the hedge
accounting. The hedge accounting portfolio comprises
both USD sales and purchases where gross flows are
hedged separately. At the end of 2023, the hedge
accounting net cash flows totaled USD 293 million (USD
338 millionin2022).

The following table shows the transaction exposure of
Konecranes Finance Corporation as of December 31,
2023, and December 31,2022 (in EUR millions):

Financial Review

2023 2022
AED -1 1
AUD 32 57
BRL 2 3
CAD 28 36
CHF Y 4
CLP 0 1
CNY -102 -35
CzK -4 -15
DKK 0 8
GBP 83 85
HUF 0 -3
IDR 7 8
INR 4 2
JPY 0 1
KZT 0 -1
MXN -2 -2
MYR 2 14
NOK 2 2
PHP 6 5
PLN 0 1
RON 2 1
SEK -148 -181
SGD -5 -27
THB 4 6
TWD 1 0
usb 294 427
VND 1 1
ZAR 2 4
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The following table shows the translation exposure, which
represents the equity of the Group inalocal currency as
of December 31,2023, and December 31,2022 (in EUR

millions):

2023 2022
AED 10 10
AUD 13 12
BDT 1 1
BRL 18 19
CAD 14 n
CHF 7 9
CLP 13 n
CNY 109 90
CZK 1 10
DKK 8 [¢)
GBP -17 -18
HKD 1 1
HUF 2 3
INR 17 8
IDR 15 17
JPY -3 -8
MAD 1 2
MXN 4 1
MYR 8 n
NOK 1 1
PEN 7 )
PHP 2 4
PLN 3 2
RON 2 2
RUB 4 6
SAR -2 -2
SGD 17 5
SEK -8 -10
THB 1 15
TRY 0 -1
TWD 3 4
UAH -1 -1
uUsbD 1n2 57
VND 1 1
ZAR 6 4
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Seenote 34 forthe notional and fair values of derivative
financialinstruments.

Changesincurrency rates can affect the profitability
and equity of the Group. The US dollar has the biggest
impact, as many of the large crane projects outside the
United States are denominatedin USD and because the
Group has alot of local business operations in the United
States. A depreciation of the USD would have a negative
impact.

The following table shows the theoretical effects that
changesinthe EUR/USD exchange rate would have on
the Group’s annual EBIT and equity. An appreciation of

US dollaragainst euro for10% increases EBIT by EUR 64.2
million (48.9 millionin2022) andincreases equity by EUR
12.7 million (6.4 millionin 2022). The below table provides a
sensitivity analysis over the past two years:

Changein

EUR/USD 2023 2023 2022 2022
rate EBIT Equity EBIT Equity
+10% -52.5 -10.4 -40.0 -5.3
-10% +64.2 +12.7 +48.9 +6.4

The EBIT effect comprises transaction exposure for
euro-based companies having frequent salesin USD
and the translation exposure from EBIT generatedin
USD translated into euros. The transaction positionis
estimated for2023 as the USD positions change from
oneyear to anotherand these changes are mainly due
to timing of major ports projects and currencies used
inthem. The estimate of the effectsis based onthe
assumption that the USD denominated transactions are
not hedged. Inpractice, however, all large projects with
long maturities generating a substantial portion of the
annual changesin the transaction position are hedged
and subject to project specific pricing, and the sensitivity
changes based onthe net exposure of the outstanding
payables andreceivables at the yearend 2023 are not
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material. The change in equity is the translation exposure
onthe Group’s equity in USD.

The appreciating USD has a positive impact on the
Group's operating margin whenitimpacts the revenues
and costsreported in euros asymmetrically. Thisis due to
the fact that the exchange rate change impacts mostly
both Group's revenues and costs and partly only either
of these. If the EBIT generatedin USD based entities as
well as cash flows from long-lasting projects, as they are
subject to project specific pricing which in practice may
be adjusted toreflect the currency rate changes, are
excluded from the sensitivity analysis, the effect on EBIT
is estimated to be approximately a EUR TI millionincrease
(EUR12 millionin 2022) when the dollar appreciates 10
percent.

Interest rate risk

Changesinmarketinterestrates have animpact on the
Group’s netinterest expenses and the market value

of interestrate derivatives. The objective forinterest
rate risk managementis to reduce the volatility impact
the marketinterestrate changes cause by optimizing
the allocation between fixed and floating interest
rates according to principles setin capital structure
management.

Approximately 92% of the Group's interest-bearing
liabilities are denominatedin euro (94%in 2022). See note
27.3 forthe currency split of outstanding debt.

The portion of the Group’s long-term debt of total debt
isrelated to the Group’s gearingratio. The higher the
ratiois, the bigger the share of long-term debt should

be of the totalloan portfolioin line with principles setin

the capital structure management. The interest rate risk
related tolong-termloans may be hedged withinterest
rate derivatives such as interest rate swaps forwhich hedge
accountingis applied. Otherinstruments that canbe used
forwhichno hedge accountingis applied are forward rate
agreements, interest rate futures and interest rate options.
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Achange of one percentage pointininterestratesinthe
Group’slong-term debt portfolio would have the following
effect onthe Group’sincome statement and equity:

Changein 2023 2022

interest Income 2023 Income 2022
rates statement Equity statement Equity
+1 -4.8 +1.4 -75 +2.8
-1 +5.4 -15 +7.8 -3.0

The sensitivity analysis is excluding the interest-bearing
assets. The effect onincome statement is comprised of
the Group’s floating long-term debt whichis recognized
through the statement of income. The effect on equity
is comprised of the changes in fair value of interestrate
derivatives, measured through other comprehensive
income, which are hedging the debt portfolio.

Commodity risk

By using fuel oil derivatives, the Group may reduce the
negative effect caused by oil price fluctuation onits sea
freight transportation costs. In case the transportation cost
is linked to EU greenhouse gas emission prices, the Group
may opt to hedge the price risk of such emissions as well.

In certain large crane projects, price of some sub-
contracted components may be floating with the market
prices of certain metals, such as copper or nickel. In such
cases the Group may enterinto commodity derivatives
that mitigate the metal price fluctuationrisk.

The overallimportance of the energy, metal and emission
priceriskis small compared to other financial risks and
cannot be described as significant.

See note 34 for the notional and fair values of derivative
financial instruments.

Steel prices are fixed as a normal part of the procurement
process. Price changes naturally affect the future
procurement, but these changes can be takeninto
considerationin the price quotes to the end customers.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Inlarge crane projects, the steel structures are
sub-contracted and as a normal part of the sub-
contracting process, the steelisincludedin the price
of the subcontracting (i.e. the price is fixed with the
subcontractor).

The Group can procure steel and steel components
and thus may have aninventory of those. Market price
fluctuation of steel canimpact the profitability of
customer projects or cause inventory obsolescence.

33.2. Credit and counterparty risks

Creditrisk arises from the potential failure of acommercial
counterparty to meetits commercial payment obligations.
To limit this risk, the Group applies a conservative credit
policy towards customers. Itis Konecranes' practice to
review customers carefully before enteringinto formal
business relationships and to require credit reports from
new customers. Customer credit risks are mitigated with
advance payments, letters of credits, payment guarantees
and creditinsurance where applicable. With these actions
and careful monitoring of the customer payments, credit
risks can be mitigated.

The business units manage credit risks related to their
commercial flows. There is currently no significant
concentration of creditrisk regarding the commercial
activities, as the number of customers is high and their
geographic distributionis wide. It is the Group’s policy
not to fundits customers beyondregular payment terms.
Seenote 19 foratable of an aging analysis of accounts
receivable. The theoretical maximum credit risk equals the
carrying amount of allreceivables.

Counterparty risk arises from the potential failure of
afinancialinstitution to meetits payment obligations
regarding financialinstruments. All credit risks related

to otherfinancial instruments than the regularaccounts
receivable are managed by Konecranes Group Treasury.
Thereisno substantial concentration of credit risk
regarding the financialinstruments, since investments are
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rare and hedging instruments are done with a number of
banks. Additionally, counterparties for financial instruments
are limited to the core banks of the Group. These are all
major banks with good credit ratings. The majority of all
financialinstruments are of short-term nature, with maturity
of less than one year. There are no significant deposits or
loans granted with external counterparties.

The Group has counterparty risk in form of cash holdings
in several banks around the world. Despite the active cash
management structures the Group hasinplace, cash
holdings globally with several banks are needed to ensure
the liquidity of Group companies. The Group Treasury
follows closely the exposure in the Group according

to principles set outin the Treasury Policy and takes
necessary actions forreducing therisk.

Acreditriskis run on the financial assets of the Group,
which consist of cash and cash equivalents, receivables
and certain derivatives arising from default of the other
party, with a maximum risk equal to the carrying amount of
theseinstruments.

33.3. Liquidity risks

Liquidity risks concern the availability of liquid assets
orfunding. Lack of funding might jeopardize normal
business operations and eventually might endanger the
ability to fulfill daily payment obligations.

Formanaging the liquidity risks, the Group has established
EUR 350 million committed revolving credit facility with
aninternationalloan syndication (2023-2028). At the end
of 2023 the facility was unutilized. To cover the short-
term funding needs, Konecranes Finance Corporation
canborrow frominstitutional investors through domestic
commercial paper program (totaling EUR 500 million). In
addition, business units around the world have working
capital facilities totaling some EUR 270 million to cover the
day-to-day funding needs. Cash and cash equivalents
totaled EUR586.6 million at the end of 2023 (EUR 413.9
millionin2022).
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See note 27.3 for the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities.

33.4. Capital structure management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital structure
managementis to ensure thatit maintains a good credit
status and a healthy capital ratio to supportits business
operations. At the same time, the Group also aims to
maximize shareholdervalue by effective use of capital.

The Group managesits capital structure and fine-tunes

it to adjust to probable changesin economic conditions.
These actions may include adjusting the dividend payment
to shareholders, buying back own shares orissuing new
shares.

The Group monitorsits capital structure using gearing ratio.
Thisis calculated as aratio of interest-bearing liabilities less
liquid assets lessloansreceivable to total equity. At the end
of 2023, the gearing ratio was 22.9% (48.0% in 2022).

The Group has a quantitative target for the capital structure
inwhich the interest-bearing net debt to equity ratio
(gearing) should be below 80%.

The Group decides on the split betweenlong-termand
short-term debtinrelationto the gearingratio level. The
following table shows the rough guidelines for the portion
of long-term debt of total debt under different gearing
ratiolevels:

Portion of long-term

Gearing ratio level of total debt

Under50% Under1/3
Between50-80% Between1/3and 2/3
Over 80% Over2/3

The Group monitors the gearing ratio level on aweekly
basis. The target of the Group’s capital management has
beenmetinrecentyears.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Remuneration Risk Management

34. Hedge activities and derivatives

Derivatives areinitially recordedin the balance sheet at
fairvalue and subsequently measured at fairvalue at each
balance sheet date. All derivatives are carried as assets
when fairvalue is positive and liabilities when fair value is
negative. Derivative instruments that are not designated
as hedges (hedge accounting) are measured at fair

value, and the changeinfairvalue isrecognizedin the
consolidated statement of income. When the derivative
is designated as a cash-flow hedge (hedge accounting)
the effective part of the change in fair value is recognized
in other comprehensive income. Any ineffective partis
recognizedinthe consolidated statement ofincome. The
foreign exchange forward contracts are measured based
onthe closing date’s observable spot exchange rates
and the quotedyield curves of the respective currencies.
Interest rate swaps are measured based on present value
of the cash flows, which are discounted based on the
quotedyield curves.

34.1. Nominal and fair values of derivative financial

instruments
2023 2023 2022 2022
Nominal Fair  Nominal Fair
value value value value
Foreign ex-
change forward 1,737.3 1.9 1,609.6 26.1
contracts
Interestrate
derivatives 300.0 0.6 300.0 1.8
Commodity
derivatives 4.5 -0.2 1.7 -0.1
Total 2,041.8 12.2 1,91.3 27.8

See note 32.3 for the fair values of the derivatives recognized in
assets and liabilities .

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

The Group also enters into other derivatives, foreign
exchange or currency options with the intention of
reducing therisk in expected sales and purchases. These
other contracts are not designatedin hedge relationships
and are measured at fair value through profit orloss.

Financial Review

Cash flow hedges

Foreign currency and interest risk

Foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate
swaps measured at fair value through OCl are designated
as hedginginstrumentsin cash flow hedges of forecast
sales and purchasesin US dollar and interest expenses.
These forecast transactions are highly probable, and
they comprise about 44.7% of the Group’s total hedged
transaction flows. The foreign exchange forward contract
balances vary with the level of expected foreign currency
sales and purchases and changesin foreign exchange
forwardrates.

At theinception of these deals the Group assesses whether
the critical terms of the foreign currency forward contracts
andinterestrate swaps match the terms of the expected
highly probable forecast transactions. On a quarterly

basis the Group performs a qualitative effectiveness

test by checking that the hedginginstrumentis linked
ontherelevant assets and liabilities, projected business
transactions orbinding contracts according to the hedging
strategy and that there are norelated credit risks. Hedge
ineffectivenessis recognized through profit orloss.

The cash flow hedges of the expected future sales,
purchases and interest expensesin 2023 and 2022 were
assessed to be highly effective and a net unrealized gain
orloss, with a deferred tax assetrelating to the hedging
instruments, isincludedin OCI. The amounts recognizedin
OClare showninthe table below and the reclassifications
to profit orloss during the year are as shownin the
consolidated statement of income.

34.2. Fair value reserve of cash flow hedges

2023 2022
Balance as of January 1 -1.2 -2.8
Gains and losses deferred to equity
(fairvalue reserve) 12.5 2.0
Change in deferred taxes -2.5 -0.4
Balance as of December 31 8.8 -1.2
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35. Company list

Remuneration

Risk Management

Financial Review

(1,000 EUR)
Book Parent (1,000 EUR)
Subsidiaries owned value of company’s  Group’s Subsidiaries Book value Group’s
by the parent company shares  share,% share, % owned by the group of shares share, %
Finland: Konecranes Finance Oy 46,448 100 100 Greece: Konecranes Hellas Lifting Equipment and 60 100
Konecranes Finland Oy 17,163 26.02 100 Services S.A. .
Konecranes Global Oy 102,391 100 100 Hong Kong: Konecranes Hong Kong Limited 0 100
Hungary: Konecranes Kft. 809 100
Subsidiaries Book value Group’s India: Konecranes and Demag Private Limited 19,519 100
owned by the group of shares share, % Voima Cranes & Components Pvt. Ltd. 0 99.99
Australia: Konecranes and Demag Pty Ltd 21,730 100 Indonesia: PT. Konecranes 240 100
MHE-Demag Australia Pty Ltd 16,267 100 PTMHE-Demag Indonesia 3,528 100
Austria: Konecranes and Demag Ges.m.b.H. 29,775 100 PTMHE-Demag Technology Indonesia 294 67
Bangladesh:  Konecranes and Demag (Bangladesh) Ltd. 109 100 Ireland: Konecranes and Demag Limited 900 100
Belgium: S.A.Konecranes N.V. 6,150 100 Israel: Konecranes Israel Ltd 0 100
Brazil: Konecranes Demag Brasil Ltda. 32,688 100 Italy: Demag Cranes & Components S.r.l. 13,997 100
Canada: Konecranes Canadalnc. 893 100 Donati Sollevamenti S.r.l. 2,561 100
Chile: Konecranes Chile SpA 1 100 MHPS Italia S.r.l. 0 100
China: Cranes and Parts Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 5,862 100 Japan: Konecranes Company, Ltd. 0 100
Dalian Konecranes Company Ltd. 2,196 100 Latvia: SIAKonecranes Latvija 2 100
Demag Cranes & Components (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 14,349 100 Lithuania: UAB Konecranes 139 100
Konecranes (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. 0 100 Luxembourg:  Materials Handling International S.A. 300 100
Konecranes (Shanghai) Company Ltd. 4,409 100 Malaysia: Konecranes Sdn. Bhd. 523 100
Konecranes Manufacturing (liangsu) Co., Ltd. 28,627 100 Mechanical Handling Engineering (M) Sdn Bhd 0 100
Konecranes Port Machinery (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 7,239 100 MHE-Demag Logistics Malaysia Sdn Bhd 1,862 100
SWF Krantechnik Co., Ltd. 816 100 Konecranes Material Handling (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 6,864 100
CzechRepublic: Konecranes and Demags.r.o. 2,823 100 Rainfields Estate Sdn Bhd 1,202 100
Denmark: Konecranes Demag A/S 12,561 100 Mexico: Konecranes Mexico S.A. de C.V. 2188 100
Estonia: Konecranes Ot 0 100 Morocco: Konecranes Maghreb S.a.r.l. 50 100
Finland: Nosturiexpertit Oy 10 100 The
France: KCl Holding France SAS 40,500 100 Netherlands; ~KonecranesB.V. 4201 100
Konecranes and Demag France SAS 22,120 100 Konecranes Holding B.V. 503,851 100
Verlinde SAS 5,360 100 Konecranes Software B.V. 3,678 100
Germany: Demag Cranes & Components GmbH 524,384 100 Port Software Solutions B.V. 37,412 100
Eurofactory GmbH * 1,239 100 Norway: Konecranes AS 3,588 100
Konecranes GmbH 673,804 100 Peru: Konecranes PeruS.R.L. 0] 100
Konecranes Holding GmbH 505,262 100 Philippines: MHE-Demag (P), Inc. 3,684 100
Konecranes Noell GmbH 37,501 100 Poland: Konecranes and Demag Sp.zo.o. 1,359 100
Konecranes Real Estate GmbH Co. & KG 36,364 100 Portugal: Konecranes and Demag, Lda. 3,293 100
Konecranes Real Estate Verwaltungs GmbH 28 100 Romania: S.C.Konecranes S.A. 98 100
Kranservice Rheinberg GmbH * 1,492 100 S.C.TBAROS.1l. 10 100
SWEF Krantechnik GmbH * 15,500 100 Russia: AO "Konecranes Demag Rus" 0 100
SaudiArabia:  SaudiCranes & Steel Works Factory Co. Ltd. 9,820 100

* Exemption according to § 264, 3HGB for Eurofactory GmbH (registered office in Remptendorf),
Kranservice Rheinberg GmbH (registered office in Duisburg) and SWF Krantechnik GmbH (registered
office in Mannheim).
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(1,000 EUR)
Subsidiaries Book value Group’s Assets Group’s
owned by the group of shares share, % Other shares and joint operations value share, %
Singapore: KCI Cranes Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 114,764 100 Estonia: AS Konesko 4,448 49.46
MHE-Demag (S) Pte. Ltd. 196,501 100 Finland: Kiinteistbosakeyhtid Kuikantorppa 261 50
Slovakia: Konecranes Slovakia s.r.o. 200 100
Slovenia: Konecranes, d.o.o. 200 100 Assets Group’s
SouthAfrica;  Konecranes and Demag (Pty) Ltd. 0 100 Investments accounted for using the equity method value share, %
Spain: Konecranes and Demag Ibérica, S.L.U. 31,799 100 China: Shanghai High Tech Industrial Crane Company, Ltd. 3,103 28
Sweden: Konecranes AB 1,232 100 Finland: Fantuzzi Noell Baltic Oy 244 25
Konecranes Lifttrucks AB 20,941 100 France: Boutonnier Adt Levage S.A. 416 25
Konecranes Sweden Holding AB 1,682 100 LevelecS.A. 231 20
Ulvaryd Fastighets AB 1171 100 Manulec S.A. 246 25
Switzerland:  Konecranes and Demag AG 17,205 100 Manelec S.A.R.L. 107 25
Taiwan: MHE-Demag Taiwan Company Limited 1,776 100 S.E.R.E.Maintenance S.A. 280 25
Thailand: Katrolin Enterprise (T) Ltd 84 100 Germany: AQZ Ausbildungs- und Qualifizierungszentrum 0 20
Katrolin Holding (T) Ltd 95 100 Dusseldorf GmbH
Konecranes (Thailand) Ltd. 192 100 TheNetherlands: TBA Consultancy B.V. 708 49
Mahakorn (T) Ltd 81 100 Switzerland: Demag IP Holdings GmbH 177 50
Konecranes Material Handling (Thailand) Ltd. 294 100 Thailand: CSA Crane Service Asia Company Ltd 84 49
MHE-Demag Technology (T) Ltd 252 100 Enitted Arlab Crane Industrial Services LLC 1,341 49
Scenic Wealth (T) Ltd 141 100 mirates:
Turkey: Konecranes Ticaret Ve Servis Limited Sirketi 0 100
Ukraine: Konecranes Ukraine JSC 2,049 100 . . Book value Group’s
N ) o Available-for-sale investments of shares share, %
PJSC "Zaporozhje Kran Holding 0 100 - - — -
JSC "Zaporozhcran” 0 90.43 Finland: E?st Office of Finnish Industries Oy 50 5.26
United Arab Demag Cranes & Components Holding Ltd. 0 100 D,',me(,:C ?y o 120 5.69
Emirates: Demag Cranes & Components (Middle East) FZE 14,398 100 Kiinteistd Oy Parja 26 46.67
Konecranes Middle East FZE 1,774 100 Levator Oy _ 0 19
United KCl Holding UK Ltd. 13.656 100 Vler'umaen Kulntorlnne Oy 326 3.3
Kingdom: Konecranes Demag UK Limited 6,519 100 Francef Heripret Holding SAS, - 53 19
Lioyds Konecranes Pension Trustees Ltd. 0 100 Malaysia: Kone Products & Engineering Sdn. Bhd. 0 10
Morris Material Handling Ltd. 575 100 Venezuela: Gruas Konecranes CA 20 10
TBA Doncaster Limited 2,01 100 Others: 239
TBA Leicester Limited 10,342 100 Total: 834
UKMHPS Limited 40,005 100
U.S.A Demag Cranes & Components Corp. 61,294 100
KCIHolding USAInc. 53,901 100
Konecranes, Inc. 48,226 100
Konecranes Nuclear Equipment & Services, LLC 0 100
MMH Americas, LLC (] 100
Morris Material Handling, Inc. 64,651 100
R&M Materials Handling, Inc. 7,421 100
Vietnam: Konecranes Vietnam Co., Ltd 6] 100
MHE-Demag Vietham Company Ltd 0] 100

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Parent company statement ofincome - FAS

ewmsoron SANVIDIINON

(1,000 EUR) Jan1-Dec 312023 Jan1-Dec 312022
Note:
2 Depreciation and impairments -1n9 -184
3 Other operating expenses -7,059 -15,627
Operating profit -7,178 -15,810
4 Financialincome and expenses 54,811 81,669
Income before appropriations and taxes 47,633 65,859
5 Appropriations 64,250 39,445
6 Income taxes -16,890 -4,979
Netincome 94,993 100,325

n7
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Parent company balance sheet - FAS

(1,000 EUR) Dec 31,2023 Dec 31,2022 (1,000 EUR) Dec 31,2023 Dec 31,2022
Note: Note:
ASSETS SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Tangible assets n EQUITY
7 Machinery and equipment 228 364 Share capital 30,073 30,073
228 364 Share premium account 39,307 39,307
Paid in capital 776,239 775,176
8 Investments Retained earnings 82,689 81,367
Investments in Group companies 153,040 153,040 Netincome for the period 94,993 100,325
Other shares and similar rights of ownership 171 171 1,023,301 1,026,248
153,21 153,211
LIABILITIES
Total non-current assets 153,439 153,575 Current liabilities
Accounts payable 2,864 1,163
CURRENT ASSETS Liabilities owed to Group companies
Long-termreceivables Accounts payable 143 144
Loans receivable from Group companies 806,958 763,780 12 Accruals 37 0
806,958 763,780 Other short-term liabilities 11,941 71
12 Accruals 2,695 1,216
Short-termreceivables 17,679 2,595
Accountsreceivable n 0]
Amounts owed by Group companies Total liabilities 17,679 2,595
Accountsreceivable 5,622 4,397
10 Deferred assets 74,517 103,155 TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
Otherreceivables 249 3,560 LIABILITIES HEL AR 1,028,843
10 Deferred assets 181 374
80,580 m,485
Cashinhand and at banks 3 3
Total current assets 887,542 875,268
TOTAL ASSETS 1,040,981 1,028,843

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Parent company cashflow - FAS

(1,000 EUR) Jan1-Dec 312023 Jan1-Dec 312022 (1,000 EUR) Jan1-Dec 312023 Jan1-Dec 312022
Cash flow from operating activities Cash flow frominvesting activities
Operatingincome -7,178 -15,810 Investments in other shares 0 -1
Adjustments to operating profit Capital expenditure and advance payments to tangible assets 17 0]
Depreciation and impairments 19 184 Dividends received 27,700 40,000
Group contributions from subsidiaries 39,380 52,340 NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES 27,717 39,999
Operating income before changes in net working capital 32,321 36,713
Cash flow before financing activities 141,118 69,615
Changeininterest-free short-termreceivables 52,365 1,977
Change ininterest-free short-termliabilities 3,193 -18,060 Cash flow from financing activities
Change in net working capital 55,558 -6,084 Proceeds from share based payments and share issues 1,063 585
Repayments of long-termreceivables -43,178 278,560
Cash flow from operations before financing items and taxes 87,879 30,630 Repayments of long-term liabilities 0 -249,841
Dividends paid -99,003 -98,918
Interest received 27,097 5,352 NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES -141,118 -69,614
Interest paid (0] -4,371
Otherfinancialincome and expenses 7 -1,969 CHANGE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 0
Income taxes paid -1,581 -26
Financing items and taxes 25,522 -1,014 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period Y 3
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3 3
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 113,401 29,616 CHANGE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 0

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023
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Financial Review

Notes to the parentcompany’s Financial Statement

1. Accounting principles

The financial statements of the company have been
prepared in euro andinaccordance with accounting

principles generally acceptedin Finland.

STATEMENT OF INCOME
(1,000,000 EUR)

2. Depreciation and impairments

2023 2022
Machinery and equipment 0.1 0.2
Total 0.1 0.2

The values of fixed assets are based on original acquisition

values. Depreciation periods, which are based on
estimated financial operating times, are as follows:

o Immaterialrights 5-10years
« Machinesandinventory  4-10years

3. Other operating expenses
and personnel

Costs and expensesin the Statement of Income were

as follows:

2023 2022
Wages and salaries 4.8 3.2
Pension costs 0.5 0.5
Other personnel expenses 0.1 0.1
Other operating expenses 1.5 0.4
Total 6.8 4.2

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Wages and salaries inaccordance with the Statement

5. Appropriations

of Income:
2023 2022 2023 2022
Remuneration to Board 1.0 0.7 Difference between planned and 0.0 0.1
Otherwages and salaries 3.8 2.5 antaxed depgeaatlons ar
roup contributions received from
Total 4.8 3.2 subsidiaries 64.3 39.4
Total 64.3 39.4
The average number of personnel 5 4
Auditors fees 6. Income taxes
Audit 0.6 0.7
Otherservices 0.1 0.1 2023 2022
Total 0.6 0.8 Taxes on appropriations 12.9 7.9
Taxes on ordinary operations 4.0 -2.9
. Lo Taxes from previous years 0.0 0.0
4. Financialincome and expenses Total 16.9 5.0
2023 2022
Financialincome fromlong-term BALANCE SHEET
investments:
Dividend income from Group companies 27.7 80.0 . .
Dividend income total 27.7 80.0 7. Machinery and equipment
Interestincome from long-term 2023 2022
'r:ecelvgbles. . . 52 Acquisition costs as of January 1 1.2 1.2
: rom rcl)up comfpanleis . . Decrease 00 00
rgzeéﬁ,s;t;{gc;?& romlong-term 27.1 5.2 Acquisition costs as of December 31 1.2 1.2
Accumulated depreciation January 1 -0.9 -0.7
Financial income from long-term 54.8 85.2 Accumulated depreciation -01 -0.2
investments total ’ ’ Total as of December 31 0.2 0.4
Interest and other financial income 0.0 0.0
Interest and other financialincome
total 0.0 0.0
Interest expenses and other financial
expenses:
Otherfinancial expenses 0.0 3.5
Interest expenses and other financial
expenses total 0.0 3.5
Financial income and expenses total 54.8 81.7
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8. Investments 11. Equity 13. Contingent liabilities
and pledged assets
2023 2022 2023 2022
Acquisition costs as of January 1 153.2 153.2 Share capital as of January 1 30.1 30.1 2023 2022
Total as of December 31 153.2 153.2 Share capital as of December 31 30.1 30.1 For obligations of subsidiaries
Group guarantees 1121.4 1,238.0
Share premium account January 1 39.3 39.3
Investments in Group companies Share premium account as of Leasing liabilities
39.3 39.3
December 31 Next ; 01 05
2023 2022 Lex yea o o
Carrying  Carrying Paidin capital as of January 1 7752 774.6 ateron ' '
Domicile amount  amount Increase 1 0.6 Total 0.3 0.6
KonecranesFinance Corp.  Hyvinkaa 46.4 46.4 Paid in capital as of December 31 776.2 775.2
Konecranes Finland Corp. ~ Hyvinkaa 4.2 4.2 Leasing contracts mainly have a maturity of three years
Konecranes Global Corp. Hyvinkaa 102.4 102.4 Retained earnings as of January 1 181.7 180.3 and they have no terms of redemption.
Total 153.0 153.0 Dividend paid -99.0 -98.9
Retained earnings as of December 31 82.7 81.4 2023 2022
Oth h dsimilar riahts of hi Total by category
er shares and similar rights or ownership Netincome for the period 95.0 100.3 Guarantees 1,121.4 1,238.0
Otherliabilities 0.3 0.6
2023 2022 1 i
: — : g:?:reer?\cl;lgre:’:f equity as of 1,023.3 1,026.2 Total 1,121.7 1,238.6
East Office of Finnish Industries Oy 0.1 0.1
Dimecc Oy 0.1 0.1
China Office of Finnish Industries 0.0 0.0 Distributable equity 14. Nominal and fair values of derivative
Total 0.2 0.2 financial instruments
Paidin capital as of December 31 776.2 775.2
Retalined earnings as of December 31 82.7 81.4 2023 2023 2022 2022
9. Treasury shares Netincome for the period 95.0 100.3 Fair  Nominal Fair  Nominal
Total 953.9 956.9 value value value value
Foreign ex-
2023 2022 change forward 0.0 1.9 0.0 1.6
contracts
Number of shares as of January 1 55,307 87,447 12. A I
Decrease -35,651 -32,140 - Accruals o )
Number of shares as of December 31 19,656 55,307 Derivatives are used for currency rate hedging only.
2023 2022
Wi lari th | R . L .
ex%%ii’jf aries andotherpersonne 2.6 1.0 The derivative financial instruments are recognized
10. Deferred assets Otheritems 0.1 0.2 according to KPL 5:2a at fair value in the parent company
Total 2.7 1.2 financial statements and the company does not apply
2023 2022 hedge accounting for these derivatives.
Group contributions 64.3 39.4
Income taxes 0.0 3.5
Payments which will be realized during 6.6 61.9
the next financial year ' '
Interest 4.1 2.4
Total 74.9 107.1
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Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting

The parent company's non-restricted equity is EUR 953,922,136.07 of which the netincome forthe yearis
EUR94,993,467.37.

The Group's non-restricted equity is EUR1,516,609,000.
According to the Finnish Companies Act, the distributable funds of the company are calculated based on the parent

company’s non-restricted equity. For the purpose of determining the amount of the dividend, the Board of Directors has
assessed the liquidity of the parent company and the economic circumstances subsequent to the financial year-end.

ewmsoron SANVIDIINON

Based onsuch assessments, the Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of EUR1.35 will
be paid on each share and that the remaining non-restricted equity is retained in shareholders’ equity.

Espoo, February1,2024

Christoph Vitzthum PasiLaine

Chair of the Board Vice chair of the Board
Pauli Anttila Ulf Liljedahl

Board member Board member

Niko Mokkila Gun Nilsson

Board member Board member

Sami Piittisjarvi Paivi Rekonen

Board member Board member

Helene Svahn
Board member

Anders Svensson
CEO
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Auditor’'sreport

(Translation of the Finnish original)

To the Annual General Meeting of Konecranes Plc
Report on the Audit of Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Konecranes
Plc (business identity code 0942718-2) for the year ended
December 31,2023. The financial statements comprise
the consolidated balance sheet, statement of income,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changesin equity, statement of cash flows and notes,
including material accounting policy information, as

well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income
statement, statement of cash flows and notes.

In our opinion

« the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fairview of the group’s financial position, financial
performance and cash flowsinaccordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU.

« thefinancial statements give a true and fair view of the
parent company’s financial performance and financial
positioninaccordance with the laws and regulations
governing the preparation of financial statementsin
Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

Our opinionis consistent with the additional report
submitted to the Audit Committee.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Remuneration Risk Management

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our auditin accordance with good
auditing practicein Finland. Ourresponsibilities under
good auditing practice are further describedin the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial
Statements section of ourreport.

We are independent of the parent company and of
the group companiesinaccordance with the ethical
requirements that are applicable in Finland and are
relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other
ethicalresponsibilitiesin accordance with these
requirements.

In our best knowledge and understanding, the non-audit
services that we have provided to the parent company
and group companies are incompliance with laws
andregulations applicable in Finland regarding these
services, and we have not provided any prohibited non-
audit servicesreferred toinArticle 5 (1) of regulation (EU)
537/2014.The non-audit services that we have provided
have been disclosedinnote 7.1to the consolidated
financial statements and note 3 to the parent company
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Financial Review

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professionaljudgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as awhole, and in forming

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion onthese matters.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’sresponsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of ourreport, includinginrelation

to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying financial statements.

We have also addressed the risk of management override
of internal controls. This includes consideration of
whetherthere was evidence of management bias that
represented arisk of material misstatement due to fraud.
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition of long-term contracts and
related provisions

Referto note 2.2 Use of estimates and judgments,
note 2.3 Summary of significant accounting poli-
cies, note 5, note 6 and note 24.

Inaccordance withits accounting principles,
Konecranes applies the percentage of
completion (PoC) method (performance
obligations satisfied over time) forrecognizing
revenue fromlong-term crane projects. The
percentage of completionis based on the cost-
to-cost method.

The percentage of completion method of
accountinginvolves the use of significant
management assumptions, estimates and
projections, principally relating to future material,
labor and project-related overhead costs and
the estimated stage of completion. Inyear2023,

approximately 12% percent of the sales of EUR 4.0

billion were recognized under the PoC method.
Revenue recognition of long-term contracts

is akey audit matter and a significant risk of
misstatement as defined by EU Regulation No
537/2014, point (c) of Article 10(2).

Konecranes makes several types of provisions
related torisks associated withlong-term
project contracts and PoC accounting. These
PoC related provisions require a high level of
management judgment and are a key audit
matter due to that reason.

Our audit procedures to address the risk of
material misstatementinrespect of the long-term
contractsincluded among others:

Assessing the Group’s accounting policies over
revenue recognition of long-term contracts;

Gaining an understanding of the PoC revenue
recognition process;

Examination of the project documentation

and testing the PoC calculations and inputs of
estimates in the calculations and comparing the
estimates to actuals;

Analytical procedures;

Assessing significant judgments made by
management based on an examination of

the associated project documentation and
discussion on the status of projects under
construction with finance and project managers
of the Company; and

Assessing the Group’s disclosuresinrespect of
revenue recognition.

We have designed our audit procedures to be
responsive to this specific audit area and our
proceduresincluded among others:

Gaining an understanding of the PoC related
provisions process;

Testing the provision calculations and the
inputs of estimates in these calculations and
comparing estimates to actuals; and

Performing inquiries with management with
regards to any significant events orlegal
matters that could affect the provisions.

Revenue recognition

Refer to note 2.3 Summary of significant
accounting policies and note 5.

According to the Group’s accounting policies
revenue isrecognized at an amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring promised
goods or services to a customer. Goods and
services are generally considered to be transferred
when the customer obtains control. The terms

and conditions of sales contracts vary by market
and, in addition, the local management might feel
pressure to achieve the revenue targets set.

Revenue recognitionis a key audit matterand a
significant risk of material misstatement as defined
by EU Regulation No 537/2014, point (c) of Article
10(2) due to the significant risk relating to an
incorrect timing of recognition of revenue.

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material
misstatementinrespect of correct timing of revenue
recognitionincluded among others:

Analytical procedures;

Assessing the Group’s accounting policies over
revenue recognition compared to applicable
accounting standards;

Assessing the revenue recognition process and
methodologies and testing controls;

Testing revenue with substantive analytical
procedures and by testing sales transactions;

Assessing the Group’s disclosures inrespect of
revenues.

Valuation of goodwill

Referto note 2.2 Use of estimates and judgments,
note 2.3 Summary of significant accounting
policies and note 13.

The value of goodwill at the date of the financial
statements amounted to 1.0 billion euros
representing 23% of total assets and 65% of
equity (2022:1.0 billion euros, 23% of the total
assets and 71% of equity).

Valuation of goodwill is tested annually through
goodwillimpairment test. Konecranes has
allocated goodwill to cash generating units (CGUs)
whichis the level for goodwillimpairment test. The
recoverable amount of a cash generating unitis
based onvalue inuse calculations, the outcome

of which could vary significantly if different
assumptions were applied. There are a number of
assumptions used to determine the value inuse

of the cash generating units, including revenue
growth, development of fixed costs, the operating
margin and the discount rate applied. Changesin
the above-mentioned assumptions may result in
animpairment of goodwill.

Our audit procedures to address the risk of
material misstatement relating to goodwill
valuationincluded among others, involving our
valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating
the assumptions and methodologies used by
the Group, in particular those relating to the
discount rate. We specifically focused onthe
cash generating units for which reasonably
possible changesin assumptions could cause
the carrying value to exceeditsrecoverable
amount. We also assessed the historical
accuracy of managements’ estimates. We
assessed the Group’s disclosuresinnote 13in
the financial statements about the assumptions
to which the outcome of the impairment tests
were more sensitive.
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The annualimpairment testis a key audit matter
because

« The assessment processis complexandis
based on numerous judgmental estimates;

« |tisbased onassumptionsrelating to market or
economic conditions; and

« Of the significance of the goodwill to the
balance sheet total.

Valuation of goodwillis a significant risk of
misstatement as defined by EU Regulation No
537/2014, point (c) of Article 10(2).

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Directorare
responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view inaccordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU,
and of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the
preparation of financial statementsin Finland and comply
with statutory requirements. The Board of Directors and
the Managing Director are also responsible for such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of
Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for
assessing the parent company’s and the group’s ability
to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters relating to going concern and using the going

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

concern basis of accounting. The financial statements are
prepared using the going concern basis of accounting
unless thereis anintention to liquidate the parent
company or the group or cease operations, or thereis no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit

of Financial Statements

Ourobjectives are to obtainreasonable assurance on
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
andtoissue an auditor'sreport that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assuranceis ahighlevel of assurance, butis
not a guarantee that an audit conductedinaccordance
with good auditing practice will always detect a material
misstatement whenit exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
orinaggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial statements.

Financial Review

As part of an auditin accordance with good auditing
practice, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
orerror, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to thoserisks, and obtain audit evidence
thatis sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. Therisk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than foroneresulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtainanunderstanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
forthe purpose of expressing an opinion onthe
effectiveness of the parent company’s orthe group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates andrelated disclosures made by
management.

« Conclude onthe appropriateness of the Board of
Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty existsrelated to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the parent company’s
orthe group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
arerequired to draw attentionin our auditor’s report
to therelated disclosuresin the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the parent company or the group to cease to
continue as agoing concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events so
that the financial statements give a true and fair view.

« Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the group to express an
opinion onthe consolidated financial statements.
We areresponsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies ininternal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance
with a statement that we have complied withrelevant
ethicalrequirementsregarding independence, and
communicate with them allrelationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bearon
ourindependence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these mattersin our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter orwhen, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicatedin
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ourreport because the adverse consequences of doing
sowould reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Other Reporting Requirements

Information on our audit engagement

We were first appointed as auditors by the Annual General
MeetingonMarch 8,2006, and our appointment
represents a total period of uninterrupted engagement
of 18 years.

Otherinformation

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director

are responsible for the otherinformation. The other
information comprises the report of the Board of
Directors and the informationincluded in the annual
report publication but does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have
obtained the report of the Board of Directors prior to
the date of this auditor’'sreport, and the annual reportis
expectedto be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the otherinformation.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
ourresponsibility is to read the otherinformation
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether
the otherinformationis materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtainedin the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
Withrespect to report of the Board of Directors, our
responsibility also includes considering whether the

Financial Review

report of the Board of Directors has been preparedin
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of
Directorsis consistent with the informationin the financial
statements and the report of the Board of Directors has
been preparedinaccordance with the applicable laws
and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’sreport, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this otherinformation, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing toreportin thisregard.

Opinions based on assignment of the Audit Committee
We support that the financial statements should be
adopted. The proposal by the Board of Directors
regarding the use of the distributable equity shownin the
balance sheet for the parent companyisin compliance
with the Limited Liability Companies Act. We support that
the Members of the Board of Directors and the Managing
Director of the parent company should be discharged
from liability for the financial period audited by us.

Helsinki, February 1,2024

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

ToniHalonen
Authorized Public Accountant
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Independent Auditor’s Report on KonecranesPIc’s
ESEF-Consolidated Financial Statements

(Translation of the Finnish original)

To the Board of Directors of Konecranes Plc

We have performed areasonable assurance engagement on
the iXBRL tagging of the consolidated financial statements
includedin the digital files 549300EFOCDEQZBMAQ%6-
2023-12-31-fi.zip of Konecranes Oyj (business identity
code: 0950895-1) for the financial year January 1-
December 31,2023, to ensure that the financial statements
are marked/tagged withiXBRL inaccordance with the
requirements of Article 4 of EU Commission Delegated
Regulation(EU)2018/815 (ESEF RTS).

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

and Managing Director

The Board of Directors and Managing Director are
responsible for the preparation of the Report of Board
of Directors and financial statements (ESEF financial
statements) that comply with the ESESF RTS. This
responsibility includes:

o Preparation of ESEF-financial statementsin
accordance with Article 3 of ESEFRTS

« Tagging the primary financial statements, notes to the
financial statements and the entity identifierinformation
inthe consolidated financial statementsincluded
within the ESEF-financial statements by using the iXBRL
mark-upsinaccordance with Article 4 of ESEF RTS

« Ensuring consistency between ESEF financial
statements and audited financial statements

The Board of Directors and Managing Director are also
responsible for suchinternal control as they determine

is necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF financial
statementsinaccordance with the requirements of ESEF RTS.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Auditor’s Independence and Quality Management

We are independent of the company inaccordance with
the ethical requirements that are applicable in Finland
and arerelevant to the engagement we have performed,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with these requirements.

The firm applies International Standard on Quality
Management (ISQM) 1, which requires the firm to design,
implement and operate a system of quality management
including policies or procedures regarding compliance
with ethical requirements, professional standards and
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Auditor’s Responsibilities

Inaccordance with the Engagement Letter we will
express anopinion on whether the electronic tagging
of the consolidated financial statements compliesin
allmaterialrespects with the Article 4 of ESEF RTS. We
have conducted areasonable assurance engagement
inaccordance with International Standard on Assurance
EngagementsISAE 3000.

The engagementincludes procedures to obtain evidence on:

whether the tagging of the primary financial statements
inthe consolidated financial statements compliesin all
material respects with Article 4 of the ESEF RTS
whether the tagging of the notes to the financial
statements and the entity identifierinformationin

the consolidated financial statements compliesin all
material respects with Article 4 of the ESEF RTS
whetherthe ESEF-financial statements are consistent

with the audited financial statements

The nature, timing and extent of the procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgmentincluding
the assessment of risk of material departures from
requirements sets out inthe ESEF RTS, whether due to
fraud orerror.

We believe that the evidence we have obtainedis
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis forour
statement.

Opinion

In our opinion the tagging of the primary financial
statements, notes to the financial statements and the
entity identifierinformation in the consolidated financial
statementsincludedinthe ESEF financial statements
549300EFOCDEQZBMA096-2023-12-31-fi.zip of
Konecranes Oyj forthe yearended January 1-December
31,2023, compliesin allmaterial respects with the
requirements of ESEF RTS.

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of Konecranes Plc for the yearended January 1-December
31,2023, isincludedin ourIndependent Auditor’s

Report [dated February 1,2024]. In thisreport, we do not
express an audit opinion or any otherassurance onthe
consolidated financial statements.

Helsinki February 28,2024

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

ToniHalonen
Authorized Public Accountant
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Company information for ESEF reporting

Name of reporting entity or other means of identification
Domicile of entity

Legal form of entity

Country of incorporation

Address of entity's registered office

Principal place of business

Description of nature of entity's operations and principal
activities

Name of parent entity
Name of ultimate parent of group

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2023

Konecranes Plc

Finland

Plc

Finland

Koneenkatu 8, 05830 Hyvinkaa, Finland

Hyvink&a

Konecranes is a world-leading manufacturer and servicer of cranes, lifting
equipment and machine tools, serving a broad range of customers, including
manufacturing and process industries, shipyards, ports and terminals.
Konecranes operates internationally, with its products being manufactured
in North and South America, Europe, Africa, the Middle East, and Asia and

sold worldwide. Konecranes has three reportable segments: Service,
Industrial Equipment and Port Solutions.

Konecranes Plc
Konecranes Plc
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Shares and shareholders

According to the register of Konecranes Plc's shareholders kept by Euroclear Finland Oy, Breakdown of share ownership by number of shares owned
there were 53,043 (2022:57,448) shareholders at the end of 2023. onDecember 31,2023

Largest shareholders according to the share register on December 31, 2023

ewmsoron SANVIDIINON

Number of Number of
shares % of shares Number of % of shares % of shares
and votes and votes Shares shareholders shareholders and votes and votes
1 Solidium Oy 8,793,123 1.1% 1-100 31,427 59.2% 1,274,356 1.6%
2 limarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 2,407,049 3.0% 101-1,000 19,058 35.9% 6,283,664 7.9%
3 Gustavson Stig and family* 2,366,157 3.0% 1,001-10,000 2,362 4.5% 6,115,009 7.7%
4 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 2,085,293 2.6% 10,001-100,000 156 0.3% 4,453,107 5.6%
5 Elo Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1,165,000 1.5% 100,001-1,000,000 22 0.0% 7,227,039 9.1%
6 Holding Manutas Oy 1,040,000 1.3% 1,000,001- 7 0.0% 17,560,243 22.2%
7 EvliFinnish Small Cap Fund 751,153 0.9% Registered shareholders total 53,032 100.0% 42,913,418 54.2%
8 Nordea Funds 744,851 0.9% Nominee registered shares 1 0.0% 36,308,488 45.8%
9 Saastépankki Funds 738,387 0.9% Total 53,043 100.0% 79,221,906 100.0%
10 The State Pension Fund 730,000 0.9%
Tenlargest registered shareholders' total ownership 20,821,013 26.3%
Nominee registered shares 36,308,488 45.8% Breakdown of share ownership by shareholder category on December 31,2023
Other shareholders 22,072,749 27.9%
Shares held by Konecranes Plc 19,656 0.0% % of shares
Total 79,221,906 100.0% and votes
Public sector organizations 19.6%
* Konecranes Plc has on December 28, 2011, received information according to which the Chairman of the Households 19.5%
company’s Board of Directors Stig Gustavson has donated all of his shares in Konecranes Plc to his near Financial and insurance institutions 5.6%
relatives retaining himself forlife the voting rights and right to dividend attached to the donated shares. Non-profit organizations 5.4%
The donationencompassedin total 2,069,778 shares. Private companies 32%
P
Foreigners 0.9%
Shares owned by the members of the Board and of Directors and of the Group Executive Nominee registered shares 45.8%
Board on December 31, 2023 Total 100.0%
Changein
shareholding in Numberof % ofshares Source: Euroclear Finland Oy, December 31,2023.
2023 shares owned and votes
Board of Directors -343 34,288 0.0%
Group Executive Board -6,759 156,361 0.2%
Total -7,102 190,649 0.2%
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Corporate Headquarters

Konecranes Plc

P.O. Box 661 (Koneenkatu 8)
FI-05801Hyvinkaa, Finland
Tel. +358 20 42711

Governance

Kiira Froberg

Vice President, Investor Relations
Tel. +358 20 427 2050
kiira.froberg@konecranes.com

Finance

Teo Ottola

Chief Financial Officer
teo.ottola@konecranes.com

Regional Headquarters

Americas

Konecranes Inc.

4401 Gateway Blvd.
Springfield, OH 45502, U.S.A.
Tel. +1937 5255533

Europe, Middle East and Africa
Konecranes

Region EMEA

P.O.Box 662 (Koneenkatu 8)
FI-05801Hyvinkaa, Finland

Tel. +358 20 42711

Asia-Pacific

KCI Cranes Holding (Singapore) Pte Ltd
33 Gul Circle

Singapore 629570

Tel. +65 6 8612233

KONECGRANE

Moves what
matters.

Konecranesis agloballeaderin material handling solutions, serving a broad range of customers across multiple industries. We consistently set the industry benchmark from everyday improvements to the breakthroughs atmoments
that matter most, because we know we can always find a safer, more productive and sustainable way. That’s why, with around 16,600 professionals in over 50 countries, Konecranes is trusted every day to lift, handle and move what

the world needs. In2023, Group sales totaled EUR 4.0 billion. Konecranes shares are listed on Nasdaq Helsinki (symbol: KCR).



